

# REGULATION OF CEREBRAL CORTEX DEVELOPMENT AND EXPANSION BY*MIR3607*

Doctoral Thesis presented by

Kaviya Chinnappa

Thesis Director: Dr. Victor Borrell Franco

PhD Program in Neuroscience Neurosciences Institute Universidad Miguel Hernández de Elche

- 2021 -









Doctoral Programme in Neuroscience

# Regulation of cerebral cortex development and expansion by *MiR3607*



Kaviya Chinnappa

Thesis director

Dr. D. Victor Borrell Franco

Universidad Miguel Hernández de Elche

- 2021 -





Sant Joan d'Alacant, 08 Sep 2021

This Doctoral Thesis, entitled "*Regulation of cerebral cortex development and expansion by miR3607*" is presented under the conventional thesis form with the following quality indicators:

1. Kaviya Chinnappa, Camino de juan Romero, Ugo Tomasello and Victor Borrell., "Regulation of Cerebral cortex development by miR3607" EMBO conference 2017 Alicante, SENC 2017 Alicante

2. Kaviya Chinnappa, Camino de juan Romero, Ugo Tomasello and Victor Borrell., "Regulation of Cerebral cortex development by miR3607" FENS 2018 Berlin

Yours sincerely

Kaviya Chinnappa









## DIRECTOR'S REPORT

Sant Joan d'Alacant, 08 Sep 2021

Dr. D. Victor Borrell Franco, Director of the doctoral thesis entitled "*Regulation of cerebral cortex development and expansion by miR3607*"

### **CERTIFIES:**

That Ms. Kaviya Chinnappa has carried out under my supervision the work entitled "*Regulation of cerebral cortex development and expansion by miR3607*" in accordance with the terms and conditions defined in her Research Plan and in accordance with the Code of Good Practice of the University Miguel Hernández of Elche, satisfactorily fulfilling the objectives foreseen for its public defence as a doctoral thesis.

> Thesis director Dr.D. Victor Borrell Franco

E-mail : vborrell@umh.es www.in.umh.es

Tel: +34 965 919245









# REPORT OF THE DOCTORAL PROGRAMME COORDINATOR

Sant Joan d'Alacant, 08 Sep 2021

Dr. Elvira de la Peña García, Coordinator of the Neurosciences PhD programme at the Institute of Neurosciences in Alicante, a joint centre of the Miguel Hernández University (UMH) and the Spanish National Research Council (CSIC),

#### INFORMS:

That Ms. Kaviya Chinnappa has carried out under the supervision of our PhD Programme the work entitled "*Regulation of cerebral cortex development and expansion by miR3607*" in accordance with the terms and conditions defined in its Research Plan and in accordance with the Code of Good Practice of the University Miguel Hernández de Elche, fulfilling the objectives satisfactorily for its public defence as a doctoral thesis.

Which I sign for the appropriate purposes, in Sant Joan d'Alacant, .......202....

Dr. Elvira de la Peña García

Coordinator of the PhD Programme in Neurosciences

E-mail : elvirap@umh.es www.in.umh.es Tel: +34 965 919533 Fax: +34 965 919549









#### FUNDING

During the course of my studies, I received funding (Santiago Grisolia Scholarship) from Generalitat Valenciana, to carry out my PhD thesis entitled *"Regulation of cerebral cortex development and expansion by miR3607"* 





# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

With the deep sense of gratitude, I would like to thank for the help, guidance and support provided by a number of people during the course of my studies.

First, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my thesis director Dr. Victor Borrell, for giving me the opportunity to work in his lab with comfortable working conditions, support and understanding throughout this long process with all its ups and downs. Thank you for your confidence in me, offering me the necessary independence along with your constant scientific guidance and availability.

I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Jose Pascaul Lopez-Atalaya and Angel Marquez-Galera for their collaboration and help in carrying out bioinformatics analyses for the project.

I would like to thank Generalitat Valenciana for providing me with the Santiago Grisolia Fellowship and also CSIC for providing me the financial support to carry out my work at the Institute of Neuroscience, Alicante. I would also like to thank Beatriz Yunta Arce for her help with all the administrative procedures throughout from the beginning.

I would also like to thank the PhD coordinator Dr. Elvira Maria De La Peña Garcia and Maria Virtudes Garcia Fernandez for assisting me through the submission process from distance.

I would like to thank past and present members of Borrell lab, Ugo, Adrian, Virginia, Cristina, Jorge, Camino, Esther Pico, Esther Llorens, Trini, Ana, Alex, Salma, Lucia, Anna, Yuki and Rafael for help with experiments, constructive criticisms and discussions. Thanks to Esther Llorens, Esther Pico and Trinidad Mata for the technical assistance, and special thanks to Trini for help with qRT-PCR. Thanks to Ugo for the help he provided to follow with the miRNA project in the lab. Thanks to everyone for all the things I have learnt from you all.

I would like to thank Luciano Rago and Hassan Fazilaty for advice and help with miRNA experiments whenever required. I also like to thank Antonio Caler for great assistance with the FACS and Giovanna Exposito with the microscopes.

I also would like to thank Adam, Saurabh, Vineet, Roberto Montenari, Maria saez, Javier, Diana, Aroa and Roberto santoro for all the lunch time interactions. Thanks to Vineet, Aitor, Sheila, Amr and Tobias for all the good times outside. Thanks to Salma and Lucia for their company and good times during my final months at the institute. Also, Thanks to Iswariya for the good times and trips we made in between. I feel immensely thankful to Dr. Ramon Angel Rivera for the psychiatric help during my stay in Alicante.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents for their constant support, love and confidence in me, providing me the necessary foundation for whatever I got in my life. Thanks to my sister Monisha, who have been my constant source of moral support, and motivation at times. I would also like to thank my husband Charan for being beside me and supporting me through all ups and downs over the years.

Thanks to everyone who influenced me in my life, who helped me grow as a better person both personally and professionally.





ABBREVIATIONS	2
SUMMARY	5
RESUMEN	6
INTRODUCTION	9
1. Cerebral cortex development and gyrification	9
1.1 Early specification of the neural tube	9
1.2 Neurogenesis	11
1.3 Neuronal migration and subtype specification	14
1.4 Axon specification and guidance	16
2. Extrinsic factors influencing cerebral cortex development	17
3. Intrinsic factors influencing cerebral cortex development	20
5. MicroRNAs	24
5.1 MicroRNA biogenesis	24
5.2 MiRNA function	28
5.3 MiRNA regulat <mark>ion</mark>	30
6. MiRNAs in development	32
7. MiRNAs in cerebral cortex development	32
7.1 Conditional knock-out studies	32
7.2 Specific miRNAs in cerebral cortex development	34
8. MiRNAs relevant for cerebral cortex evolution	39
9. MIR3607	42
OBJECTIVES	44
MATERIALS AND METHODS	46
Experimental models	46
Mice	46
Ferret	46
Human embryonic tissue	46
Human cerebral organoids	47
Plasmid constructs	47

# CONTENTS

Validation of plasmid constructs using miRNA qRT-PCR	. 48
in utero electroporation of mouse	. 48
in utero electroporation of ferret embryos	49
Bromodeoxyuridine labeling experiments	. 50
Tissue processing	50
Immunohistochemistry	50
miRNA <i>in situ</i> hybridization	. 51
hiPSC culture	52
Generation of human cerebral organoids	. 52
Electroporation of human cerebral organoids	. 53
Western blotting	. 54
FACS sorting of electroporated brains	55
RNA sequencing and differential expression analysis	55
Gene set enrichment and pathway analyses	56
miR3607 target prediction	57
Image analysis, quantification and statistics	57
MOTIVATION AND BACKGROUND	61
RESULTS	64
PART 1 - <i>MIR3607</i> AFFECTS NEUROGENESIS, NEURONAL MIGRATION AND MATURATION OF CORTICAL NEURONS	64
1.1. Mature MIR3607 is expressed in the embryonic gyrencephalic cerebral	
cortex of human and ferret but not in the lissencephalic mouse	64
1.2. Effects on neurogenesis upon <i>MIR3607</i> expression in mouse cerebral cort	: <b>ex</b> 67
1.3. Effects on neuronal migration and positioning upon <i>MIR3607</i> expression mouse cerebral cortex	<b>in</b> 70
1.4. Effects on neuronal maturation upon <i>MIR3607</i> expression in mouse cerel cortex	<b>ɔral</b> 71
PART 2 - MIR3607 AFFECTS THE AMPLIFICATION OF PROGENITORS	75
2.1 MIR3607 drives amplification of Pax6+ progenitor cells	75

<b>2.2</b> <i>MIR3607</i> increases co-expression of Pax6+Tbr2+ cells upon increased Pax6 expression
PART 3 – TRANSCRIPTOMIC ANALYSES TO IDENTIFY DEREGULATED SIGNALING PATHWAYS UPON <i>MIR3607</i> EXPRESSION
<b>3.1</b> <i>MIR3607</i> activates signaling pathways driving proliferation and delamination of progenitors
Part 4 - <i>MIR3607</i> CAUSES DELAMINATION AND AMPLIFICATION OF PROGENITORS IN THE EARLY EMBRYONIC CORTES
<b>4.1</b> Massive delamination and amplification of aRGCs in the early cortex by <i>MIR3607</i>
4.2 <i>MIR3607</i> promotes early cortical progenitor amplification and formation of rosettes by de-repression of $\beta$ -Catenin signaling
PART 5 - CONSERVATION OF MIR3607 FUNCTION IN GYRENCEPHALIC SPECIES 98
5.1 <i>MIR3607</i> expression in human cerebral organoids cause fragmentation of VZ into several proliferative closed ventricles
5.2 MIR3607 targets APC in ferret and is required for aRGC amplification and maintenance of polarity
DISCUSSION 106
Evolutionary significance of <i>miR3607</i> in cerebral cortex development
<b>MIR3607</b> controls different aspects of cerebral cortex development
<i>MIR3607</i> increases the proliferative capacity of progenitor cells by enhancing features of gyrified cortices
<i>MIR3607</i> is a major regulator of the canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -Catenin signaling pathway 113
The effect of <i>MIR3607</i> on progenitor cells at different stages illustrate the existence of critical time windows during development
MIR3607 is important for the expansion of cerebral cortex in higher mammals . 117
CONCLUSIONS 119
ANNEX I – AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTIONS 123
Poster presented at EMBO AND SENC conferences 2017 124
Poster presented at FENS conference 2018 125
REFERENCES 126



ABBREVIATIONS

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

AGO	Argonaute
APC	Adenomatous Polyposis Coli
BMP	Bone Morphogenetic Protein
BrdU	Bromodeoxyuridine
bRGCs	basal Radial glial cells
СС	Corpus callosum
СР	Cortical plate
СТХ	Cortex
Cux1	Cut Like Homeobox 1
DAPI	4´,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DEGs	Differentially expressed genes
E	Embryonic day
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FGF	Fibroblast Growth Factor
GFP	Green Flourescent Protein
GW	Gestational weeks
INM	Interkinetic Nuclear Migration
IPCs	Intermediate progenitor cells
ISVZ	Inner Sub-ventricular Zone
IUE	in utero Electroporation
IZ	Intermediate Zone
KD	Knockdown
LS	Lateral Sulcus
miRNA	microRNA
MZ	Marginal Zone
NECs	Neuro-epithelial cells

OE	Overexpression
OSVZ	Outer Sub-ventricular Zone
Р	Postnatal day
Par3	Partitioning defective 3
Pax6	Paired box 6
PH3	Phospho-histone H3
pre-miR	Precursor-microRNA
P-Vim	Phospho-vimentin
RA	Retinoic Acid
RGCs	Radial Glial cells
RISC	RNA Induced Silencing Complex
SCR	Scrambled
SG	Spenial gyrus
Shh	Sonic hedgehog
SNORD	C/D box small nucleolar RNA
SP	Subplate
STR	Striatum
SVZ	Sub-ventricular Zone
Tbr1	T-box brain transcription factor 1
Tbr2	T-box brain protein 2
TRBP	Transactivation response element RNA binding protein
TUD	Tough decoy
UTR	Untranslated region
VZ	Ventricular Zone
Wnt	Wingless/ Integrated
β-catenin	beta catenin

ABBREVIATIONS



#### SUMMARY

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are a class of non-coding RNA molecules increasingly recognized to play varied roles in development, physiology and disease. The majority of miRNAs are expressed in the brain, have fast turnover rates and the ability to regulate several genes in a spatio-temporal fashion. This makes them important regulators of gene expression during the extraordinarily complex process of brain development. The identification that novel miRNAs emerged during speciation in mammalian evolution helps to understand their importance and roles in the developmental processes leading to the formation of folded brains with increasing complexity in higher mammals. Our previous transcriptomic analyses of the developing ferret cortex identified candidate genes and miRNAs differentially expressed across germinal layers, with potential relevance in cerebral cortex expansion. We identified *MIR*3607 as highly and differentially expressed between embryonic germinal layers of the large and folded human and ferret cortex, but not expressed in the lissencephalic small mouse cortex. Experimental expression of *MIR3607* in the developing cerebral cortex of mouse embryos at E14.5 affected neurogenesis, and transcriptomic profiling revealed increased Wnt/βCatenin signaling and decreased apical adhesion as the major underlying factors. Expression of MIR3607 at E12.5, when progenitor cells expand, dramatically effected amplification and delamination of apical progenitors, as predicted, leading to rosette formation. This was rescued by co-expressing Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC), repressor of canonical Wnt signaling and a direct target of *MIR3607*. A similar phenotype was produced in human cerebral organoids, indicating the conservation of this function. Experiments of loss of MIR3607 function in ferret severely impaired polarity of apical progenitor cells and induced their delamination and ectopic mitosis, defects phenocopied by overexpressing APC. Our findings demonstrate that *MIR3607* activates Wnt/βCatenin signaling in apical progenitor cells, promoting their amplification and the sustained expansion of the Ventricular Zone to form a large and complex cerebral cortex in higher mammals.

SUMMARY

#### RESUMEN

Los microARNs (miARNs) son una clase de moléculas de ARN no codificantes cada vez más reconocidas por desempeñar funciones variadas en el desarrollo, la fisiología y la enfermedad. La mayoría de los miARNs se expresan en el cerebro, tienen tasas de renovación rápidas y la capacidad de regular espacial y temporalmente múltiples genes. Esto los convierte en importantes reguladores de la expresión génica durante el proceso extraordinariamente complejo del desarrollo del cerebro. La identificación de que nuevos miARNs surgieron durante procesos de especiación en la evolución de los mamíferos, ayuda a comprender su importancia y su papel en los mecanismos de desarrollo que conducen al plegamiento de cerebros con una complejidad creciente en mamíferos superiores. Análisis transcriptómicos previos de nuestro laboratorio de la corteza del hurón en desarrollo identificaron genes candidatos y miARNs expresados diferencialmente a lo largo de las capas germinativas, con potencial relevancia en la expansión de la corteza cerebral. Identificamos MIR3607 como altamente expresado y de forma diferencial entre las capas germinativas embrionarias de la corteza humana y de hurón, caracterizadas por su gran tamaño y claro plegamiento, pero no presente en la pequeña corteza de ratón, animal lisencefálico. La expresión experimental de MIR3607 en la corteza cerebral en desarrollo de embriones de ratón tras 14.5 días de gestación (E14.5) afectó el proceso de neurogénesis, y la caracterización transcriptómica reveló un aumento de la vía de señalización de Wnt / βCatenina v una disminución de la adhesión apical como principales factores subvacentes. La expresión de MIR3607 en ratón a E12.5, cuando las células progenitoras aumentan en número de manera importante, afectó dramáticamente a los procesos de amplificación y delaminación de los progenitores apicales, tal y como predijimos, lo que condujo a la formación de rosetas. Este efecto fue revertido mediante la coexpresión de Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC), represor de la vía de señalización canónica de Wnt y diana directa de MIR3607. Un fenotipo similar se produjo en organoides cerebrales humanos, lo que indica la conservación de esta función. Experimentos de pérdida de función de MIR3607 en hurones alteraron gravemente la polaridad de las células progenitoras apicales e indujeron su

delaminación y mitosis ectópica, defectos fenocopiados por la sobreexpresión de APC. Nuestros hallazgos demuestran que *MIR3607* activa la vía de señalización Wnt / βCatenina en células progenitoras apicales, promoviendo su amplificación y la expansión de la Zona Ventricular, lo que da lugar a la formación de una corteza cerebral grande y compleja en mamíferos superiores.



SUMMARY



#### **INTRODUCTION**

The cerebral cortex is a highly organized structure in the brain that controls complex cognitive functions. Across evolution, the cerebral cortex has undergone dramatic changes from a small and simple cortex of reptiles and birds to increasingly larger and folded neocortex of mammals including primates, which is essential for higher order functions. The formation of this elaborately structured and functional neocortex with increasing complexity across evolution is subject to genetic regulation. This requires the interplay of several coding and non-coding genes, including genes emerged in recent evolutionary lineages. These gene regulatory mechanisms control a series of different steps during brain development, including the generation of several different types of progenitor cells and their proliferative activity to determine neuronal output *(de Juan Romero and Borrell.,2015; Borrell and Calegari.,2014; Sun and Hevner.,2014; Cardenas et al.,2018; Cardenas and Borrell.,2020)*.

# 1. Cerebral cortex development and gyrification

#### 1.1 Early specification of the neural tube

The early embryo forms as a single sheet of cells which, upon gastrulation, form the three embryonic germinal layers, namely the outer ectoderm, middle mesoderm and inner endoderm. Gastrulation defines the midline and different axes of the embryo (anterior-posterior, dorsal-ventral and medial-lateral), which are important for formation of different organs including the brain. The formation of the notochord at the midline of the embryo as the mesoderm invaginates is important for the formation of the nervous system and determines its position. The inductive signals from the notochord cause the overlying ectoderm to differentiate into neuroectoderm, which gives rise to the entire nervous system. The midline ectoderm that contains the neuroectodermal precursor cells thickens into a distinct columnar epithelium called the neural plate, in a process called neurulation. The lateral margins of the neural plate fold inward and form the neural tube, which gives rise to the brain, spinal cord and most of the peripheral nervous system (*Gilbert.,2010; Purves et al.,2012*).

The major brain regions are formed by bending, folding and constriction of the neural tube as a result of morphogenetic movements as shown in Figure 1. The anterior part of the neural tube forms the brain and the posterior part forms the spinal cord. The neural tube is majorly divided into three vesicles: and rhombencephalon. prosencephalon, mesencephalon The rostral prosencephalon gives rise to the telencephalon, which is divided in two bilaterally symmetric telencephalic vesicles. The dorsal telencephalon becomes the cerebral cortex and hippocampus, and the ventral telencephalon leads to the formation of basal ganglia, basal forebrain nuclei and olfactory bulb. The caudal part of the prosencephalon becomes the diencephalon, which forms the thalamus and hypothalamus. The mesencephalon gives rise to superior and inferior colliculi, and the collection of nuclei called the midbrain tegmentum. The rhombencephalon forms the cerebellum, pons and medulla (Purves et al., 2012).



**Fig. 1. Regional specification of the neural tube.** (A) Early in development, the neural tube is subdivided into prosencephalon, mesencephalon and metencephalon. The posterior region forms the spinal cord. (B) Later in development, further divisions occur giving rise to telencephalon and diencephalon on the anterior side, and metencephalon and myelencephalon on the posterior side. These structures give rise to major functional structures later and the spaces eventually forming the ventricles (*Modified from Purves et al.,2012*).

#### 1.2 Neurogenesis

Early in development, the neural plate and neural tube are formed by a single layer of neuroepithelial cells (NECs), which are the primary neural stem cells. NECs show epithelial features, apical-basal polarity, express specific transmembrane proteins such as prominin-1 (CD133), and are attached to each other by tight junctions and adherens junctions (Weigmann et al., 1997). The highly polarized neuroepithelial cells extending their apical process attached to the ventricle and basal process extending to the basal lamina undergo cell-cycle dependent intekinetic nuclear migration(INM). Their nuclei undergo apical to basal migration during G1, exit S-phase at the basal part, then undergo basal to apical migration during G2 before undergoing mitosis at the apical ventricular surface (Arai and Taverna., 2017; Farkas and Huttner., 2008). They initially undergo symmetric proliferative divisions, each producing two daughter stem cells of the same type. Over time, NECs become Radial Glia Cells (RGCs), progenitor cells more fate restricted that will undergo asymmetric neurogenic divisions, giving rise to renewed RGCs as well as basal progenitors and neurons (Wodarz and Huttner, 2003). In the early mouse telencephalon, NECs undergo mitoses while retaining and splitting the basal process, whereas in human NECs retract their basal process during mitoses, which is regrown following division (Kosodo et al., 2008; Kosodo and Huttner, 2009; Subramanian et al., 2017).

As NECs transform into RGCs and neurogenesis begins, the single-layered neuroepithelium transforms into a multilayered tissue. The layer next to the ventricle is called Ventricular Zone and houses the cell body of RCGs. The transformation of NECs into RCGs involves the downregulation of certain epithelial features, including tight junctions and certain plasma membrane proteins that are important for apical basal polarity (*Aaku-Saraste et al., 1996*).

Other neuroepithelial features are maintained, including the expression of neuroepithelial markers such as the intermediate filament protein Nestin and proteins associated with adherens junctions, such as Prominin-1. Also, maintenance of features important for apical-basal polarity including the expression of apical complex proteins such as Par3/Par6/aPKC, and maintenance of contact with the basal lamina (Wodarz and Huttner., 2003; Weigmann et al., 1997; Halfter et al., 2002). RCGs also display several astroglial properties, including glycogen granules and expression of several astrocytic markers such as the astrocyte specific glutamate transporter (GLAST), Ca<sup>2+</sup> binding protein S100β, glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), vimentin and brain lipid binding protein (BLBP) (Kriegstein and Götz., 2003; Campbell and Götz., 2002; Götz., 2003). In mice, this transition occurs between embryonic stages E10 and E12, while in humans it is proposed to occur as early as 8-10 weeks of gestation (Subramanian et al., 2017). RCGs, also possessing apical and basal processes spanning the cortical surface, undergo INM like neuroepithelial cells, undergoing mitosis at the apical surface and migrating basally for S phase, but this movement is confined within the VZ. Most of the neurons in the brain are derived either directly or indirectly from RGCs, in addition to their role as scaffold for the radial migration of neurons and as precursors of astrocytes (Götz et al.,2002; Malatesta et al.,2000).

A secondary type of cortical progenitors are Intermediate Progenitor Cells (IPCs), which are born from the mitoses of RGCs and starting at E13.5 form a secondary germinal layer basal to the VZ, called subventricular zone (SVZ). IPCs express characteristic transcription factors such as Tbr2, and undergo symmetric neurogenic divisions away from the apical surface to form two neuronal daughter cells (*Götz and Huttner,2005*). The importance of signaling factors and mechanisms governing the emergence of IPCs, thereby increasing the neuronal output and impacting the evolution of cortical size from reptiles to birds and mammals, has been recently demonstrated relating to the levels of Robo and Delta1 signaling, showing the importance of basal progenitors in determining the size and complexity (*Cardenas et al.,2018*).

A second important class of basal progenitors are called basal Radial Glial Cells. These are very abundant in the OSVZ of large and gyrified brains, and have been

found to be an important determinant factor of cortical folding (Reillo et al., 2011; Fietz et al., 2010; Hansen et al., 2010; Kelava et al., 2012). Initially identified by similarity with apical RGCs but with only a basal process, without apical proces, further studies in primates have demonstrated that these cells may present multiple morphologies, including apical and basal processes, as well as a number of short lateral processes that have been linked to the proliferative capacity of these progenitor cells (Betizeau et al., 2013; Kalebic et al., 2019). In primates, bRGCs undergo mitotic somal translocation (MST), where the nucleus moves basally along the basal process prior to mitosis, and they have the capacity to undergo multiple self-renewing divisions (Hansen et al., 2010 Betizeau et al.,2013). At the molecular level, bRGCs are characterized by expression of Pax6 (like aRGCs) or Pax6 and Tbr2 (*Reillo and Borrell., 2012*). Single cell sequencing studies identified several markers specific to bRGC, such as HOPX, PTPRZ1, TNC, FAM107A and MOXD1 (Pollen et al., 2015). Interesingly, aRGCs generating bRGCs destined to form the OSVZ occurs only during a specific restricted time window of cortical development, when aRGCs undergo self-consuming divisions, that is they form bRGCs at the expense of aRGCs (Martinez-Martinez et al.,2016). Figure 2 summarizes the main types of progenitor cells found in the mouse and ferret/human cerebral cortex.



Human/Ferret



**Fig. 2. Cerebral cortex neurogenesis in mouse and ferret/human.** The progenitors in the cerebral cortex include apical radial glial cells (aRG), short neural precursors (SNP), intermediate progenitors (IPC), and basal radial glial cells (bRGC) that give rise to neurons which migrate radially to the cortical plate and positioned in an inside-out pattern. The basal radial glial cells which are very few in mouse cortex but abundant and form an extended OSVZ in higher order species including human, increases the neuronal output, also helping with tangential dispersion of neurons, forming gyri and sulci (*Modified from Borrell and Reillo.,2012*)

#### 1.3 Neuronal migration and subtype specification

Projection neurons in the cerebral cortex are produced from progenitor cells in a temporal order, from E11.5 to E17.5 in mouse. The earliest born neurons form a transient layer called preplate, which soon afterwards splits into a superficial marginal zone (MZ) and a subplate (SP). Postmitotic neurons formed subsequently will migrate radially away from the germinal layers to place themselves in between MZ and SP, eventually forming the multilayered cortex with the later born neurons migrating past the early born neurons (Angevine and Sidman., 1961; Caviness and Takahashi., 1995; Molyneaux et al., 2007). Neurons produced very early in development inherit the apical-basal polarity of their mother RGCs and migrate to the cortical plate by somal translocation. As the thickness of the cortical primordium increases, this mode of migration is replaced by a multi-phase mode. Neurons first exhibit a short bipolar migration from their birthplace to the SVZ. Then they undergo multipolar migration, extending and retracting multiple neurites and frequently changing direction, but overall moving towards the cortical plate. Finally, they re-acquire apical-basal polarity and move towards the pial surface by cell locomotion, alternating the elongation of a thick leading process with the translocation of the cell nucleus, and using the basal process of RGCs as their migration substrate and guide. As locomoting neurons approach the MZ, they undergo a final event of glia-independent somal translocation, when the leading process is attached to the pial surface and shortens upon upward movement of cell soma (Nadarajah et al., 2001; Noctor et al.,2001; Kon et al.,2017). In folded brains, the presence of basal processes from bRGCs provides additional radial fibers that transform the parallel array of radial fibers to a fanned conformation, thus contributing to the tangential dispersion of

radially-migrating neurons and gyrification (*Reillo et al.,2011*). In agreement with the modification of the radial fiber scaffold, observations in the ferret cerebral cortex have revealed that in gyrencephalic species radially-migrating neurons display tortuous migrations to help with lateral dispersion just prior to the start of folding of the cerebral cortex (*Gertz and Kriegstein.,2015*). This seems to stem from increased branching of leading processes in gyrencephalic species, such as ferret, which may favor the tangential dispersion of neurons (*Martinez-martinez et al.,2018*). Migration speed and cell-cell adhesion between migrating neurons are also known to be key aspects during cortical folding (*del Toro et al.,2017*).

The different layers of the cerebral cortex contain different types of neurons, which are largely specified in progenitor cells. The existence of basal progenitors in mammals, and the extent of their proliferation, are important for the formation and expansion of supragranular layers (Layers II-III), although not solely linked to it (*Montiel et al.,2016; Cardenas et al.,2018; Cardenas and Borrell.,2019)*. Moreover, the existence of the OSVZ in gyrencephalic mammals has been associated to, and found important for, the formation of complex supragranular layers (*Lukaszewickz et al.,2005; Smart et al.,2002*). In primates, bRGCs self-amplify by proliferative divisions during mid-corticogenesis, enabling the formation of enlarged supragranular layers (*Betizeau et al.,2013*).

There are certain genes like Cux2, Cux1 and Svet1, being expressed in a subset of progenitors during the generation of upper layer neurons of the cerebral cortex suggesting that these markers might be markers of progenitors generating upper layer neurons (*Tarabykin et al.,2001; Nieto et al.,2004; Zimmer et al.,2004)*. Further evidence that Cux2 progenitors are destined to produce upper layer neurons supported the fact that certain RGCs are intrinsically specified to become upper layer neurons independent of niche or birthdate (*Franco et al.,2012*). Expression of Foxg1 has been shown to suppress Tbr1 and in turn cause the progenitors to acquire deep layer Fezf2+/Ctip2+ identity, and the negative feedback signal from deep layer neurons represses Fezf2/Ctip2 and confer Satb2+ upper layer fate (*Toma et al.,2014*). Satb2 has been shown to be essential for determining the identity of upper layer neurons that contribute the corpus callosum, and the absence of which lead to ectopic expression of Ctip2 and contribution to corticospinal tract (*Britanova et al.,2008*). Sox5, Fezf2 and Ctip2

play an important role in the specification of subcortically projecting axons. Fezf2/Ctip2 and Satb2 appear to be mutually repressive, to ensure that the neurons adopt either a subcortical or callosal projection neuron identity *(Leone et al.,2008)*. However, studies have also shown that mutual regulation between Satb2 and Fezf2 enables Satb2 to promote subcerebral neuron identity in layer 5 neurons, but repress subcerebral characters in callosal projection neurons *(McKenna et al.,2015)*.

#### 1.4 Axon specification and guidance

Once neurons have been generated, and already as they undergo radial migration, they begin differentiating by growing out a main axon, which navigates to its final target following guidance cues via its growth cone (Ye et al., 2019). There are three major classes of cortical excitatory projection neurons, depending on their axon projection targets: 1, Cortico-fugal projection neurons (CFuPN); 2, Callosal projection neurons (CPN); and 3, Ipsilateral projection neurons. CFuPNs are neurons born early that reside in deep layers and project away from the cortex. They are predominantly of two types: cortico-thalamic neurons that project to different nuclei of the thalamus, located mostly in layer VI but with a small proportion in layer V; sub-cerebral projection neurons located in layer V that project to the brain stem and targets in the spinal cord. CPNs reside majorly in cortical layers II/III and to a lesser extent in layers V and VI, project to the contralateral cortex through the corpus callosum and connect the two cerebral hemispheres. Ipsilateral or association projection neurons extend their axonal projections within the same cortical hemisphere of origin (Molyneaux et al., 2007; Fame et al., 2011). The precise guidance of developing axons and the accurate connectivity of neuronal circuits is essential for proper functioning of the nervous system (Dickson., 2002).

#### 2. Extrinsic factors influencing cerebral cortex development

The spatial and temporal patterning of the cerebral cortex by expression of different set of genes is induced by several endogenous signaling factors. These signaling molecules are secreted by particular cell class or tissue, or embryonic structures like the notochord, roofplate, floorplate, neuroectoderm itself or the adjacent tissue structures. These signals can also form a gradient depending on the distance from the source and the graded signal shape the structure accordingly. These secreted signals are received by different classes of receptors in the cells, which then regulates the expression of intrinsic factors to control the process of neurogenesis and maturation of neurons *(Purves et al.,2012).* 

The role of FGF signaling in area specification has been first demonstrated by Fukuchi-Shimogori and Grove. FGFs 3, 8, 17, 15 and 18 were found to be expressed at the rostral midline of the neocortex in the commissural plate and surrounding tissue from E9.5 until E12.5 (*Bachler and Neubüser.,2001*). Increasing FGF8 in the rostral cortex lead to the expansion of rostral cortical areas at the expense of caudal areas while decreasing rostral FGF signal lead to a dramatic shrinkage of rostral neocortical areas and the ectopic expression of FGF8 in the caudal cortex lead to a duplication of more rostral somatosensory cortex caudally (*Fukushi-Shimogori and Grove.,2001*). Moreover, FGF signaling is important for proper proliferation of progenitors and generation of neurons. Loss of FGF signaling is known to cause loss of RGCs and premature neurogenesis resulting in reduced cortical surface, whereas its activation causes cortical expansion with formation of fold in normally lissencephalic mouse cortex and extra fold in gyrencephalic ferret cortex (*Rash et al.,2011; Rash et al.,2013; Masuda et al.,2015*).

RA signaling is implicated in cellular differentiation, transitions between various classes of neural stem cells leading to their terminal division for neurogenesis. Excess RA signaling has been known known to cause severe birth defects, including defects in neural tube closure and early brain morphogenesis (*Linney and LaMantia.*, 1994; Purves et al., 2012). RA secreted by meningeal membranes promote neurogenesis and its blockade resulting in elongation of the neuroepithelium (*Siegenthaler et al.*, 2009). BMP signaling controls the dorsal

midline specification, development of the choroid plexus and promote the dorsomedial patterning of the telencephalon in cooperation with Wnts (*Furuta et al.,1997; Hèbert et al.,2002; Panchision et al.,2001)*. Apart from these, in the cerebral cortex, BMP signaling is reported to promote neuronal differentiation of RGCs, transition of multipolar to bipolar morphology of migrating neurons in the SVZ and IZ by regulating the expression of microtubule-associated protein CRMP2 (*Li et al.,1998; Sun et al.,2010; Agirman et al.,2017*)

An increase in Shh signaling in radial glial cells has been found to prolong their self-renewal at the expense of generation of basal progenitors, but the formed basal progenitors undergoing multiple round of divisions and, with formation of basal radial glial cells, leading to the folding of the mouse cortex. The reduction of Shh signaling in RGCs has been found to impair their proliferation along with the generation of basal progenitors and basal radial glial cells (Wang et al., 2016; Komada et al., 2013). Notch signaling effector, Hes genes are known to maintain the stemness characteric of radial glial cells by suppressing the expression of proneural genes (Kageyama et al., 2008). Hes1 is expressed in radial glial cells in cell-cycle dependent fashion and its genetic loss lead to brain hypoplasia as a result of premature neurogenesis (Ishibashi et al., 1995; Ohtsuka et al., 2001). Hes1 gene is epigenetically silenced after divisions of radial glial cells to promote the differentiation of the daughter cells into neurons or intermediate progenitors (Ochiai et al., 2009; Lopez at al., 2016). Apart from these, other signaling mechanisms such as MAPK pathway, integrin signaling, PDGFD signaling, PI3K/PTEN/AKT pathway, Hif1α signaling have been shown to regulate cerebral cortex development and gyrification (Penisson et al., 2019).

One of the important pathways,the canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway, is known to play important roles during cerebral cortex development. Binding of Wnt ligands to a complex composed of Frizzled and the lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP) located on the plasma membrane of apical progenitors, lead to stabilization of  $\beta$ -catenin and translocation to the nucleus, where they associate with the TCF/LEF transcription factors and promote the transcription of effector genes. In the absence of Wnt ligands,  $\beta$ -catenin is phosphorylated, ubiquitinated and degraded by the complex of proteins composed of Axin, APC, the Ser/Thr kinases GSK-3 and CK1, protein phosphatase PP2A, and the E3-ubiqutin ligase

b-TrCP (Harrison-Uy and Pleasure., 2012; Cadigan., 2012). Wnt signaling activity is known to be distributed along a dorsally restricted medial to lateral gradient in the cerebral cortex and decreasing activity upon increasing developmental stages (Machon et al., 2007; Mutch et al., 2009; Pöschl et al., 2013). Expression of stabilized beta-catenin in the neural precursor cells in the developing mouse cortex lead to their expansion with increased mitoses resulting in folds resembling gyri and sulci (Chenn et al., 2002). Moreover, persistent expression of stabilized beta-catenin lead to the expansion of RC2and Pax6 expression resulting in the delay in maturation of radial glial cells into intermediate progenitors expressing Tbr2 thereby negatively regulating the formation of basal progenitors (Wrobel., 2007; Mutch et al., 2010). Whereas inhibition of  $\beta$ -catenin signaling in neural precursor cells lead to premature cell cycle exit and differentiation of neurons (Woodhead., 2006; Draganova., 2015). Wnt/β-catenin pathway has been promote differentiation of late neural precursor shown to cells (Hirabayashi., 2004) and experimental activation of Wnt-signaling in late apical progenitors lead to respecification to an early fate (Oberst et al., 2019). Transient dowregulation of canonical Wnt signaling is also found to play an important role in polarizing the cells for radial migration (Boitard et al., 2015). Thus, the effect of Wnt signaling in cortical development is time and context dependent. Furthermore, the importance of Wnt signaling have been illustrated by experimental manipulation of several components of the pathway. CDK-5 dependent phosphorylation of Axin is known to control the pool size of IPs and their switch from proliferative to differentiation status via β-catenin activation (Fang et al., 2013). APC, a critical component of the pathway is known to regulate β-catenin in the early embryonic cortex and determines the size of proliferative pool, the polarity of radial glial cells and formation of primary cilium and thereby regulate orderly differentiation of cortical progenitors (Ivaniutsin et al., 2009; Yokota et al.,2009; Nakagawa et al.,2017).
### 3. Intrinsic factors influencing cerebral cortex development

A number of transcription factors are expressed in the dorsolateral wall of the developing telencephalon, including Lhx2, Foxg1, Emx2 and Pax6. These play important roles in establishing the polarity and identity of neocortical domains, by repressing dorsal midline and ventral fates (Rallu et al., 2002). Loss of Lhx2 and Foxq1 lead to the expansion of structures limited to the dorsal midline such as and cortical hem (Bulchand et al.,2001; Muzio and hippocampus Mallamaci., 2005). Loss of Emx2 and Pax6 lead to the expansion of ventral progenitor domains into the cortex (Muzio et al., 2002). Pax6 is expressed at high levels in progenitor cells of the cortical VZ, which is important for the proliferation of RGCs and the repression of the neurogenic transcription factor Tbr2. Accordingly, basal progenitors downregulate Pax6, which unleashes the expression of Tbr2 and neurogenesis (Götz et al., 1998; Sessa et al., 2008; Molyneaux et al.,2007).

Basic helix loop helix (bHLH) transcription factors, such as those belonging to the families Ascl, Neurogenin, NeuroD, Olig, Id and Hes, play important roles in the establishment of cell fates (*Ross et al.,2003*). Factors from the Hes and Id families maintain the proliferation of progenitor cells by repression of pro-neural genes (*Iso et al.,2003; Justice and Jan.,2002*). On the other hand, proneural genes commit progenitor cells to the neuronal lineage: in the dorsal telencephalon, neurogenins lead to the generation of glutamatergic neurons, and in the ventral telencephalon Ascl1 drives the generation of GABAergic interneurons. Proneual genes induce the expression of pro-neural genes like  $\beta$ -tubulin and Neurofilament-M, promoting neurogenesis at the expense of gliogenesis. The transcription factor NeuroD begins its expression in immature neurons, maintained thereon in the cortical plate (*Nieto et al.,2001; Sun et al.,2001*). Finally, Olig1, Olig2 and Ngn2 belong to bHLH transcription factors implicated in the formation of oligodendrocytes (*Takebayashi et al.,2002*).

Several proteins regulating the cytoskeleton control different aspect of neuronal migration, and their malfunction leading to dramatic brain malformations. These include doublecortin (DCX), filamin A alpha (FLNA), platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase 1b, regulatory subunit 1 (PAFAH1B1, also LIS1), and genes

encoding tubulin subunits (TUBA1A, TUBB2B and TUBB3). Mutation in one or more of these genes leads to developmental cortical malformations in humans such as lissencephaly (absence of folds) or neuronal heterotopia, either periventricular or in cortical band (*Fernandez et al.,2016; Francis and Cappello.,2021; Guarnieri et al.,2018*).

The laminar fate of cortical neurons is specified by distinct transcription factors, such as *Cux1*, *Cux2* and *Lhx2* being expressed in layers II/III to IV, *Brn2* in layer II/III and V, *Ror* $\beta$  in layer IV, *Opn3* in layer V and *Foxp2* in layer VI (*Molyneaux et al.,2007*).



**Fig. 3. Transcription factors important for neurogenesis.** Different transcription factors that play important role in the self-renewal of radial glial cells, formation of intermediate progenitors, and thereby specification of different neuronal subtypes (*Modified from Molyneaux et al.,2007*).

Regarding the navigation and guidance of growing axons, this is signaled by a variety of attractive and repulsive molecular guidance factors, including netrins, ephrins, semaphorins, slit, neurotrophic factors, morphogens and neural cell adhesion molecules (L1, L2/HNK-1). These have been found to act on the growth

cone, regulating axon guidance through multiple signaling pathways (Ye et al., 2019).

Single cell transcriptomic analyses of mouse cortex at different stages along neuronal differentiation identified the sequential dynamic expression of a core set of genes involved in proliferation, neurogenesis and neuronal differentiation, where newborn neurons show stage specific expression of different transcription factors during maturation (Figure 4; *Telley et al.,2016*). These analyses also identified differences in apical progenitors between early and late developmental stages. At early stages of development, processes related to cell cycle and nucleus/chromatin are predominant in apical progenitors, which determines the increased self-renewal capacity of progenitors. At late stages, there is an increased expression of membrane receptors, cell-cell signaling related proteins, and excitability related proteins in apical progenitors, which make them more responsive to environmental signals *(Telley et al.,2019)*.



**Fig 4. Sequential expression of different neuronal transcription factors post mitosis.** Sequential expression of different transcription factors with increase in developmental time across stages of development (*Modified from Telley et al.*,2016).

Several transcriptomic analyses have identified genes potentially relevant for the expansion and folding of the mammalian cortex, during phylogeny and ontogeny. These include genes specific to the human lineage, genes differentially expressed between lissencephalic and gyrencephalic species, and genes differentially expressed between the germinal layers of prospective gyrus and sulcus regions. Some examples are shown in Figure 5 (*Fiddes et al., 2018; Fietz et al., 2012; Florio et al., 2015; Florio et al., 2017; Florio et al., 2018; Suzuki et al., 2018; de Juan Romero et al., 2015; Pollen et al., 2015)*. These genes include *Trnp1, Cdh1, Akna, ARHGAP11B, TMEM14B, Flrt1/3, NOTCH2NL, Fgf2* and *Hopx,* and have been found to be important for the process of gyrification in higher mammals (*Del Toro et al., 2017; Rash et al., 2013; Martinez-Martinez et al., 2016; Stahl et al., 2013; Camargo-Ortego et al., 2019; Florio et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2017; Vaid et al., 2018; Fiddes et al., 2018; Florio et al., 2018; Suzuki et al., 2018).* 



**Fig.5 Genetic Patterning of cerebral cortex gyrification.** Certain genes that show homogenous pattern of expression in lissencephalic mouse cortex, are found to exhibit modular expression pattern along Anterior-posterior axis in germinal zones of prospective folds and fissures. Examples of few genes that

show a varied pattern of expression in ferret and human are displayed here. (Modified from Llinares-Benadero and Borrell.,2019)

In addition to protein-coding genes, an increasing number of non-coding RNAs, including microRNAs, have been found to be expressed in neural cells and to be important for modulating the expression of several neural development genes, thereby regulating the development of cerebral cortex (*Qureshi and Mehler.,2012*), as discussed below in detail.

# 5. MicroRNAs

Most protein coding DNA sequences remain highly conserved between species, even among those exhibiting a significant divergence of developmental complexity, whereas the amount of non-coding sequences increase consistently with complexity in development (*Taft et al.,2007*). Among these non-coding sequences, several classes of regulatory factors have been discovered, including microRNAs (miRNAs). MiRNAs are endogenous short single stranded non-coding RNA molecules (20-23 nucleotides) that regulate gene expression through post transcriptional gene silencing, with important roles in a variety of physiological and developmental processes (*Bartel.,2004; Winter et al.,2009*). The rate of acquisition of miRNAs is far greater along vertebrate evolution than any other genetic factor explaining chordate evolution, and this coincides with the dramatic increase in organism complexity of chordates (*Heimberg et al.,2008*). Therefore, the increase in developmental complexity across evolution has been proposed to have resulted, at least in part, from the increased numbers and diversity of non-protein coding RNA molecules.

### 5.1 MicroRNA biogenesis

### 5.1.1 Canonical pathway

MiRNA genes are transcribed by either RNA pol II or pol III into primary miRNA transcripts (Pri-miRNA) (Lee et al., 2004; Borchert et al., 2006). Pri-miRNAs

consist of a double stranded hairpin stem, a terminal loop on one side and two single stranded flanking regions on the other side of the hairpin *(Han et al.,2006; Zeng and Cullen.,2003)*. Pri-miRNAs are cleaved in the nucleus by a microprocessor complex formed by the RNase III enzyme Drosha and DGCR8, which contains two double stranded RNA binding domains *(Denli et al.,2004; Gregory et al.,2004; Han et al.,2004)*. DGCR8 interacts with the pri-miRNA and functions as a molecular ruler to determine the precise cleavage site. The two RNase domains of Drosha cleave the 5<sup>′</sup> and 3<sup>′</sup> arms of the pri-miRNA hairpin, by cleaving 11 bp away from the junction between singe stranded RNA and double stranded RNA at the base of the hairpin, resulting in the formation of pre-miRNA *(Han et al.,2004)*.

Pre-miRNAs are then exported to the cytoplasm by Exportin-5 (XPO5), in complex with Ran-GTP (Yi et al., 2003), and are subject to further maturation by the RISC loading complex (RLC). RLC is a multiprotein complex that consists of the RNase Dicer, the double stranded RNA binding domain proteins TRBP (Tar RNA binding protein) and PACT (Protein activator of PKR), and the core component Argonaute-2 (Ago2) (Gregory et al., 2005; Macrae et al., 2008). The RNase III Dicer cleaves off the loop of the pre-miRNA and produces a microRNA duplex of the size of roughly 22 nucleotides with two nucleotide overhangs at each 3' end (Ketting et al., 2001). Dicer and its interactors TRBP/PACT dissociate from the miRNA duplex after Dicer-mediated cleavage. The double stranded duplex then unwinds and the functional guide strand is loaded into RISC. This process is facilitated by multiple helicases (Salzman et al., 2007; Robb and Rana., 2007). The complementary passenger strand mostly get degraded, although sometimes it can act as functional strand as well. Therefore, the functional RISC complex contains a single stranded mature miRNA that guides the complex to the target mRNAs.

The relative expression of each of the two miRNA strands may vary between tissues (*Biasiolo et al.,2011*). The functional strand is normally chosen based on the thermodynamic stability of the base pairs at the two ends of the duplex. The strand with the less stable base pair at its 5' end is loaded into the RISC complex (*Khvorova et al.,2003*). The mature miRNA then guides the RISC to the target mRNA and cause degradation/ translational inhibition and or mRNA decay

(Winter et al.,2009). Most studies have shown miRNAs binding to 3'UTR of mRNAs, but in some cases miRNAs binding to 5'UTR or coding sequence have also been reported. Exceptionally, miRNA-mediated upregulation of gene expression has also been reported (O'Brien et al.,2018).



**Fig.6. Canonical miRNA biogenesis pathway.** miRNA gene is transcribed and cleaved in the nucleus to form pre-miRNA, which is exported into cytoplasm, where it is further cleaved to form mature miRNA which targets mRNA and cause target cleavage, translational repression or mRNA deadenylation, decapping and degradation (*Modified from Winter et al.,2009*).

#### 5.1.2 Non-canonical pathways

Apart from miRNAs that go through the canonical biogenesis pathway described above, some miRNAs have also been identified to be processed through noncanonical pathways independent from Drosha or Dicer (*Miyoshi et al.,2010*). Intron-derived miRNAs, called mirtrons, are released from the host transcripts as a result of splicing, bypass Drosha cleavage and are processed further by Dicer in the cytoplasm. These comprise a fraction of miRNAs in mammals and *Drosophila (Kim and Kim.,2007; Okamura et al.,2007)*. MiRNAS have also been found to be produced from other classes of small RNAs such as snoRNAs, endo-shRNAs, tRNAs and endo-siRNAs, without the involvement of Drosha, in several

organisms including mammals and *Drosophila (Miyoshi et al.,2010)*. MiRNAs encoded by murine γ-herpesvirus 68 have been found to be processed by the tRNA processing enzyme tRNAse Z, rather than by Drosha (*Bogerd.,2010*). MiRNAs like miR-451 and those derived from tRNAs have been known to be produced through a Dicer independent pathway (*Cifuentes et al.,2010; Haussecker et al.,2010*). Different non-canonical pathways of miRNA biogenesis that occur in mammals are illustrated in Figure 7.



**Fig. 7. Non-canonical miRNA biogenesis pathways.** Several non-canonical miRNA biogenesis pathways that occur in mammals, which are either independent of Drosha or Dicer processing are depicted here (*Modified from Miyoshi et al.,2010*).

### 5.2 MiRNA function

MiRNAs can either completely shut down gene expression or act as fine-tuners. Most miRNAs are pleiotropic, where one miRNA targets several genes causing mild to moderate effects on each. However, miRNAs usually act cooperatively, where multiple miRNAs target the same gene, therefore causing strong repression. In the context of brain development, the highly conserved and brain-enriched miRNAs miR9 and miR124 represent good examples of miRNAs regulating multiple genes in a context-dependent manner, thereby controlling multiple stages of neural development (*Gao.,2010; Radhakrishnan and Alwin Prem Anand.,2016*). MiRNAs produced from a given genomic cluster, or enriched during a particular spatial-temporal window, may act together to regulate key developmental genes (*Tsang et al.,2010; Cherone et al.,2019*), or they may target different components of a common signaling pathway and cause alterations to that pathway (*Gebert and MacRae et al.,2019*). Examples of miRNA pleiotropy of regulation in the context of neurogenesis are shown in Figure 8.



**Fig. 8. MiRNA Targeting mechanisms.** (A) MiRNAs produced from the same cluster targeting genes together causing strong repression. (B) Independent microRNAs cooperatively targeting different genes together, Suppression of particular gene caused by cooperative binding of different miRNAs together is greater than that caused individual miRNAs. Each miRNA is depicted in a different color. Each microRNA can target several genes and a particular gene can be repressed by several microRNAs together. (C) Different components of canonical Wnt signaling being targeted by different miRNAs.

MiRNAs form a functional unit with an AGO protein. The mammalian genome encodes four AGO proteins (Ago1-4), with Ago2 being most highly expressed. AGO is a single polypeptide chain composed of four domains: the amino-terminal domain (N), the Piwi-Argonaute-Zwille domain (PAZ), the middle domain (MID) and the P-element induced wimpy testes domain (PIWI). Two linker domains L1 and L2 connect the N and PAZ domains, and the PAZ and MID domains respectively. The MID and PIWI domains hold the 5' end of the miRNA and the PAZ domain binds its 3' nucleotide (Schirle and MacRae., 2012; Sheu-Gruttadauria and MacRae., 2017; Diederichs and Haber., 2007). The degree of complementarity between the miRNA and the target mRNA (miRNA response element) determines the Ago2-mediated processing of target mRNAs, where complete complementarity leads to AGO2 endonuclease activity and mRNA cleavage, whereas minimal pairing leads to translational inhibition and/or mRNA decay. Most miRNAs target the 3 UTR of mRNA targets, which depends on the complementarity to the seed sequence (position 2-8). Canonical target sites include those that are complementary to miRNA nucleotides 2-8 or 2-7, with or without A at its first position before complementary nucleotides to the seed sequence. A' at the first position of the target site is not recognized by the miRNA, but by the binding pocket within AGO (Agarwal et al., 2015; Wong et al.,2015). Previous studies suggested that target recognition is achieved by a two-step mechanism, where the first 2-6 nucleotides of the seed are organized by the MID and PIWI domains, which allows rapid initial binding and complementarity to nucleotides 7-8 lead to a stable binding. In addition to the seed sequence complementarity, nucleotides 13-16 in the miRNA are called supplemental region and can also contribute to target binding. Apart from these, non-canonical binding sites with minimal seed pairing have also been reported (Grimson et al., 2007; Helwak et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2016).

Gene silencing caused by AGO-miRNA binding to the 3'UTR occurs through mRNA decay or translation repression. mRNA decay is responsible for 66-90% of silencing (Guo et al., 2010), and it involves recruitment of a member of the glycine-tryptophan protein of 182 kDa (GW182) protein family by AGO. GW182 interacts with polyadenylate-binding protein (PABPC) and promotes mRNA deadenylation by recruiting the poly(A) nuclease 2 and 3, and carbon catabolite repressor protein 4-NOT complexes. Deadenylation is then followed by decapping by a complex composed by the mRNA-decapping enzyme subunits 1 and 2, which makes the mRNA susceptible to rapid degradation by 5'-3' exoribonuclease 1 (Rehwinkel et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2009; Behm-Ansmant., 2006). CCR4-NOT complex recruitment also leads to translation repression by recruiting RNA helicase DDX6 (Mathys et al., 2014). Although the mechanism of translation inhibition seems unclear, some studies suggest that miRNA-RISC complex inhibits translational initiation by inducing the dissociation of eukaryotic initiation factors 4A-1 and 4A-2, thereby inhibiting ribosome scanning and assembly of the eIF4F translation initiation complex (Meijer et al.,2013; Fukaya et al.,2014; Fukao et al.,2014).

**INTERSITAS** Miguel Hermändez

#### 5.3 MiRNA regulation

MiRNA biogenesis and activity may be affected by differential regulation of cellular processes that alter the sequence of a miRNA or its precursor. Alternative processing and variation of the cleavage site by Drosha and Dicer have been shown to alter the sequence of some miRNAs, involving shift of the seed position and causing the formation of isomirs (*Kim et al.,2017; Neilsen et al.,2012*). MiRNA precursor sequence may undergo RNA editing, leading to the generation of isomirs and changes in biogenesis leading to sequence variations, deamination being the most commonly observed editing process. A-to-I editing by adenosine deaminase, and C-to-U editing by cytidine deaminase, acting on RNA have been shown to interfere with miRNA cleavage by Drosha or Dicer, and hence to edit the seed sequence (*Nishikura.,2016; Blow et al.,2006; Kawahara et al.,2008*). Non-template addition of nucleotides to the miRNA, particularly adenylation or uridylation at 3' ends by several enzymes, is known to modulate miRNA stability

(either increasing stability or promoting degradation) (Katoh et al.,2009; Katoh et al.,2015; Jones et al.,2009; Gutierrez-Vazquez et al.,2017). The stability and turnover rates are miRNA specific and can be tissue specific. Some miRNAs are generally stable, while some are intrinsically unstable. Some miRNAs are stable until degraded in response to specific developmental cues, and miRNA stability also seems to depend on tissue context, with fast turnover rates observed particularly in neuronal miRNAs (*Guo et al.,2015; Krol et al.,2010*). A mechanism of miRNA destabilization called target RNA-directed miRNA degradation (TDMD) works via extensive pairing between the miRNA's 5' and 3' ends to their target RNAs, and it is often found associated with 3' NTA, or tailing and with 3'-5' trimming. TDMD inducers can be of viral origin or endogenous (*Ameres et al.,2010; la Mata et al.,2015; Haas et al.,2016*). Apart from the above mechanisms, phosphorylation of miRNA has also been found to regulate its activity, such as for miR-34 (*Salzman et al.,2016*).

In addition to changes in miRNA sequence, post-translational modification of different residues of AGO proteins also affects the activity of miRNAs. Phosphorylation of Ser387 in the L2 region of Ago2 has been reported to stimulate the assembly of miRISC, whereas phosphorylation of Tyr393 in the L2 region and Tyr529 in the MID domain blocks miRNA loading. Phosphorylation of residues of S824-S834 cluster in the PIWI domain regulates the release of target mRNAs, that prevents overly long association with targets (Zeng et al.,2008; Rüdel et al.,2011). Other post-translational modifications including hydroxylation, PARylation, ubiquitination and SUMOylation have also been shown to regulate miRNA activity (Gebert and MacRae.,2019).

Endogenous RNAs including IncRNAs, pseudogenes, mRNAs and circRNAs have been known to sequester miRNAs, allowing the expression of their targets in development and cancer (*Thomson and Dinger.,2016*). In addition to changes in the miRNA sequence and the machinery components, RNA editing can alter the target sites, and formation of 3' UTR isoforms that add or remove target sites alter the susceptibility of mRNAs to miRNA in a cell-type or tissue-type specific manner (*Zhang et al.,2016*).

### 6. MiRNAs in development

The first small RNA identified, *lin-4*, which was later identified as a miRNA, was discovered in *C.elegans* by Lee and colleagues as responsible for downregulation of Lin-14 protein levels through a post-transcriptional regulatory mechanism involving antisense pairing, which is essential for the developmental transition from first larval stage to the subsequent stages of development (*Lee et al., 1993*). Subsequently, a small RNA called *let-7* was identified as being important for controlling developmental timing in *C.elegans*, by negatively regulating the expression of heterochronic genes (*Slack et al., 2000*, *Reinhart et al., 2000*), and its expression was detected across a wide range of animal species (*Pasquinelli et al., 2000*). Since then, many miRNAs have been identified to be conserved across several different species as master regulators for fine-tuning the expression of several genes involved in development.

Global elimination of miRNAs by full knock-out of *Dicer* in fruit flies, Zebrafish and mice, causes embryonic lethality, growth arrest and abnormal development of organs, indicating their critical importance in development *(Kloosterman and Plasterk.,2006; Bernstein et al.,2003)*. Several miRNAs are known to regulate the cell cycle of embryonic stem cells, maintaining their pluripotency and differentiation. MiRNAs are also important for the proper development of different organs, including the nervous system, heart, lung, skeletal muscle and skin *(Bhaskaran and Mohan.,2014; Rago et al.,2019)*.

### 7. MiRNAs in cerebral cortex development

### 7.1 Conditional knock-out studies

Several studies involving conditional knock-out in mice of components of the miRNA biogenesis machinery demonstrate the importance of miRNAs for the appropriate development of the cerebral cortex. Studies where Dicer was conditionally deleted from cortical progenitors at different developmental time points shown a diversity of phenotypes with different degrees of severity.

Studies using Foxg1-cre deletion of Dicer, which eliminated Dicer in neural progenitor cells around E11.5, showed decreased expression of markers of RGCs such as Nestin, Sox9 and ErbB2, disorganization of IPCs and neurons, and increased apoptosis over time, although the relative proportion of different neuronal subtypes appeared normal *(Nowakowski et al.,2011)*.

Emx1-cre dependent deletion of Dicer, occurring in neuroepithelial cells from E10.5, caused the apopotosis of progenitor cells and defective differentiation of neurons at postnatal stages. Production of upper layer neurons was also decreased, the expression of the transcription factor Foxp2 was lost (a gene important for neuronal differentiation) and cortical connections were reduced and disorganized (*De Pietri Tonelli et al., 2008*). Other studies using Emx1-cre dependent deletion of Dicer showed that this caused the reduction in thickness of germinal layers with increased apoptosis, increased production of deep layer neurons at the expense of the formation of upper layer neurons, and absence of callosal projections (*Saurat et al., 2013*).

Deletion of Dicer slightly later during development using a Nestin-cre line led to a relatively milder phenotype, where cortical development was largely normal and defects occurring only in the production of late born neurons and neuronal migration (*Kawase-Koga et al.,2009*). Other studies using Nestin-cre deletion of Dicer showed reductions in progenitor cell proliferation, defects in migration and differentiation of neurons, with precocious differentiation of astrocytes (*McLoughlin et al.,2012*).

Dicer ablation using CaMKII-cre line led to increased apoptosis and microcephaly, enlargement of lateral ventricles, and defects in axonal path finding *(Davis et al.,2008)*.

More recently, a study from our laboratory using Rax-cre conditional Dicer knockout, where the loss of Dicer occurred very early in the primordium of telencephalon at E7.5, revealed severe tissue disorganization. Highly proliferative rosettes formed in the rostral telencephalon as a result of downregulation of let-7 miRNAs, leading to the upregulation of IRS-2 and then to the overproliferation of progenitor cells. These results revealed the critical importance of miRNA timing at early stages to preserve the cellular homeostasis

and organization of the neuroepithelium at the rostral telencephalon (Fernandez et al., 2020).

Other studies using Drosha or DGCR8 conditional knock-outs reported a variety of cortical phenotypes that are distinct from the Dicer knock-out phenotypes. The depletion of miRNAs in these cases appears to be smaller compared to Dicer knock-outs, mostly implying miRNA independent functions of these microprocessor complex proteins (*Knuckles et al.,2012, Marinaro et al.,2017, Babiarz et al.,2011*).

7.2 Specific miRNAs in cerebral cortex development

MiRNA profiling studies in the developing mouse and rat cerebral cortex identified several miRNAs being differentially expressed across stages of development, suggesting their involvement in specific aspects of cortical development *(Krichevsky et al.,2003, Nielsen et al.,2009, Yao et al.,2012).* Aside from their roles in progenitor cell proliferation, some miRNAs are specifically enriched in more mature cell types including neurons and glial cells, and involved in determination of cell fates during development *(Jovicic et al.,2013, He et al.,2012).* Figure 9 depicts examples of miRNAs and their target genes involved in cell fate determination of neural progenitors into neurons or glial, and their further subtype specification.



Fig. 9.microRNAs and their target genes involved in specification of cell fate. MiRNAs involved in the specification of progenitors into neurons and further into neuronal subtypes including motor neuron, interneuron, ASEL/ASER bilateral taste receptor neurons and dopaminergic (DA) neurons are indicated in blue. MiRNAs involved in the specification of progenitors into glial cell fate and further into different types of astrocytes and oligodendrocytes are indicated in red (*Rajman and Schratt.,2017*).

MiRNAs are important in several stages of neuronal development involving neurogenesis, polarization and migration of neurons, specification of different neuronal subtypes, axonal path finding, dendritogenesis and synapse development as follows.

#### 7.2.1. Neurogenesis

miR-9, a miRNA highly conserved across mammals, is mostly expressed in neuronal precursors (*Delaloy et al.,2010*). Its overexpression causes neuronal

differentiation by directly inhibiting the nuclear TLX receptor, an upstream activator of the Wnt signaling pathway and important regulator of neural stem cell renewal. TLX in turn negatively regulates miR-9 expression through a negative feedback mechanism (Zhao et al., 2009). Also miR-137 has been shown to regulate TLX by directly inhibiting histone lysine-specific demethylase 1, a TLX transcriptional corepressor (Sun et al., 2011). In addition, several miRNAs regulate Wnt signaling pathway, which is important for neurogenesis. miR-20a/20b and miR-23 have been shown to inhibit the expression of cyclin-D1 by directly binding to its 3'-UTR (Ghosh et al., 2014). miR-15b inhibits Tet methylcytosine dioxygenase 3 (TET3), which regulates the methylation status of the cyclin D1 promoter and in turn inhibits cyclin D1 expression (Lv et al., 2014). miR-9 has also been shown to promote progenitor cell apoptosis in the forebrain and to control the number of neurons in the cortex by repressing pro-gliogenic factors (Bonev et al., 2011; Zhao et al., 2010). The miR17-92 cluster has been shown to be important to regulate the balance between RGCs and IPCs by targeting Pten and Tbr2 (Bian et al., 2013). miR-124, one of the miRNAs most highly expressed in the brain and highly conserved among mammals, is important for neuronal differentiation. miR-9 and miR-124 are known to drive neural progenitors towards the neuronal fate, by repressing their common target RE1-Silencing Transcription factor (REST) (Visvanathan et al., 2007; Packer et al.,2008). Additional miRNAs have been found to target the Notch pathway and thereby regulate neurogenesis. miR-34a and miR23b/24/27b repress Notch1, and miR-34a represses other regulators and effectors of the Notch pathway including Numb1, NeuroD1 and Mash1; finally, miR-9 represses Blbp, a downstream target of Notch1 (Fukuda et al., 2005; Kuang et al., 2012). MiRNAs including miR-34a and miR-29a are known to target p53 pathway and thereby control cell survival (Raver-Shapira et al., 2007; Park et al., 2009). Many of these miRNAs are also known to function differently by targeting different genes depending on the context.

### 7.2.2. Polarization and migration of neurons

Defects in neuron migration are known to cause severe neurodevelopmental disorders, and miRNAs have been found to be important in regulating factors key for neuronal migration. For example, miR-22 and miR-214 are important for the multipolar to bipolar transition of migrating neurons, facilitating their progression to the cortical plate, (*Volvert et al.,2014*). miR-9 and miR-132 regulate the radial migration of cortical neurons by inhibiting the expression of Foxp2 (*Clovis et al.,2012*). Many miRNAs target doublecortin (Dcx), a microtubule associated protein well known for its effects on migration of neurons, and the mutation of which causes lissencephaly in humans. miR-34c, miR-204 and miR-134 target Dcx directly (*Veno et al.,2017; Gaughwin et al.,2011*), whereas miR-22 and miR-124 target members of the CoREST/REST transcriptional repressor complex, thereby indirectly downregulating Dcx expression (*Volvert et al.,2014*). Members of the miR-379.410 cluster (miR-369-3p, miR-496 and miR-543) promote neuronal migration by targeting N-cadherin and reducing its expression (*Rago et al.,2014*).

UNIVERSITAS Michel Hernández

### 7.2.3. Specification of neuronal subtypes

MiRNA profiling of glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons identified several miRNAs selectively enriched in these neuronal subtypes, suggesting their potential role in determining neuronal subtypes (*He et al.,2012*). miR-9 represses Foxg1 and thereby promotes the generation of Cajal-Retzius cells and other early-born neurons (*Shibata et al.,2008*). Recently, miR-128, miR-9 and let-7 have been shown to be expressed forming temporally opposing gradients, thus patterning the formation of cortical neuronal layers (*Shu et al.,2019*). miR-125b and miR-181a promote the generation of dopaminergic neurons and miR-181a\* inhibits this process (*Stappert et al.,2013*). miR-133b has been identified to regulate the differentiation of dopaminergic neurons by repressing the expression of the transcription factor Pitx3 (*Kim et al.,2007*). Finally, miR-7a and miR-132

are important for differentiation of dopaminergic neurons by inhibiting Pax6 and Nurr1, respectively (de Chevigny et al.,2012; Yang et al.,2012).

### 7.2.4 Axonal growth and dendritogenesis

Once neurons acquire appropriate cell fate and position, they begin differentiation by growing axons and dendrites to establish functional connections. Two miRNAs localized in axons of rat cortical neurons, miR-338 and miR-181c, attenuate axonal growth by regulating the expression of factors involved in axon guidance *(Kos et al.,2016).* In mouse cortical neurons, miR-9 regulates the expression of microtubule associated protein 1B (MAP1B), which is important in axonal growth and branching *(Dajas-Bailador et al.,2012).* miR-134 overexpression in mouse brain reduces cortical pyramidal neuron dendritogenesis *(Christensen at al.,2010),* and miR-185 controls dendritic plasticity by suppressing Mirta22 *(Xu et al.,2013).* 

Examples of miRNAs, their gene targets, and signaling pathways affected, that act in concert at several stages of formation and maturation of neurons to ensure the proper development of the cerebral cortex are shown in Figure 10.



**Fig. 10. MiRNAs and their targets in the developing cortex.** MiRNAs and their target genes being regulated at different steps of neurogenesis (*Modified from Barca-Mayo et al.,2014*).

# 8. MiRNAs relevant for cerebral cortex evolution

During evolution, novel miRNAs were introduced at points of speciation divergence, suggesting an increase in the complexity of gene expression regulation and its potential contribution to the evolution of complex biological systems and organisms (*Heimberg et al.,2008*). A single genomic cluster specific to eutherians (placental mammals) 12qF1, which encodes 15 miRNAs enriched

in corticospinal motor neurons (CSMN), coevolved with the motor cortex and corpus callosum. One of these miRNAs, miR-409-3p, is differentially expressed between developing CSMN and CPN (cortical projection neurons) and promotes CSMN development by repressing LMO4 (Diaz et al., 2020). Similarly, numerous primate-specific miRNAs have been identified and shown to be expressed in the cortical germinal zones VZ and OSVZ of macague embryos, while absent in the genomes of rodents. Some of these miRNAs appeared de novo in primates, while others resemble miRNAs in carnivores and may have been lost in rodents, and finally others resemble rodent miRNAs but with multiple mismatches, possibly impairing their function as miRNAs in rodents. The identification of primate miRNAs that target cell cycle regulation and proliferation/differentiation pathways suggests their importance in determining neuron production and cell diversity, thereby leading to the expansion and complexification of the cerebral cortex. For example, the primate-specific miRNA miR-1180-3p targets Kansl1, an evolutionarily conserved regulator of the chromatin modifier KAT8 that functions through histone H4 lysine 16 acetylation and dlx1, a homeodomain transcription factor that controls neurogenesis. Another primate-specific miRNA, miR-1301-MII1, an evolutionarily conserved histone H3 lysine Зр, targets 4 methyltransferase (Arcila et al., 2014, Dehay et al., 2015). Other examples of primate-specific miRNAs that regulate cell cycle regulation are shown in Figure 11.



**Fig. 11. Cell cycle regulation of primate-specific miRNAs.** Arrows indicate different cell-cycle checkpoints where miRNAs act. G1-S-G2-M refer to the different stages of cell cycle (*Modified from Dehay et al.,2015*).

Studies carried out in human embryonic brain samples and a combination of analytical approaches, including high-throughput sequencing of RNA bound to AGO2 (AGO2-HITS-CLIP), single-cell RNA sequencing and computational analyses, have identified several miRNAs enriched in different cell types, and the target genes of which are expressed dynamically through different stages of development. In particular, two types of miRNA-mRNA interactions were identified: 1) where miRNAs expressed in a cell type regulate the expression of their target genes expressed in the same cell type; and 2) miRNAs expressed in a cell type to repress target genes that are not expressed in that same cell type. MiRNAs specific to great apes have also been identified, such as miR-2115, which is differentially expressed between embryonic stages with different proliferation capacity of VZ, suggesting the importance of this miRNA in regulating progenitor cell proliferation and, therefore, leading to the development of bigger brains. Indeed, miR-2115 targets ORC4, a known regulator of DNA replication whose mutations are linked to Meier-Gorlin syndrome, associated with microcephaly (*Nowakowski et al.,2018*). Another primate specific miRNA, miR-934, has been recently identified and shown to be expressed at specific stages of early development and to control early neuronal differentiation (*Prodromidou et al.,2020*).

#### 9. MIR3607

MIR3607-5p (annotated as small nucleolar RNA SNORD138) was initially identified in irradiated human cells (Chaudhry et al., 2013). Expression of MIR3607 was found to be significantly attenuated in prostate cancer specimens, and its low expression was correlated to disease progression. In this case, MIR3607 was found to target and repress oncogenic SRC family kinases, LYN and SRC (Saini et al., 2014). In contrast, it was also found highly expressed in human lung cancer cells and target APC, a negative regulator of the Wnt signaling pathway, thereby it promotes Wnt signaling leading to the upregulation of cyclinD1 and c-Myc, ultimately increasing cell proliferation (Lin et al., 2017). Recently, the dysregulated expression of MIR3607 has been identified in colorectal cancer and hepatocellular carcinoma (Lei et al., 2019; Dou et al., 2020). The very different roles of this miRNA in different types of cancer suggest that its function is highly context-dependent, possibly by targeting different genes. MIR-3607 was also identified as a novel miRNA in the human brain at fetal, young and adult stages, suggesting its likely importance in the development, organization and function of the human brain (Moreau et al., 2013).



OBJECTIVES

# **OBJECTIVES**

Several studies have previously related various types of cancer with deregulated expression of *MIR3607* (*Saini et al., 2014; Lin et al.,2017; Lei et al.,2019; Dou et al.,2020*). Expression of *MIR3607* has been detected in human brain and macaque cerebral cortex previously (*Moreau et al., 2013; Arcila et al.,2014*), but not in mouse, and our previous transcriptomic analyses indicated its expression in the developing ferret, suggesting a conserved role in cortical expansion. Remarkably, the role of this promising microRNA in cerebral cortex development has never been studied. The main goal of this Project is to study the role of *MIR3607* in cerebral cortex development and expansion. This major goal was addressed with the following specific aims:

- 1. To determine the expression pattern of miR3607 in the developing mouse, ferret and human cerebral cortex.
- 2. To investigate the function of miR3607 in mouse cortical development.
- 3. To identify genes and signaling pathways targeted by miR3607 in the developing mouse cerebral cortex, and validate the best candidates by performing rescue experiments.
- 4. To investigate the evolutionary conservation of miR3607 function in cortical development, and its mechanism of action, by gain and loss of function experiments in gyrencephalic species, using ferret and human cerebral organoids as models.

OBJECTIVES



# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Experimental models**

#### Mice

Wild-type mice used for experiments were maintained in an Institute for Cancer Research; Harlan Inc. (ICR) background. Mice were maintained on a 16h:8h light:dark cycle at the Instituto de Neurociencias de Alicante in accordance with Spanish (RD 53/2013) and EU regulations. Experimental protocols were approved by the Universidad Miguel Hernández Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC). Healthy pregnant female mice used for *in utero* electroporation were at embryonic stages E12.5 and E14.5 according to the requirements of the project, and embryos were used without gender bias. The day of vaginal plug was considered as E0.5.

#### Ferret

Processed and cryopreserved brain sections of embryo (E35) and postnatal kit (P2) were used for *in situ* hybridization. Pregnant wildtype ferrets used *for in utero* electroporation were obtained from Euroferret (Copenhagen, Denmark), maintained on a 16h:8-h light:dark cycle at the Animal Facilities of the Universidad Miguel Hernández, treated according to Spanish and European regulations and experimental protocols were approved by the Universidad Miguel Hernández.

#### Human embryonic tissue

Processed brain sections embedded in paraffin used for *in situ* hybridization were obtained from spontaneous abortions of human embryos from the service of Pathology, Hospital Universitario "Principe de Asturias", Alcalá de Henares, Spain. Tissue was extracted in accordance with the Spanish law on clinical

autopsies (Boletín Oficial del Estado [BOE] of 27 June 1980 and BOE of 11 September 1982).

# Human cerebral organoids

Human cerebral organoids were generated following the Lancaster & Knoblich, 2014 protocol.

# Plasmid constructs

The plasmid constructs mainly used for gain of function experiments were pCAG-GFP encoding GFP under the control of the CAG promoter, psil-pre-miRScr encoding scrambled control and psil-pre-miR3607 encoding miR3607-5p. Oligos encoding miR3607 (SIGMA) were designed with BamHI-HindIII sites and cloned into pSilencer2.1-U6 puro (Ambion). pSilencer puro negative control plasmid provided with the kit was used as a psil-pre-miRScr, encoding siRNA whose sequence is not found in the mouse, human, or rat genome databases.

### pre-miR3607:

5'GATCCGACTGATTTCCTTCATGTCAAGCTTCAAGAGAGCATGTGATGAAG CAAATCAGTTTTTT3'

The ligation products were transformed into competent *Escherichia coli*, plated on LB/Amp (Luria Broth/Ampicilin), amplified and sequenced to confirm the presence of the insert. Plasmid DNA was purified with an NucleoBond Xtra Midi kit (Cultech, 22740410.50), and resuspended in nuclease free water (SIGMA).

Other plasmids used were pCMV-GFP encoding GFP under CMV promoter, pCMV-Neo-Bam APC (Plasmid #16507, Addgene) encoding APC (Morin et al.,1997), pCAG-delta90GFP (Plasmid #26645, Addgene) encoding stabilized beta catenin (Wrobel et al.,2007).

The plasmid constructs used for loss of function experiments (TUDSCR control and TUD3607 to repress miR3607) were designed as per *Haraguchi et al.,2009* 

and cloned into pSilencer2.1-U6 puro (Ambion) following the same protocol mentioned above.

# TUDSCR

5'GATCCGACGGCGCTAGGATCATCaacTGGGCGTATAGACatctGTGTTCGT TCcaaGTATTCTGGTCACAGAATACaacTGGGCGTATAGACatctGTGTTCGTT CcaaGATGATCCTAGCGCCGTCTTTTTTGGAAA3'

# TUD3607

5´ GATCCGACGGCGCTAGGATCATCaac ACTGATTTGCTTatctCATCACATG CcaaGTATTCTGGTCACAGAATACaacACTGATTTGCTTatctCATCACATGCca aGATGATCCTAGCGCCGTCTTTTTTGGAAA 3´

# Validation of plasmid constructs using miRNA qRT-PCR

Human embryonic kidney293T (HEK293) cells were transfected with 2µg of psilpre-miRScr or psil-pre-miR3607/ TUDSCR or TUD3607 with 2µg of pCAG-GFP using lipofectamine, harvested after 2 days, isolated RNA using *mir*Vana<sup>™</sup> miRNA isolation kit (Cat #AM1560, Thermo Fischer Scientific), and carried out qRT-PCR to measure the expression of miR3607 using Taqman microRNA Assays (Thermo Fischer Scientific). Primers and probes for miR3607 (Assay #463448\_mat ) and U6 snoRNA control (Assay #001973) were ordered from Thermo Fischer Scientific (Cat #4427975).

# in utero electroporation of mouse

The *in utero* electroporations were performed with ICR wildtype pregnant mice at the embryonic stages E12.5 and E14.5 in the neocortex. Surgical instruments were cleaned and sterilized. Pregnant mother was given intraperitoneal injections of 100 $\mu$ l of Buprenorphine (diluted to 1:10) and Ritrodine, deeply anesthetized, abdominal cavity was opened and the uterine horn exposed. Embryos were frequently bathed in pre-warmed 0.9% saline solution. DNA solution mixed with fastgreen (~ 2  $\mu$ l) was injected using pulled glass micropipettes into the

telecephalic lateral ventricle of the embryos through the uterine wall, and square electric pulses (35V for E12.5, 45V for E14.5, 50ms on, – 950ms off, 5 pulses) were applied with an electric stimulator (Cuy21EDIT Bex C., LTD) using round electrodes (CUY650P5, Nepa Gene). Plasmid concentrations used for gain of function experiments: GFP( $0.7\mu q/\mu l$ ) combined with miRscr( $1\mu q/\mu l$ ) or  $miR3607(1\mu q/\mu l);$ for experiments:  $miRscr(0.75\mu q/\mu l)$ rescue or miR3607(0.75µg/µl) combined with APC(0.75µg/µl) and GFP(0.5µg/µl) or GFP(1.25µg/µl) alone. The embryos were then returned into abdominal cavity, sutured and the operated mice left to recover in clean warm cages until they regained their consciousness and maintained under standard conditions until the day of sacrifice.

### in utero electroporation of ferret embryos

Ferret *in utero* electroporations were performed at the embryonic stage E35 in the neocortex. Pregnant females were deeply anesthetized with 2% isoflurane, abdominal cavity was opened and the uterine horn exposed. DNA solution mixed with fastgreen (~ 2 µl) was injected using pulled glass micropipettes into the telecephalic lateral ventricle of the embryos through the uterine wall, and square electric pulses (75V, 50ms on, – 950ms off, 5 pulses) were applied with an electric stimulator (Cuy21EDIT Bex C., LTD) using round electrodes (CUY650P7, Nepa Gene). Plasmid concentrations used: APC(1ug/ul)+GFP(0.75ug/ul); control GFP(1ug/ul); TUDScr(1ug/ul)+GFP(0.75ug/ul); TUDmiR3607(1ug/ul)+GFP 0.75(ug/ul). The embryos were then returned into abdominal cavity, sutured and the operated ferret left to recover in clean warm cages until they regained their consciousness and maintained under standard conditions until the day of sacrifice (2 days later).

### Bromodeoxyuridine labeling experiments

Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU, SIGMA) was diluted to 10mg/ml in 0.9% NaCl and administered at 50mg/Kg body weight. To identify progenitor cells in S-phase, a single dose of BrdU was injected at E13.5 and E15.5, embryos were fixed 30 min later. To calculate cell cycle re-entry, a single dose of BrdU was administrated 24 hr before fixation and the percentage of GFP/BrdU+/Ki67+ cells was calculated.

### **Tissue processing**

Embryonic heads were dissected out in petri dishes filled with ice cold PBS and fixed immediately with 4% Paraformaldehyde (PFA) in Phosphate Buffer (PB) Ph 7.3 at 4°C for 45 minutes to 3 hours depending on the embryonic stages. Postnatal pups were perfused transcardially and heads post fixed overnight at 4°C. After fixation, brains were extracted out of the heads, washed with PBS, transferred to 30% sucrose and left overnight or until the brain sunk. For ISH, dissection was carried out under RNAse free conditions and brains left in 30% sucrose in 2% PFA. Brains were then embedded in an embedding chamber using cryo-medium NEG-50 and frozen under isopentane and liquid nitrogen. Cryostat was used for sectioning the brains into coronal sections of 20µm or 30µm.

### Immunohistochemistry

The frozen brain sections were defrosted at room temperature, washed with PBS, permeabilized in PBS containing 0.25% Triton-X 100, blocked in 10% of Horse Serum and 2% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) for 2 hours, incubated with primary antibodies overnight in blocking solution, followed by appropriate fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibodies and counterstained with DAPI. Sections were then dehydrated by passing through ethanol in increasing concentrations and Xylol series and mounted the slides using cryomount solution. In case of costaining with primary antibodies from the same host, sections were serially stained for two antibodies using conjugated Fab fragment secondary antibody for

the first antibody staining in order to block the available sites and prevent cross reaction. In case of BrdU staining, sections were pretreated with 4N HCL for 20 minutes at 37°C, to disrupt the highly condensed chromatin structure. Primary antibodies used were: BrdU (1:500, Abcam ab6326), GFP (1:1000, Aves Lab GFP-1020), Ki67 (1:500, Abcam ab15580), phosphohistone H3 (1:1000, Upstate 06-570), Tbr1 (1:500, Abcam ab31940), Tbr2 (1:500, Millipore ab31940), Par3 (1:500, Millipore MABF28), Pax6 (1:500, Millipore AB2237), CUX1 (1:500, Santa Cruz), act-beta-catenin (1:500, Merk 05-665), PhVim (1:1000, Abcam),. Secondary antibodies used were from Vector Lab: biotinylated anti-Rat IgG (1:200, BA-9400), biotinylated anti-Rabbit IgG (1:200, BA-1000); from Jackson Inmunoresearch: Cy3 Fab fragment anti-Rabbit IgG (1:200, 711-167-003), Alexa488 anti-chicken IgY (1:200, 703-545-155), Cy5 Streptavidin (1:200, 016-170-084); from Invitrogen: Alexa555 anti-rabbit IgG (1:200, A-31572).

# miRNA in situ hybridization

miRNA in situ hybridization (ISH) was performed as described in a book chapter by De pietri Tonelli et al., 2014. Cryostat sections or cryotome sections mounted on slides or deparafinized sections (parafinized sections rehydrated and deparafinized by passing through Xylol and alcohol series) were washed briefly with PBS, permeabilized with RIPA buffer (150Mm Nacl, TritonX-100 1%, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 1 mM EDTA, 50Mm Tris), pre hybridized at 54°C for 1 hr with hybridization solution (50% Formamide (Ambion); 5x SSC (Sigma); 5x Denhardt's (from a 50x stock; Sigma); 250µg/ml of Yeast RNA; 500µg/MI salmon sperm DNA and hybridized overnight at 54°C (30°C below RNA Rm) with miRCURY<sup>™</sup> LNA<sup>™</sup> microRNA ISH Detection Probe (5'-3'-ACTGATTTGCTTCATCACATGC/3Dig\_N/, product #612280-350 Exigon) in hybridization solution. Washed slides 2x1 hour with pre-warmed post hybridization solution (50% Formamide; 2x SSC and 0.1% Tween), washed briefly with MABT buffer (1x maleic acid-Nacl pH 7.5, 0.1% Tween) and blocked with blocking solution (10% Bovine serum in MABT buffer) for 1 hr at room temperature and incubated with alkaline phosphatase coupled anti-digoxigenin Fab fragments (1:2000, Roche) in blocking solution overnight at 4°C. After brief

washes with MABT and NTMT(100Mm Tris pH 9.5, 50Mm MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 100Mm NaCl, 0.1% Tween) the sections were incubated in nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT)/ 5bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate (BCIP) solution [3.4 µg/ml from NBT stock and 3.5 µl/ml from BCIP stock in NTMT buffer (100 mg/ml NBT stock in 70% dimethylformamide; 50mg/ml BCIP stock in 100% dimethylformamide; Roche)]. Sections were then dehydrated by passing through ethanol and xylol series and mounted using cryomount solution.

### hiPSC culture

Human iPSCs were cultured at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and ambient oxygen level on Geltrex coated plates in mTeSR1 medium (STEMCELL Technologies, 05850) with daily medium change. For passaging, iPSC colonies were incubated with StemPro Accutase Cell Dissociation Reagent diluted 1:4 in PBS for 4 minutes. Pieces of colonies were washed off with DMEM/F12, centrifuged for 5min at 300 xg and resuspended in mTeSR1 supplemented with 10µM Rock inhibitor Y-27632(2HCl) for the first day.

# Generation of human cerebral organoids

Cerebral organoids were generated as previously described (Lancaster and Knoblich., 2014). Briefly, mycomplasma-free iPSCs were dissociated into single cells using StemPro Accutase Cell Dissociation Reagent (A1110501, Life Technologies) and plated at the concentration of 9000 single iPSCs/well into low attachment 96-well tissue culture plates in hES medium (DMEM/F12GlutaMAX supplemented with 20% Knockout Serum Replacement, 3% ES grade FBS, 1% Non-essential amino acids, 0.1mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 4ng/ml bFGF and 50µM Rock inhibitor Y27632) for 6 days in order to form embryoid bodies (EBs). Rock inhibitor Y27632 and bFGF were removed on the 4th day. On day 6, EBs were attachment 24-well NIM transferred into low plates in medium (DMEM/F12GlutaMAX supplemented with 1:100 N2 supplement, 1% Nonessential amino acids and 5µg/ml Heparin) and cultured for additional 6 days. On

MATERIALS AND METHODS

day 12, EBs were embedded in Matrigel drops and then they were transferred to 10cm tissue culture plates in NDM minus A medium (DMEM/F12GlutaMAX and Neurobasal in ratio 1:1 supplemented with 1:100 N2 supplement 1:100 B27 without Vitamin A, 0.5% Non-essential amino acids, insulin 2.5µg/ml, 1:100 Antibiotic-Antimycotic and 50µM 2-mercaptoethanol) in order to form organoids. 4 days after Matrigel embedding, cerebral organoids were transfered into an orbital shaker and cultured until electroporation in NDM plus A medium (DMEM/F12GlutaMAX and Neurobasal in ratio 1:1 supplemented with 1:100 N2 supplement 1:100 B27 with Vitamin A, 0.5% Non-essential amino acids, insulin 2.5µg/ml, 1:100 Antibiotic-Antimycotic and 50µM 2-mercaptoethanol). During the whole period of cerebral organoid generation, cells were kept at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and ambient oxygen level with medium changes every other day. After transferring the cerebral organoids onto the shaker, medium was changed twice per week.

# Electroporation of human cerebral organoids

organoids were kept in antibiotics-free conditions Cerebral prior to electroporation. Electroporations were performed in cerebral organoids at stage 37 days after the initial plating of the cells and fixed 7 days post electroporation. During the electroporation, cerebral organoids were placed in an electroporation chamber (Harvard Apparatus, Holliston, MA, USA) under a stereoscope and using a glass microcapillary, 1-2µl of plasmid DNAs was injected together with Fast Green (0.1%, Sigma) into different ventricles of the organoids. Plasmid DNA concentrations were: GFP (0.7µg/µl), MIRSCR (1µg/µl), MIR3607 (1µg/µl). Cerebral organoids were subsequently electroporated with 5 pulses applied at 80V for 50ms each at intervals of 500ms (ECM830, Harvard Apparatus). Following electroporation, cerebral organoids were kept for additional 24hr in antibiotics-free media, and then changed into the normal media until fixation. Cerebral organoids were fixed using 4% PFA for 1hr at 4°C, cryopreserved with 30% sucrose and stored at -20°C. For immunofluorescence staining, 16µm cryosections were prepared.

### Western blotting

For western blot assays, Ferret Mpf cells (ATCC® CRL-1656<sup>™</sup>, passage 7) were transfected using Lipofectamine 2000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) with MIR3607 expressing plasmid/ MIRSCR control plasmid and TUDSCR/TUD3607 plasmids. After 48 hours, cells were harvested, washed with cold PBS and lysate was prepared with pH 7.4 sterile cold lysis buffer (20mM HEPES, 150mM KCl, 1mM EGTA, 1mM EDTA, 0,1mM DTT, 40mM NaF, 1mM Na3VO4, 1% Triton-X and protease inhibitor). The amount of protein in each sample was then quantified as follows. The soluble fraction was collected from the lysate after centrifugation at 15000rpm for 15 minutes. The protein concentration was measured using Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific; Ref: #23227). Samples were heat treated at 95°C for 5 minutes in Laemi Sample Buffer 1x (LSB). 25µg of total protein per well and per sample condition was run on a 8% SDS-PAGE gel for 2 hours at 120mV in Running Buffer 1x (Tris-Glicine 1X, SDS 0,1%). The wet transfer to a 0.45µm nitrocellulose membrane (GE Healthcare Life Science, Ref: 10600002) was carried out overnight at 4°C, 30mV in cold transfer buffer (Tris-Glicine 1x, Methanol 1%, SDS 0,01%). After washing and fixing with Ponceau S, the membrane was blocked in 5% milk TBS-T buffer in shaker for one hour at room temperature. Antibodies were diluted on blocking solution at a concentration of 1:1000 anti-APC rabbit IgG (Cell Signaling, Ref: 2504S), 1:1000 anti-cMyc mouse IgG (Santa Cruz, Ref: sc40), 1:5000 Goat Peroxidase antirabbit IgG (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Ref: 31462) and 1:2000 Goat Peroxidase anti-mouse IgG (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Ref: 31444). Primary antibody incubation was carried out overnight at 4°C in a shaker and incubated with secondary antibody for 2 hours at room temperature. To detect the labeling, Chemiluminescent HRP substrate (Millipore, Ref: WBKLS0100) was applied and the membrane exposed in a AI680 Bioimager. The quantification was normalized to the tubulin amount using anti-Tub mouse primary antibody 1:1000 (Sigma, Ref: T5168) and 1:2000 Goat Peroxidase anti-mouse IgG (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Ref: 31444). Mean intensity was measured by ImageJ Fiji and statistically analyzed by unpaired student t-test.

### FACS sorting of electroporated brains

miRscr and miR3607 electroporated regions of the mouse cerebral cortex in the same medio-lateral and rostral-caudal level was dissected out using fluorescence dissection macroscope under ice cold conditions in HBSS medium (Thermo Fischer Scientific). Tissue was then dissociated with 40µl Trypsin, 10µl DNase in 1ml of HBSS + 10%FBS+ 1%P/S medium at 37°C incubator for 8 minutes. 2 ml of medium was then added and tissue was further dissociated using the micropipette, centrifuged, resuspended in 500µl of the medium, filtered and took to the flow cytometry to isolate the cells with GFP. Cells with high intensity of GFP were then FACS sorted (FACS Aria II, BD) into 300µl of neurobasal medium (+10%FBS+1%P/S, and RNA was extracted using Arcturus PicoPure<sup>TM</sup> RNA isolation kit (Thermo Fischer Scientific, Cat # KIT0202) according to the manufacturer's protocol. RNA integrity was then analysed using Bioanalyzer (Agilent 2100) and RIN values more than 9.5 were chosen for RNA sequencing. Cells from two embryos pooled together in each sample and three independent samples for each condition was used for sequencing.

enternatives mighter mermanies

### RNA sequencing and differential expression analysis

Libraries were prepared with the SMART-seq v4 Library Prep Kit (ultra low input category that uses 10pg - 10ng of RNA) and sequenced on Illumina HISeq 2500 using 50bp single reads to detect changes in gene expressed. Sequencing reads were aligned using HISAT2 v2.1.0 (*Kim et al.,2015*) to GRCm.38/mm10 mouse genome. Integrative Genomics Viewer (*Robinson et al.,2011*) was used to visualize aligned reads and normalized coverage tracks (RPM). Reads overlapping annotated genes (Ensemble GRCm38.93) were counted using HTSeq v0.11.1 (*Anders et al.,2015*). Differentially expressed genes (DEGs) were detected using DESeq2 v1.18.1 package (*Love et al.,2014*) in R (*Ihaka and Gentleman.,1996*). Genes with Adj. p < 0.01 were considered significantly differentially expressed. For some comparisons, mRNA abundance of RNA-seq data was obtained using transcript per million normalization (TPM) (*Wagner et al.,2012*). RNA-seq data reported in this study are accessible through the Gene
Expression Omnibus (GEO) database with the GEO Series accession number GSE135321.

#### Gene set enrichment and pathway analyses

Identification of enriched biological functions and processes in DEGs was performed using clusterProfiler (Yu et al., 2012) package in R. Overrepresentation test (Boyle et al., 2004) was performed using enrichGO function of clusterProfiler R package with the following parameters: gene=DEGs; OrgDb=org.Mm.eg.db; ont=BP; pAdjustMethod=BH; pvalueCutoff=0.05; gvalueCutoff=0.1). Functional Annotation Analysis of DEGs was performed using DAVID v6.8 (Huang da et al., 2009) with the following annotations: 3 Functional Categories (COG\_ONTOLOGY, UP\_KEYWORDS, UP SEQ FEATURE); 3 Gene Ontologies (GOTERM BP DIRECT, GOTERM\_CC\_DIRECT, GOTERM\_MF\_DIRECT); 2 Pathways (BIOCARTA, KEGG\_PATHWAY); 3 Protein Domains (INTERPRO, PIR\_SUPERFAMILY, SMART). Visualization of interrelations of terms and functional groups in biological netwoks was performed using ClueGO v2.5.0 (Bindea et al., 2009) plug-in of Cytoscape v3.6.0 (Shannon et al., 2003) with the following parameters: gene list=DEGs; ontologies= GO MolecularFunction-EBI-QuickGO-GOA\_22.03.2018\_00h00, GO\_BiologicalProcess-EBI-QuickGO-GOA 22.03.2018 00h00, WikiPathways 10.01.2019, KEGG 10.01.2019, REACTOME\_Reactions\_10.01.2019, REACTOME\_Pathways\_10.01.2019; Statistical Test Used = Enrichment/Depletion (Two-sided hypergeometric test); Correction Method Used = Bonferroni step down; Min GO Level = 3; Max GO Level = 8; Number of Genes = 3; Min Percentage = 4.0; Combine Clusters With 'Or' = true; Percentage for a Cluster to be Significant = 60.0; GO Fusion = true; GO Group = true; Kappa Score Threshold = 0.4; Over View Term = Smallest PValue; Group By Kappa Statistics = true; Initial Group Size = 1; Sharing Group Percentage = 50.0. Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) (Subramanian et al.,2005) was performed using GSEAPreranked tool and GSEA function on clusterProfiler package in R, on 21822 unique features (genes) that were preranked on the log2 of the fold-change from DESeg2 analysis. The following

parameters were used for GSEA: exponent = 0 (scoring\_scheme=classic), nPerm=1000, minGSSize=15, maxGSSize=500. GSEA was performed using MSigDB gene sets Hallmark (h.all.v6.2.symbols.gmt) and GO (c5.all.v6.2.symbols.gmt).

#### miR3607 target prediction

miRNA targets were predicted using available online tools TargetScanHuman 7.2 (Agarwal et al.,2015), miRDB (Wong and Wang.,2015), TargetScanMouse Custom (Version 4 and 5.2) and miRDB custom prediction for identification of mouse target genes. Predicted targets were then compared to the list of downregulated genes to identify the possible direct gene directs.

#### Image analysis, quantification and statistics

Images were acquired using a florescence microscope (Zeiss Axio Imager Z2) with Apotome.2 and coupled to two different digital cameras (AxioCam MRm and AxioCam ICc) or an inverted confocal microscope (Olympus FluoView FV1000). All images were analysed with ImageJ (Fiji). Co-localization studies were performed on single plane confocal images from 40X Z stacks. Cell distribution analyses were performed using Neurolucida and Neuroexplorer software (MBF Bioscience). All quantifications were performed at the same rostral-caudal and latero-medial levels on at least three different embryos from at least two independent litters. ISH images were acquired using Zeiss Axio Imager Z2. Brightness and contrast of the images shown in figures were homogeneously adjusted for clarity using Adobe Photoshop. Statistical analyses were carried out in Microsoft Excel or GraphPad Software using ANOVA with post-hoc Bonferroni correction (equal variances) or the Welch test with post-hoc Games-Howell (different variances), Kolmogorov-Smirnov test,  $\chi^2$ -test or independent samples t-test, where appropriate and upon normality testing. Significance was set at p=0.05. In the analyses of Pax6 and Tbr2 co-expression, the influence of each protein's increased abundance over their increased co-expression in MIR3607expressing embryos was tested by mathematical correction. This was performed by dividing the Pax6 intensity value of each cell by the average increase in Pax6 intensity between *MIR3607* and *Scr* embryos. The same method was used for Tbr2.







### Gain of function studies (Human cerebral organoids)

Validation of APC as miR607 target in Ferret Mpf cells

MOTIVATION AND BACKGROUND



## MOTIVATION AND BACKGROUND

Previous transcriptomic analyses carried out in our lab identified several miRNAs expressed in all germinal layers of the ferret cerebral cortex at mid-to-late stages of cortical development, suggesting their importance in regulating the expression of several important developmental genes, their predicted targets. Among those miRNAs, pre-*MIR3607* was found to be expressed in all germinal layers of the ferret cerebral cortex, both during the embryonic critical period for formation of the OSVZ by massive production of bRGCs (**Fig. 1A**) (*Martinez-Martinez et al.,2016*), and at late postnatal stages preceding the expansion and folding of the cerebral cortex (**Fig. 1B**) (*de Juan Romero et al.,2015*). Previous reports confirm the expression of *MIR3607* in different human tissues, including the brain (*Saini et la.,2014, Lin et al.,2017; Moreau et al.,2013*). However, the expression of this miRNA in mouse had not been reported. All these evidences suggested the possibility that this miRNA might regulate the development and expansion of the cerebral cortex in higher mammals.



**Figure 1. Differential expression of genes that are important for gyrification of ferret cerebral cortex. (A)** Decrease in expression of *Cdh1* and Increase in expression of *Trnp1* in VZ determining the critical period in ferret cerebral cortex (E34-E38), when bRGCs of OSVZ are produced at the expense of aRGCs **(B)** Differential expression of genes important for gyrification in the germinal zones of ferret cerebral cortex between prospective lateral sulcus and spenial gyrus. (Modified from (Martinez-Martinez et al.,2016; de Juan Romero and Borrell.,2017; de Juan Romero et al.,2015; Llinares-Benadero and Borrell.,2019)

When we analyzed the sequence conservation of human *MIR3607-5p*, as shown in Figure 2, we found it ranges between 100% in hominids and 92% in mouse.

		Order Primates	100000000	2000
-	-	Family Hominidae	минаюнчар	loob
	100%	Pan paniscus (Pygriy chimpanzee)	OTOCATOTOATGAAGCAAATCAGTA	TGAATGAATTCATGAT
	100%	Pongo aberii (Sumatran orangutan)	OTOCATOTOATOAAOCAAATCAOTA	TOAATOAATTCATOAT
	1965	Partily Concollected		
	2075	Therapitheous pelade (pelade)	GTGCATGTGATGAAGCAAATCAGTA	TGAATGAAGTCATGAT
	99%	Macaca nemestriva (Pig taled macaque)	GTOCATOTOATGAAGCAAATCAGTA	TGAATGAAGTCATGAT
	98%	Pilliconinhuis technoscelles (Lisandae red coloitus)	GTOCATOTOATRAADCAAATCAOTA	TGAATGAAGTCATGAT
- 1	0.00	Family Galaxidae		Terrare and the first terrar
1	25%	Otolemur parvettii (anvall-eared galago)	GTOCATATGATGAAGCAAATCAGTA	TGAATAAAGTCATGAT
		Order Bodert a		
	97%	Utocitetius panyii (Antiic ground squinet) (Sciuridae)	GTBCATATGATGAAGCAAATCAGTA	TGAATGAAGTCATGAT
	97%	Marmota flaviventris (yellow belied marmot) (35/airldae)	OTOCATATOAT BAADCAAATCABTA	TGAATGAAGICATGAT
	97%	Cevia porcellus (Domestic guinee pig) (Cevidae)	GTOCATOTGATGAAGCAAATCAGTA	TGAATAAAATCATGAT
	95%	Nannospalax galili (Upper galilee mountaine blind mois rat) (Spalatistae)	GTACATGTGATGAAGCAAATCAGTA	TGAATAAACTCATGAT
	95%	Octodon degus (deguEktodontidae)	GTOCATATOATGAAGCAAATCAGTA	TGAATAAA- TCATGAT
1	199%	Microfus ophropaster (Prairie vote) (Family, Cruetidae)	CATOTOATOAAOCAAATCAGTA	TGAAA AAGTCATGAT
	92%	Mus missoulus (House mouse) (Family Mundae)	GTACATOTGATGAAOGAAATCAGTA	TOAATAAA ATGAT
100	1	Partic Current		
		Consta Cambridge		
	901	Europeration in the set of the first set of the set of	OTOCATE TO AT CAROCAAAT CAOTA	TOAATEAABTCATOAT
	1000	Zolastina onlinenina a Chattanninan hool	OTOCATA TO A TO A BOCKA A TOA OTA	TOLATASAGTCATOAT
		Exercise Control of Co	CIOCKINICATORACCARCTERCIA	I GAN I MAAGINGAT GAT GAT
4	-	Farray Carrose	CONTRACTOR DE LA CONTRACT	TO AA TH AA STOATCATOAT
	8078	Vulper vulper (red tax)	GTOCATAT GATGAAGCAAATCAGTA	TOAL TALLATON TOAT
	30.00	Lares sigue ongo (ongo) Esculu Estatos	G BEATALBALBARBEAABLEABLEA	ISAA TAAAGI CATUAT
	- 1000	For the submitted of the second second	OTHER TRADET OF THE ADDRESS ATENDED.	TOTA TRAANTCATOAT
	2070	Animatica biodes (Phonesis)	OT BOAT AT BAT BAT BAT BEAT AT BAT	TOTATE LAST CATONT
	2000	Honory Judata (Craedar)	GTOCHTATORTORAGCARATEROTA	TOTAL PARTICIPATION
	3074	Parts concess (Parts)	GIRCATE FURTHER AUCHARICAUTA	I GAN I MANULAI GAT
	07%	Hartey wutersale Mustela outovius (Ferrer)	GTREATOTOATRAARCAAATCARTA	TGANTAAAGTCATOAT
11	1 1.30.01	Contraction of the second s		the second in the second second
10	- 22-	Order Arkodactyla		
	80%	Sue scrote (Wid tice) (Crow Artiodectyte Suider)	GTOCATGTGATGAAGCAAATCAGTA	TGAATAAABTOGTGAT
-	90%	Balaenoptera acutorostrata scammoni (Minke whate) (Balaenopteridae)	GTGCATGTGATGAAGAAAATCAGTA	TGAATAAAGTCATGAT
	.9476	Lagenortynctus obliquidens (Paotic whit side# dolptin) (Delphinidee)	GTBCATATGATGAAGAAAAATCAGTA	TOAATAAAOTCATOAT
	9416	Physeter calodon (Sperm whate) (Physeteridae)	GTOCATATOATOAAGAAAATCAGTA	TGAATAAAOTCATOAT
1 14	+	Order Pensadadyla		
	85%	Equus catianus (Horse) ( Equidae)	GTOCATOTOATGAAGCAAATCAGTA	TGACTAAGTCATGAT
1.1	4	Order Chiroptana		
1.000	97%	Eptesias fuscus (big brown batterpertilionidae	GTGCATATGATGAAGCAAATCAGTA	TGAATGAAGTCATSAT
	2554	Myotix lucifugux (little brown bat/Mease tillionidae)	GTGCATATGATGAAGCAAATCAGTA	TGAATGAAGTCATGAT
	99%	Pteropus varipyrus (targe fiying fox) (Pteropodidae)	GTBCATATGATGAAGCAAATCAGTA	TGAGTGAAGTCATGAT
	6 · · · · ·	Order Probandea		
	29%	Loeodonia Africana (African savanna elephant) (Elephantidae)	GTOCACATOATGAAGCAAATCAGTA	TOAATGAAGTCATOAT
4				
		Uter avana		
	9(%)	Trichechus menatus lasicostria (Florida menataș (Trichechidae)	O TOCATATOATOAAOCAAATCAOTA	TGAATGAAGTCATGAT

**Figure 2. Comparison of** *MIR3607* **sequence across mammalian phylogeny.** Comparison of nucleotide sequence of the *MIR3607* locus in individual species across representative orders and families of the mammalian lineage. The mature sequences for *MIR3607*-5p are highlighted in green, with the part of stem loop sequence. The seed sequence for *MIR3607*-5p is highlighted in yellow. Nucleotide changes with respect to the human sequence are highlighted in purple. Numbers indicate percent of sequence conservation compared to human. Dendrogram on left indicates phylogenetic relationships among orders.

Nucleotide changes mostly occur in the 9<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> base of the loop sequence (in 29 and 19 species, respectively, out of 29 species with mismatches), and secondarily in the 4<sup>th</sup> base of the seed sequence (in 18 out of 29 species; always G to A changes). Outside primates, the mature *MIR3607*-5p sequence is 100% conserved in only 4 of the 25 species compared, which belong to three far-related orders: guinea pig (Rodentia), ferret (Carnivora), wild boar and horse (Artiodactyla). In mouse, the seed sequence is fully conserved, but the first base of the mature *MIR3607*-5p is changed (G to A), and four nucleotides are changed or missing in the loop sequence, as shown in the figure (**Fig. 2**). In addition to the exact similarity of the seed sequence (nt 2-8) of mature *MIR3607* in human, ferret and mouse, which is an important factor for binding to the target genes, *in silico* analyses revealed several predicted gene targets in common between human and mouse. All these were suggestive of a preserved functionality for this miRNA in the mouse brain and its targets, which prompted us to use mouse as a model organism to study the function of *MIR3607* in cerebral cortex development.



### PART 1 - *MIR3607* AFFECTS NEUROGENESIS, NEURONAL MIGRATION AND MATURATION OF CORTICAL NEURONS

1.1. Mature *MIR3607* is expressed in the embryonic gyrencephalic cerebral cortex of human and ferret but not in the lissencephalic mouse

The above observations and evidences suggested the possibility that *MIR3607* might be relevant for the expansion and folding of the mammalian cerebral cortex. We began analyzing the expression level and pattern of the mature *MIR3607*-5p (*MIR3607* from hereon) in the developing brain of human, ferret and mouse using *in situ* hybridization (ISH), as the expression of pre-miRNA does not always parallel the expression of mature miRNA.

ISH stains of the embryonic human cortex at 16 gestational weeks (GW; at the peak of cortical neurogenesis) revealed the highest expression levels of *MIR3607* in the VZ and ISVZ, and in the cortical plate (**Fig. 3A**). Expression was also detected in the OSVZ, but at lower levels compared to the other germinal zones (**Fig. 3A**').



Figure 3. Mature MIR3607 is expressed in cortical germinal layers of human and ferret but not mouse embryos. (A,A') Coronal section of the human brain at 16 gestational weeks showing the expression pattern of *MIR*3607. Area boxed in (A) is shown in (A'). *MIR3607* expression is high in the three germinal zones: ventricular (VZ), inner and outer subventricular zones (ISVZ and OSVZ, respectively). (B-C') Sagittal sections of the developing ferret cerebral cortex at the indicated ages showing the expression pattern of MIR3607. Areas boxed in (B,C) are shown in (B',C'). At E35, MIR3607 is expressed at high levels in ventricular zone (VZ) and low levels in subventricular zone (SVZ). At P2, expression is undetectable in VZ and ISVZ, but high in OSVZ. Expression is high in cortical plate (CP) in both human and ferret. (D,F) Patterns of GFP and *MIR3607* expression in the cerebral cortex of an E15.5 mouse embryo in a control hemisphere (D), and in the contralateral hemisphere electroporated at E14.5 with Gfp plus MIR3607-encoding plasmids (F). Note the absence of endogenous expression in (D), and the high expression levels in VZ and SVZ in (F). (E) qPCR results of MIR3607 expression levels (arbitrary units) in HEK293 cells transfected with psil-Scr and psil-MIR3607. Histograms indicate mean ± SEM; circles in plots indicate values for individual replicas. t-test, \*\*\*p=9.76x10<sup>-7</sup>. Scale bars: 500µm (A), 200µm (B,C), 100µm (D,F).

When we analyzed *MIR3607* expression in the developing ferret cortex, at embryonic day (E) 35, expression was high in VZ, low in SVZ and undetectable in IZ (**Fig. 3B,B**'). At this stage in ferret, there is no distinction between ISVZ and OSVZ, so this pattern was reminiscent of the difference between VZ and OSVZ in human embryos at 16GW. However, when we analyzed the expression pattern at postnatal day (P) 2, when ISVZ and OSVZ are clearly distinct in ferret, expression was reduced to background levels in VZ and ISVZ, while being high in OSVZ, and intermediate in IZ (**Fig. 3C,C'**). In addition, and similar to human, *MIR3607* expression was high at both developmental stages in CP, where cortical neurons finish radial migration and begin differentiating their dendritic and axonal arbors. It was evident from the expression pattern of *MIR3607* in germinal zones of both ferret and human during early development stages, that *MIR3607* may play important roles in neurogenesis. In addition, *MIR3607* expression in cortical neurons added the possibility that *MIR3607* may have a role in migration, specification and/or maturation of cortical neurons.

66

In contrast to human and ferret, our ISH stains revealed a complete absence of *MIR3607* expression in the embryonic mouse cortex. We were only able to detect the expression of *MIR3607* in the embryonic mouse cerebral cortex following overexpression of our artificial DNA vector construct encoding *MIR3607* (**Fig. 3D**, **D**'). Confirmation that *MIR3607* is not expressed in the developing mouse cortex prompted us to take advantage of this circumstance in order to investigate the role of this miRNA in cerebral cortex development, and its potential relevance in the limited growth of the mouse cerebral cortex as compared to ferret and human. Therefore, we reasoned that expression of *MIR3607* in the developing cortex of mouse embryos may shed light on its functional role in cortical development and the identification of potential gene targets important for these roles. For this purpose, We designed a DNA vector for expression of *MIR3607* and confirmed its expression in the cerebral cortex of electroporated mouse embryos by ISH, and in a human cell line by RT-qPCR, (**Fig. 3E,F**).

# 1.2. Effects on neurogenesis upon *MIR3607* expression in mouse cerebral cortex

To begin with, we performed *in utero* electroporation of mouse embryos to target the apical progenitors of cerebral cortex at E14.5, in order to study the effects of overexpression of *MIR3607* in neurogenesis. We expressed the mature form of *MIR3607* alongside a GFP reporter plasmid and compared to the scrambledcontrol electroporated embryos. One day after electroporation (E15.5), the majority of GFP+ cells in control *Scrambled*-electroporated embryos populated the VZ, with only half as many found in SVZ and very few in IZ (**Fig. 4A,B**). This distribution of GFP+ cells was similar in embryos expressing *MIR3607*, except for a clear tendency to having fewer cells in IZ and SVZ, while more in VZ (**Fig. 4A,B**). One day later (E16.5), we observed that more than half of all GFP positive cells were in the IZ with the remaining cells being distributed between VZ (20.5%) and SVZ (27.5%) in *MIR3607*-expressing embryos, as compared to control embryos, where the GFP positive cells wear nearly distributed equally in all three layers (**Fig. 4C,D**). The increase in percentage distribution of cells in IZ in case of miR3607, suggested the relative abundance of recently born migrating neurons compared to control. Yet we reasoned if this increase in IZ cells is due to increased neurogenesis rather than faster multipolar-bipolar transition and migration of newborn neurons. Therefore, in order to confirm this, we performed cell-cycle exit analysis by BrdU and Ki67 labeling, which revealed a 29% increase in cell-cycle exit at E16.5 upon *MIR3607* expression at E14.5 compared to control (**Fig. 4E**), demonstrating more self-consuming, neurogenic divisions of progenitor cells at this stage.



Figure 4. Defects in neurogenesis and neuron migration upon expression of MIR3607 in mouse neocortex. (A-D) Sections through the parietal cortex of E15.5 (A) and E16.5 (C) mouse embryos electroporated at E14.5 with *Gfp* plus Scrambled- (Scr) or MIR3607-encoding plasmids, and guantifications of laminar distribution of GFP+ cells (B and D, respectively). Dotted lines indicate apical surface of the embryonic cortex. (E) Quantification of cell cycle exit rate at E16.5 for cells electroporated at E14.5 and receiving a single pulse of BrdU at E15.5. (F,G) Sections through the parietal cortex of E17.5 mouse embryos electroporated at E14.5 with the indicated plasmids (F), and quantifications of laminar distribution of GFP+ cells (G). Dotted lines indicate apical surface of the cortex, dashed lines indicate basal surface. (H,I) Detailed images of the marginal zone (MZ) and cortical plate (CP) of E18.5 mouse embryos electroporated at E14.5 with the indicated plasmids, showing high density of ectopic GFP+ cells within MZ in MIR3607 embryos (H, open circles), and their quantification (I). Circles in plots indicate values for individual embryos. Histograms indicate mean  $\pm$  SEM; *n* = 3-7 embryos per group; X<sup>2</sup> test (B,D,E,G), t-test (I); \**p*<0.05, \*\**p*<0.01, \*\*\**p*<0.001. Scale bars: 100µm (A,C,H), 200µm (F).

Next, when we analysed at E17.5, there were lower proportions of GFP+ cells in VZ, SVZ and IZ compared to control, but a two-fold increase of GFP+ cells in CP. This was in agreement with the increase in cell cycle exit caused by miR3607 at E16, which lead to the depletion of progenitors and concomitant increase in the production of neurons, and their subsequent arrival in the CP ahead of control-electroporated cells (**Fig. 4F,G**). These results seemed to indicate that the primary effect of *MIR3607* expression was to promote neurogenesis, which secondarily translated into the premature radial migration and settling of neurons in the CP. However, analyses four days post electroporation at E18.5, revealed that many GFP+ cells in *MIR3607* embryos migrated past their boundary at the CP-MZ border, invading ectopically the MZ (**Fig. 4H,I**), which indicated a defective termination of radial migration. This prompted us to study the effect of *MIR3607* expression and maturation of neurons.

69

# 1.3. Effects on neuronal migration and positioning upon *MIR3607* expression in mouse cerebral cortex

Once the neurons are formed, and undergo multipolar to bipolar transition, they migrate radially to the cortical plate and organize in an inside-out pattern, with the early born neurons occupying the lower layers and late born neurons settling superficially *(Molyneaux et al.,2007)*. Given the migration defect observed at E18.5, we investigated the effects of expression of *MIR3607* at P5, when cortical lamination is complete. When we analysed for cell fate and positioning of GFP+ neurons, *MIR3607* electroporated GFP+ neurons were found in the CP (prospective layer 2/3 at this stage) and expressed the layer 2/3 marker Cux1, exactly like in control embryos, consistent with them maintaining a normal laminar fate (**Fig. 5A-A**''). However, when we analysed the top of CP, whereas control-electroporated GFP+ neurons mostly were in the central positions within the CP (**Fig. 5B,C**).



**Figure 5.** *MIR3607* expression causes long-term defects in neuron positioning. Sections through the parietal cortex of P5 mouse pups electroporated at E14.5 with *Gfp* plus *Scrambled-* (*Scr*) or *MIR3607*-encoding plasmids and stained as indicated, and quantification of the binned distribution of GFP+ cells within the CP (B, C). (A'-A") are magnifications of the regions boxed in (A). (D) is a magnification of the white matter. All GFP+ cells in CP (normotopic) and white matter (ectopic) were positive for the upper layer marker Cux1 (red). Expression of *MIR3607* caused the overmigration and persistent presence of cortical neurons at the top of CP, and simultaneously the accumulation of ectopic neurons in the white matter (arrowheads in A and D), all of which maintained a correct upper layer fate. Circles in plots indicate values for individual embryos. Histogram indicates mean ± SEM; *n* = 5-6 embryos per group; *X*<sup>2</sup> test; \*\*\**p*<0.001. Scale bars: 300µm (A), 100µm (A',A",B,D).

Considering that expression of *MIR3607* induced premature neurogenesis, according to the inside-out gradient of cortex development this should have resulted in neurons accumulating in deep positions within the CP, not superficial. However, our result was consistent with the overmigration phenotype observed previously at E18.5, demonstrating that *MIR3607* expression causes the cells to migrate further than normal. In addition to defects in the CP, we also observed that many *MIR3607* neurons accumulated in the cortical white matter, forming subcortical ectopias (**Fig. 5A**). Marker analysis showed that the vast majority of these ectopic neurons expressed Cux1 (**Fig. 5D**), demonstrating retention of their normal fate for layer 2/3. Together, these observations confirmed that *MIR3607* expression altered radial migration of neurons in the developing mouse cerebral cortex.

## 1.4. Effects on neuronal maturation upon *MIR3607* expression in mouse cerebral cortex

Once the neurons finish their migration, they start their process of maturation by extending their axonal fibres to establish functional connectivity (*Ye et al.,2019*). Given the effects of *MIR3607* on neurogenesis and neuron migration, we next enquired whether the maturation of neurons was also affected. We

electroporated E14.5 embryos to target progenitor cells producing layer 2/3 neurons, and then analyzed their growing axons across the Corpus Callosum (CC) at P5. Both in control and in *MIR3607* expressing embryos, GFP+ axons crossed the telencephalic midline at the level of the CC, and extended along the white matter of the contralateral hemisphere (**Fig. 6A**). However, the density of GFP+ callosal axons extending along the white matter was lower in *MIR3607* embryos than in controls. Importantly, the deficit in callosal axons increased as these approached the midline, while after midline crossing it remained largely unchanged (**Fig. 6B,C**). In the contralateral cortex, we further observed the invasion of axons from the white matter toward the CP in control embryos, which was virtually absent in *MIR3607* embryos (**Fig. 6D**).



Figure 6. Expression of *MIR3607* in embryonic mouse cortex causes defects on callosal axon growth. (A) Coronal sections through the parietal cortex of P5 mouse pups electroporated at E14.5 with *Gfp* plus *Scrambled*- (*Scr*) or *MIR3607*encoding plasmids, stained as indicated to reveal GFP labelling of callosal axons. Boxes indicate areas shown in (D). (**B**,**C**) Quantification of GFP intensity along the ipsi-to-contralateral track of callosal axons, relative to intensity at the start site (B; mean  $\pm$  SEM), and difference between conditions (C). Dashed line indicates location of the midline. Blue is for trend lines before and after midline crossing. Data in (B) are mean  $\pm$  SEM; n = 9-10 pups per group. The greatest defect was in axon growth towards the midline, while the difference to control animals remained stable after midline crossing. (**D**) Labelling of callosal axons in the contralateral layer 6, as indicated in (A), showing their scarce presence in *MIR3607* expressing pups. Scale bars: 1mm (A), 100µm (D).



### Interim summary 1







#### PART 2 - MIR3607 AFFECTS THE AMPLIFICATION OF PROGENITORS

#### 2.1 MIR3607 drives amplification of Pax6+ progenitor cells

In the above analyses, we found that expression of *MIR3607* at E14.5 in mouse cortical progenitor cells increased cell cycle exit and premature neurogenesis by E16.5, with a significant loss of cells in VZ and SVZ, and gain of IZ cells. However, it was intriguing that one day earlier at E15.5, we found more cells in VZ and fewer in IZ and SVZ, suggesting that the immediate early effect might be the opposite: reduced neurogenesis and increased aRGC amplification. In order to study this further, we performed BrdU labeling analyses, which revealed a 36% increase in BrdU-incorporating cycling progenitor cells in E15.5 embryos expressing MIR3607 compared to control littermates (Fig. 7A,B), and cell cycle exit analyses revealed a 65% reduction in cell cycle exit between E14.5 and E15.5 (Fig. 7B). This confirmed that the earliest changes immediately upon MIR3607 expression are reduced neurogenesis and dramatic amplification of progenitor cells. We next performed marker analysis of the cells present in the electroporated embryos at E15.5. In the mouse cerebral cortex, most progenitors present in VZ are aRGCs that express the transcription factor Pax6, and those in SVZ are IPCs that express Tbr2 (Götz et al., 1998; Englund et al., 2005); Therefore, we first analyzed the expression of Pax6 in E15.5 embryos. In control embryos, a majority (76%) of GFP+ cells in VZ were positive for Pax6, as expected. Pax6 was also expressed by 42% of SVZ and 28% of IZ cells (Fig.7C,D). In embryos expressing MIR3607, the proportion of Pax6+ cells increased in all three layers, most dramatically in SVZ and IZ (1.7- and 2.6-fold, respectively) (Fig.7C,D). We next stained for Tbr2 and as expected, it was detected mostly in SVZ and IZ cells (74%), and to a lesser extent in VZ (44%), in case of control (Fig. 7E,F). Upon expression of MIR3607, Tbr2+ cell abundance also increased in VZ and SVZ, but much less than Pax6+ cells (Fig. 7E,F).



Figure 6. Amplification of Pax6+ progenitor cells immediately upon *MIR3607* expression. (A,B) Sections through the parietal cortex of E15.5 mouse embryos electroporated at E14.5 with *Gfp* plus *Scr*- or *MIR3607*-encoding plasmids stained as indicated, and quantifications of BrdU labelling index and cell cycle exit of GFP+ cells. Distribution and abundance of Pax6+ (C,D) and Tbr2+ cells (E,F) in the parietal cortex of electroporated embryos. GFP+ cells in *MIR3607*-expressing embryos had greater BrdU intake, lower cell-cycle exit, and displayed a dramatic increase in percentage of Pax6 expressing cells. Histograms indicate mean  $\pm$  SEM; n = 3-8 embryos per group. *X*<sup>2</sup> test; \*'*p*<0.02, \*\**p*<0.01, \*\*\**p*<0.001. Scale bars: 100µm

## 2.2 *MIR3607* increases co-expression of Pax6+Tbr2+ cells upon increased Pax6 expression

In the embryonic mouse cortex, Pax6 and Tbr2 mostly show mutually exclusive pattern of expression, with less proportion of cells co-expressing both the markers *(Englund et al.,2005; Arai et al.,2011).* Our marker analyses results showing high

proportion of cells expressing Pax6 without any reduction in Tbr2 expressing cells indicated the possibility of greater proportion of cells co-expressing both these markers upon MIR3607 expression. Therefore, in order to study this in detail, we performed Pax6+Tbr2 co-staining and measured the intensities of both these markers in each cell. We made scatter plots of Pax6/Tbr2 expression level (log 10 Fold Change) over their mean intensity (arbitrary units) in individual GFP+ cells and frequency distribution plots for each of these parameters. Analyses in individual cells demonstrated an average 60% increase in Pax6 levels upon MIR3607 expression, with only an 8% increase in Tbr2 levels (Fig. 8A,B,C). This selective change resulted in a significant increase in the abundance of cells coexpressing Pax6 and Tbr2 (Fig. 8D). Further, in silico analyses that corrected either for the average increase in mean intensity of Pax6, or of Tbr2, revealed that the increase in Pax6+Tbr2 co-expression upon MIR3607 expression was rescued by Pax6 correction and not Tbr2 correction (Fig. 8E,F). This demonstrated that the observed increase in Pax6 levels, but not Tbr2, was sufficient to explain the differences between control and MIR3607 expressing embryos in Pax6+Tbr2 co-expression, and therefore the co-expression of Pax6 and Tbr2 is largely attributed to the increased Pax6 expression.



Figure 8. *MIR3607* expression cause increased Pax6 expression and Pax6/Tbr2 co-expression. (A,B) Scatter plots of ratio Pax6/Tbr2 expression level (log10 Fold Change) over their mean intensity (arbitrary units) in individual GFP+ cells and frequency distribution plots for each of the two parameters, from *Scr*- and *miR*-expressing embryos. Dashed vertical lines delimit Pax6/Tbr2 co-expression (-0.1<log10FC<+0.1). N = 738 cells, 3 embryos for *Scr*, 790 cells, 5 embryos for *MIR3607*. (C) Average expression intensity of Pax6 and Tbr2 among individual cells, and proportion of cells co-expressing both factors (D), as defined in (B). (E) Scatter plots and frequency distribution plots as in (B), but where Pax6 or Tbr2 values of each *MIR3607* cell were corrected to the average *Scr* value as in (C). (F) Proportion of cells co-expressing Pax6 and Tbr2, as defined in (E), for the indicated conditions. The increased Pax6/Tbr2 co-expression in *MIR3607* cells was rescued *in silico* with Pax6 correction, and hence it was due to

increased Pax6 intensity. Open circles in plots indicate values for individual embryos. Histograms indicate mean  $\pm$  SEM; n = 3-5 embryos per group.  $X^2$  test (D,F), t-test (C), Kolmogorov-Smirnoff test (B,E); \*'p<0.02, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001.

When we next analyzed Pax6 and Tbr2 expression specifically in VZ, SVZ and IZ, we found an increase in Pax6 intensity in all three layers, with Tbr2 intensity mostly remaining unchanged, but showing significant slight increase in IZ. We also noted that in SVZ that there was nearly 50% increase in co-expression of Pax6 and Tbr2 upon *MIR3607* expression (Fig. 9).





Figure 9. *MIR3607* drives overexpression of Pax6 in cortical cells. (A,D,G) Scatter plots of ratio Pax6/Tbr2 expression level (log10 Fold Change) relative to mean intensity of both markers (arbitrary units) in individual GFP+ cells, and frequency distribution plots for each of the individual parameters, at the indicated layers of the developing cortex. Dashed vertical lines delimit Pax6/Tbr2 coexpression (-0.1<log10FC<+0.1). (**B,E,H**) Average expression intensity of Pax6 and Tbr2 in individual cells at the indicated layers. (**C,F,I**) Proportion of cells coexpressing Pax6 and Tbr2 (-0.1<log10FC<+0.1). Differences in Pax6 expression intensity were largest in VZ, but differences in Pax6/Tbr2 co-expression were largest in SVZ. N = 471 cells VZ, 176 cells SVZ, 91 cells IZ, 3 embryos for *Scr*,

538 cells VZ, 176 cells SVZ, 73 cells IZ, 5 embryos for *MIR3607*. Kolmogorov-Smirnoff test (A,D,G), t-test (B,E,H),  $X^2$  test (C,F,I); \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001.

Overall, our results showed a significant increase in co-expression of Pax6 and Tbr2, which is one of the defining features of OSVZ progenitors in ferret and primates (*Betizeau et al., 2013; Reillo and Borrell, 2012; Reillo et al., 2017*).



### Interim summary 2



### PART 3 – TRANSCRIPTOMIC ANALYSES TO IDENTIFY DEREGULATED SIGNALING PATHWAYS UPON *MIR3607* EXPRESSION

## 3.1 *MIR3607* activates signaling pathways driving proliferation and delamination of progenitors

In order to elucidate the regulatory pathways underlying the phenotypes observed above and mechanism of action of *MIR3607* leading to the changes in cortical progenitor cells reported above, we next investigated the impact of MIR3607 expression at the transcriptomic level. We electroporated in utero the cerebral cortex of E14.5 embryos with plasmids encoding MIR3607 or Scrambled plus GFP, and 24h later, we FACS-purified high GFP+ cells out of the electroporated area, isolated RNA and high guality RNA samples with RIN values above 9.5 were sent for RNA-sequencing to CRG, Barcelona (RNA-seq) (Fig. 10A). The results were analysed in collaboration with the research group of Dr. Jose Lopez Atalaya at the Instituto de Neurociencias-Alicante. We identified 173 genes differentially expressed (DEGs) in cortical progenitors upon MIR3607 expression (FDR<0.01; Fig. 10B). A majority of DEGs were downregulated (58%), as expected from the action of a miRNA (Fig. 10B). Of the 76 genes in the mouse genome computationally predicted to be direct targets of MIR3607 using available in silico target prediction tools, 63 were found to be expressed in our samples, and 9 of them were DEGs (Fig. 10C). The great majority of those DEGs were downregulated (8 out of 9), again as predicted from the action of a miRNA: Dnm3, Opcml, Pde4d, Tmem169, Cnr1, Bsn, Apc and Rnf38 (Fig. 10C). Several functional enrichment analyses were performed to capture biological information on DEGs. Gene Ontology (GO) analysis highlighted the Wnt signaling pathway and axon development as having the highest enrichment (Fig. 10D). Similarly, functional grouping of gene networks highlighted Wnt signaling pathway, neuroblast proliferation, regulation of neural precursor cell proliferation and L1CAM interactions (Fig. 10E). L1-CAM interactions are relevant for axon development, so these results were consistent with the observed deficient growth of callosal axons in P5 mice expressing MIR3607 (Fig. 10). Functional annotation clustering analysis highlighted again, as top ranked, a cluster topped by the terms

Wnt signaling pathway, lateral plasma membrane and signaling pathways regulating pluripotency of stem cells (**Fig. 10F**).



#### Figure 10. *MIR3607* promotes cell proliferation and activates Wnt signaling.

(A) Schema of experimental design: E14.5 mouse embryos were electroporated with Gfp plus Scr- or MIR3607-encoding plasmids, at E15.5 their brains were microdissected and dissociated, cells expressing high levels of GFP were purified by FACS sorting, and their pooled RNA expression profiles were analyzed by RNAseq. (B) Plot of Fold Change in gene expression (MAP estimate) in MIR3607- versus Scr-electroporated cells, over the gene's average expression level. Differentially Expressed Genes (DEGs; Adj. P < 0.01) are in red (upregulated, 73 genes) and blue (downregulated, 100 genes). Top three DEGs among MIR3607-predicted targets are named. (C) Fold change of 63 predicted MIR3607 targets detected. DEGs are named (\*Adj. p<0.1; \*\*Adj. p<0.01); 8 genes were downregulated, and only one upregulated. (D) Functional enrichment analysis on DEGs, showing most significant enriched GO terms. Ontology: Biological Process. (E) Functionally grouped network based on functional enrichment analysis of DEGs. Size of nodes indicates statistical significance of the terms (Bonferrroni step down corrected P-values). Percentage of up- and down-regulated DEGs for each term is indicated by the color of the nodes on the network. (F) Heatmap of DEGs highlighting genes associated to the top ranked Annotation Cluster from Functional Annotation Clustering analysis (DAVID 6.8). The top three terms within this cluster and their statistical significance (FDR) are indicated. (G,H) Visualization of normalized coverage tracks from RNAseg data for whole transcript (left, middle), and expression levels (right) for Apc (G) and Ctnn1b (H) in Scr- and MIR3607-expressing cells. TPM, transcripts per million; n = 3 replicates per condition; Student two sample t-test; \*p<0.05. (I-K) Enrichment plots from GSEA for MSigDB Hallmark Apical Junction (NES = -1.91; p=0.01; Adj. p=0.021), WNT  $\beta$ -catenin Signaling (NES = 2.31; p=0.002; Adj. p=0.006) and GO term Cell Division GO:0051301 (NES = 8.52; *p*=0.002; Adj. *p*=0.008).

Altogether, these analyses revealed a prominent role of *MIR3607* in the regulation of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signalling pathway, proliferative activity, axon development and lateral plasma membrane (**Fig. 10D-F**). All these biological functions closely matched the developmental processes that we found altered in our above phenotypic analyses of the developing cortex upon expression of *MIR3607* at E14.5. Indeed, *MIR3607* expression in cortical progenitor cells led to decreased expression of Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC), a key negative modulator of the canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signalling pathway, and concomitantly to increased levels of Fgfr3, Fzd8, Ctnn1a and Ctnn1b transcription (**Fig.** 

**10B,C,E-H**). Consistent with the GO analysis, gene set enrichment analyses (GSEA) (*Subramainan et al.,2005*) further confirmed a strong modulation by *MIR3607* of genes regulating Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signalling, the apical junctional complex and cell division in cortical progenitors (**Fig. 10I-K**). In summary, our transcriptomic analyses revealed that *MIR3607* expression causes dramatic changes in the expression levels of genes participating in biological functions and signaling pathways that are key for the amplification and delamination of cortical progenitor cells.



### Part 4 - MIR3607 CAUSES DELAMINATION AND AMPLIFICATION OF PROGENITORS IN THE EARLY EMBRYONIC CORTEX

# 4.1 Massive delamination and amplification of aRGCs in the early cortex by *MIR3607*

Progenitor cell amplification and self-renewal are singularly important at early stages of cortical development, prior to and at the onset of neurogenesis (Telley et al., 2019). Owing to the effects observed in the progenitors and significant pathways affecting proliferation being affected upon MIR3607 expression, Wnt signaling in particular being highly active in the early embryonic cortex (Mutch et al.,2009; Pöschl et al.,2013; Oberst et al.,2019), we next investigated the effects of expressing MIR3607 in the early embryonic mouse cerebral cortex. To this end, we electroporated MIR3607-encoding plasmids into the cortical primordium of mouse embryos at E12.5 and investigated the immediate early effects in the cortex of electroporated embryos at E13.5. BrdU labeling experiments revealed that the cells in S-phase were perfectly aligned in the basal position of the VZ in control-electroporated and non-electroporated cortices (Fig. 11A,B). In contrast, expression of MIR3607 caused the spreading of BrdU-incorporating cells over the entire thickness of the VZ, which revealed severe alterations in the organization of progenitor cells (Fig. 11B). Additionally, BrdU+ cells were frequently arranged in circles, resembling rosettes (Fig. 11A), which suggested delamination of progenitors, and increased rate of cell proliferation and amplification. Staining for Pax6 and Tbr2 revealed the disruption of both apical and basal progenitors, forming rosette like structures (Fig. 11C, 11D). Similarly, PHH3+ mitotic cells were displayed to abventricular positions across the VZ thickness in MIR3607 embryos, compared to the normal arrangement of mitotic cells on the apical side of the VZ in control (Fig. 11E). This disorganization was paralleled by a severe disruption of the apical adherens junction belt, as identified by Par3. In the area of cortex expressing MIR3607, Par3 was completely absent from the apical surface, instead forming small closed domains within the cortical parenchyma, in the lumen of rosettes (Fig. 11F).



**Figure 11.** *MIR3607* drives massive delamination of apical progenitors and formation of rosettes. (A,C-F) Sections through the parietal cortex of mouse embryos electroporated at E12.5 with the indicated plasmids, analysed at E13.5 and stained as indicated. Expression of *MIR3607* caused a severe disruption of

the laminar organization of cycling progenitors (A), the Par3+ apical adherens junction belt (C) and the distribution of PH3 mitoses (D), Pax6+ RGCs (E) and Tbr2+ IPCs (F) (arrows). Arrowheads indicate areas with disrupted apical side of VZ. Arrows indicate rosettes of progenitor cells delaminated into the cortical parenchyma. Asterisks indicate areas with normal organization. **(B)** Quantification of binned distribution of BrdU+ cells across the cortical thickness. Data is from electroporated hemispheres (solid lines) and from nonelectroporated. contralateral hemispheres (dashed lines). The typical accumulation of BrdU-incorporating cells in the basal side of the VZ (bins 3-5) was observed in Scr-electroporated (solid blue line) and contralateral hemispheres (dashed lines), but severely disturbed in MIR3607 electroporated cortices (solid red line). Plots show mean  $\pm$  SEM; n = 2,673 cells ipsi, 3,583 cells contra, 2 embryos, Scr, 5,150 cells ipsi, 5,485 cells contra, 4 embryos, MIR3607. Scale bar: 100µm (all panels).

When observed closely, we found the normal apical radial processes extending to the apical end of the VZ in controls. In contrast, upon *MIR3607* overexpression, in addition to the extension of normal radial processes by few cells, we found many cells resembling aRGCs extending their processes apically to the Par3 lumen within the cortical parenchyma and basally to the basal lamina at the cortical surface (**Fig. 11 G-M**). Altogether, these results revealed the clear formation of rosette structures upon *MIR3607* expression, with Par3 forming the core of rosettes, providing apical attachment surface to Pax6+ radial glial cells, undergoing mitosis locally forming Tbr2+ basal progenitors that migrate basally.

Next, we analyzed if the disorganization and rosette structures persisted at later stages (E15.5). To our surprise, the effects observed were even more dramatic. BrdU+ labeling revealed that progenitor cells failed to remain within the basal side of VZ, typical of control embryos, but were widespread through the SVZ and IZ, forming rosettes (**Fig. 12A**). Stains against Par3 demonstrated the persistent absence of apical adherens junction belt in VZ of *MIR3607* expressing embryos, and its presence as small circles at basal positions within the cortical parenchyma (**Fig. 12B**). Pax6 stains showed that in *MIR3607* expressing embryos, aRGCs no longer formed a compact VZ as in controls, but spread from the apical VZ surface to the IZ (**Fig. 12C**), forming cell clusters located basally, coincident with the location of rosettes. This massive disorganization of the VZ with delamination of

89
Pax6+ aRGCs also affected IPCs, identified with Tbr2 stains. Tbr2+ cells were also distributed ectopically in miR-expressing embryos, where they extended apically through the thickness of VZ to its apical surface, and basally through SVZ and IZ, where they formed distinct circular clusters (**Fig. 12D**).



Figure 12. Severe disruption of apical junctions and formation of rosettes by *MIR3607* lead to subcortical heterotopia. (A-D) Sections through the parietal cortex of mouse embryos electroporated at E12.5 with the indicated plasmids, analysed at E15.5 and stained with the indicated markers. Expression

of MIR3607 disrupted severely the laminar organization of VZ and the Par3+ apical adherens junction belt (asterisks). Arrows indicate rosettes of cycling (BrdU+), Pax6+ and Tbr2+ progenitor cells, containing a Par3+ lumen, delaminated into the cortical parenchyma. Insets in each image are low magnifications showing DAPI (blue) and GFP expression in the same area. (E-**G**) Distribution and quantification of mitotic cells in E15.5 embryos electroporated at E12.5 with the indicated plasmids. Histograms indicate mean  $\pm$  SEM for the electroporated hemisphere (lpsi) and the non-electroporated, contralateral hemisphere (Contra). Circles in plots indicate values for individual embryos. Expression of MIR3607 severely decreased apical mitoses (asterisks) and increased basal mitoses (arrows), with an overall increase in mitotic density (G). N = 4-8 sections from 2-4 embryos per group; t-test; \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001. (H) Detail of a rosette (dashed line) in the cerebral cortex of an E15.5 embryo electroporated with MIR3607 at E12.5, showing apical PH3 mitoses in the inner lumen (dotted line) surrounded by the apical processes of GFP+ aRGCs (arrowheads). Right panel shows line reconstructions of GFP+ cells within the rosette, demonstrating typical aRGC morphology with apical and basal processes radiating from the inner lumen. (I) Sections through the parietal cortex of mouse embryos electroporated at E12.5 with the indicated plasmids, analysed at postnatal day (P) 5, and stained for GFP and the deep-layer marker Tbr1. Note the mass of Tbr1+ neurons in the heterotopia (het) between the normal neocortex (NCx) and striatum (St) of the brain expressing *MIR3607*. cc, corpus callosum. Scale bars: 200µm (A-E), 10µm (H), 1 mm (I).

When we analyzed the rate of cell division by performing PH3 staining, expression of *MIR3607* led to a 65% loss of PH3+ apical mitoses alongside a 3-fold increase in basal mitoses, with an overall in mitoses by 48%, demonstrating increased progenitor cell proliferation. The mitotic cells were not aligned in a distinct VZ/SVZ, but spread basally through the IZ, occasionally forming small clusters (**Fig. 12E,F,G**). Overall, rosettes in the cortex of E15.5 *MIR3607* embryos displayed the same features as observed above in early embryos: a Par3+ lumen, an apical layer of Pax6+ cells, and a surrounding basal layer of Tbr2+ cells. Similar to the early embryos, GFP+ cells forming the core of rosettes confirmed their aRGC morphology, with distinct apical and basal processes radially aligned, and mitosis at the apical surface (**Fig. 12H**). Given the severe disruption of cells and formation of rosettes observed in the early embryonic cortex, we next examined the long-term consequences of this effect upon *MIR3607* expression.

Examination of P5 cortices revealed the formation of subcortical heterotopia underneath the electroporation site. The size of this heterotopia varied between animals, but was never observed in *Scramble*-electroporated control mice. Heterotopias were largely composed by cells positive for Tbr1, a marker of deep layer neurons, confirming that the MIR3607 expression did not change the neuronal fate. But a majority of cells in the heterotopia formed of Tbr1+ neurons were negative for GFP, indicating that the mechanism of emergence of this phenotype had a significant non-cell autonomous component (**Fig. 12I**).

In summary, we have demonstrated that the *MIR3607* expression in the early developing cortex induced dramatic changes, as we expected according to our functional analyses, which revealed the impact of MIR3607 upon delamination and proliferation of progenitors. Overall, the effects observed reveal the function of *MIR3607* on neural progenitor cell proliferation, cell division, lateral plasma membrane and apical junction.

# 4.2 *MIR3607* promotes early cortical progenitor amplification and formation of rosettes by de-repression of $\beta$ -Catenin signaling

It was clear from the above analyses that *MIR3607* promotes early cortical progenitor amplification and formation of rosettes. We next questioned the mechanism by which *MIR3607* acts to cause these phenotypes. *MIR3607-5p* has been shown to target the 3'UTR of *APC*, a key repressor of  $\beta$ Catenin signaling *(Lin et al.,2017)*, which was found to be significantly downregulated in our transcriptomic analyses, among other predicted target genes. Accordingly, our transcriptional profiling experiments revealed the strong and preferential activation of  $\beta$ Catenin signaling pathway at the transcriptional level in the developing mouse cerebral cortex upon *MIR3607* expression. Therefore, we suspected that the protein levels of activated beta catenin could have been upregulated upon downregulation of a beta-catenin destruction complex factor APC. As expected, our immunostains against activated  $\beta$ Catenin, revealed a two-fold increase in expression in the VZ of *MIR3607* expressing mouse embryos

24hr after electroporation (**Fig. 13A,B**). This further supported that the effects of *MIR3607* on cortical progenitor amplification and rosette formation might be caused by the overactivation of  $\beta$ Catenin signaling. Moreover, the effects of *MIR3607* expression in the embryonic mouse cerebral cortex causing a massive amplification of cortical progenitors and disturbance of VZ integrity, resembled the effect produced by overactivation of the Wnt/ $\beta$ Catenin signaling pathway *(Chenn and Walsh.,2002; Chenn and Walsh.,2003; Herrera et al.,2014; Poschl et al.2013; Woodhead et al.,2006; Wrobel et al.,2007*). To investigate this possibility, we electroporated E12.5 embryos with a constitutively active form of  $\beta$ Catenin ( $\Delta$ 90- $\beta$ Cat), to test if this would phenocopy the effects produced upon *MIR3607* expression.





Figure 13. *MIR3607* promotes early progenitor amplification and formation of rosettes by de-repression of  $\beta$ Catenin signaling. (A,B) Sections through the parietal cortex of E13.5 mouse embryos electroporated at E12.5 with the indicated plasmids and stained against activated  $\beta$ Catenin, and quantification of signal intensity. (A',A'') are high magnifications of the corresponding areas boxed in (A). Histogram indicates mean ± SEM; circles indicate values for individual embryos; *n* = 5-6 embryos per group; t-test; \*\*\**p*<0.001. (C,D) Parietal cortex of

E13.5 mouse embryos electroporated at E12.5 with the indicated plasmids. Expression of constitutively active  $\beta$ Catenin very severely disrupted the integrity of the VZ (white arrowheads), with massive amplification and delamination of cycling (BrdU+) progenitor cells and formation of rosettes (pink arrows). (**E-H**) Sections through the parietal cortex of E15.5 mouse embryos electroporated at E12.5 with the indicated plasmid combinations and stained as indicated (E,G,H), and binned distribution of BrdU+ cells across the cortical thickness (F). In (F), top graph is data from electroporated, ipsilateral hemispheres; bottom is data from non-electroporated, contralateral hemispheres. Asterisks indicate the absence of the Par3+ apical adherens junction belt; arrows indicate rosettes. The severe disruptions caused by *MIR3607* expression were rescued in embryos co-expressing *MIR3607* and APC, and absent in embryos expressing *Scr*+APC. (**I**) Quantification of embryos with germinal layer disturbance. Scale bars: 100µm (A-D), 200µm (E,G,H).

As expected, when analyzed one day after electroporation (E13.5) BrdU labeling revealed disorganization of cycling progenitor cells in the cerebral cortex, forming multiple proliferative rosettes (**Fig. 13C,D**), as observed upon *MIR3607* expression, but showing even greater level of disruption. This further supported the idea that the effects caused upon *MIR3607* expression was mediated by the overactivation of  $\beta$ Catenin signaling possible upon repression of *APC*.

Next, in order to investigate if the effects are mediated through repression of *APC*, we performed rescue experiments by additionally expressing APC alongside *MIR3607*. We performed electroporations in the E12.5 mouse cortex, and analyzed the effects at E15.5. As shown previously, expression of *MIR3607* alone caused a very severe disorganization of cycling progenitor cells forming rosettes, identified by BrdU labeling (**Fig. 13E,F**). Further, Par3 and Pax6 stains showed the formation of these proliferative rosettes (**Fig. 13G, H**). Remarkably, co-electroporation of *MIR3607* with APC completely rescued the formation of rosettes and lead to the formation of intact germinal layers in a majority of embryos, whereas expression of APC with a control scrambled miRNA sequence, had no effect on cortical progenitor cells nor on the normal organization of germinal layers (**Fig. 13E-I**).

Together, these results demonstrated that expression of *MIR3607* in the embryonic mouse cerebral cortex reduces the levels of expression of APC, which

is a part of  $\beta$ Catenin destruction complex. This leads to an abnormal accumulation of activated  $\beta$ Catenin and the overactivation of canonical Wnt pathway, causing the overproliferation of cortical progenitors and the instability of the VZ, forming delaminated proliferative rosettes.



#### Interim summary 3



### PART 5 - CONSERVATION OF *MIR3607* FUNCTION IN GYRENCEPHALIC SPECIES

# 5.1 *MIR3607* expression in human cerebral organoids cause fragmentation of VZ into several proliferative closed ventricles

After elucidating the functional mechanism of MIR3607 in cerebral cortex development using mouse as a model, we next investigated if the function of MIR3607 is possibly conserved in human by causing overexpression of MIR3607 in human cerebral organoids. Human cerebral organoids electroporated at 39 days in culture, when fixed and stained for Par3 seven days later, we identified fragmentation of ventricular zone leading to increased proliferative closed circles resembling rosettes, upon *MIR3607* overexpression (Fig.14 B). As a result, the density of ventricles increased upon MIR3607 overexpression compared to control (Fig.14 A,B,E). In addition to this, the perimeter of the ventricular surface was increased upon MIR3607 overexpression compared to control (Fig. 14 C,D,F). Overall, the observed phenotypes resembled the effects observed in mice, forming rosette like structures, likely as a result of increased proliferation of apical progenitors along the ventricle. Also, the increase in perimeter of the ventricular surface resembled the effect caused by  $\beta$ Catenin overexpression in mouse neuroepithelium (Chenn and Walsh, 2002), which suggested the possibility that the mechanism of action of MIR3607 is conserved, causing suppression of human APC, as its mRNA contains conserved target sites for MIR3607 in the 3´UTR.



Figure 14. *MIR3607* promotes ventricular fragmentation and growth in human cerebral organoids. (A-D) Cross-sections through human cerebral organoids electroporated at 39 days in culture with *Gfp* plus *Scrambled-* (*Scr*) or *MIR3607*-encoding plasmids, fixed 7 days later and stained as indicated. Individual ventricles are numbered in panoramic views of representative organoids (A,B). Detailed views of representative electroporated ventricles are shown (C,D) with the apical surface identified by Par3 stain (red, arrows). (**E,F**) Quantifications of density of ventricles per surface area of organoid (E), and average length of Par3+ apical surface of individual electroporated ventricles (F). Histograms indicate mean  $\pm$  SEM, and circles within indicate values for individual

organoids (in F, average value of ventricles per organoid); n = 3-7 organoids per group; t-test, \*p<0.05. Scale bars: 200µm (A,B), 50µm (C,D).

# 5.2 *MIR3607* targets APC in ferret and is required for aRGC amplification and maintenance of polarity

After studying the conserved function of MIR3607 overexpression in human cerebral organoids, we next investigated if the molecular mechanism of action of MIR3607 was also conserved, and what was the function of endogenous MIR3607. In order to do this, we first generated loss-of-function constructs against MIR3607 (Tough-Decoy). Transfection of HEK cells with TUD-3607, or TUD-Scr as control, followed by qRT-PCR for *MIR3607*, showed a dramatic reduction of *MIR*3607 levels (Fig. 15A). Then we transfected the ferret brain cell line Mpf with MIR3607 encoding plasmids, Scrambled control plasmids, TUD-MIR3607 or TUD-Scrambled controls, and measured the levels of APC protein by western blot. Ferret APC mRNA also contains target sites for MIR3607 in its 3' UTR. As expected, MIR3607 overexpression caused a reduction in APC, and in turn expression of TUD-MIR3607 lead to upregulation of APC, confirming APC as a conserved target of MIR3607 in ferret, and that endogenous levels of MIR3607 in ferret cells are sufficient to repress APC expression (Fig. 15B). Therefore, this further confirmed the notion that the mechanism of action of MIR3607 is exerted through repression of APC, and that this function is conserved in ferret.



Figure 15. *MIR3607* regulates the expression of APC in ferret. (A) qPCR results of *MIR3607* expression levels (arbitrary units) in HEK293 cells transfected with psil-*Scr* and psil-*MIR3607*. circles in plots indicate values for individual replicas. (B) Western blots of APC in Mpf cells transfected with the indicated plasmids, and densitometry quantifications, showing reduction in expression of APC upon *MIR3607* expression and an increase upon downregulation of *MIR3607*. Histograms indicate mean ± SEM; (t-test, \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p=0.0008)

Finally, we investigated the importance of presence of *MIR3607* in ferret cerebral cortex by performing loss of function experiments using TUD-*MIR3607*. For this purpose, we performed in utero electroporations of pregnant ferret females at embryonic stage E35, when the expression of *MIR3607* was high in the VZ (Fig. **3B, 16A).** Two days later at E37, preliminary analyses revealed defective apical detachment of the radial glial cells leading to increased number of cells accumulating in the VZ, and impaired interkinetic nuclear migration as revealed by decrease in apical mitoses and increase in sub-apical and basal mitoses, as compared to control (Fig. 16B,C,D,E). We next questioned if this effect is mediated through APC and therefore to answer that, we performed similar experiments with APC encoding plasmid/GFP control to check if we could phenocopy the results obtained upon TUD-3607 expression (Fig. 15F). As expected, expression of APC caused a similar phenotype but even more dramatic with higher percentage of cells accumulating in the Ventricular zone and concomitant increase in sub-apical mitoses upon reduced apical mitoses, compared to the control (Fig. 16G,H,I,J).

Overall, here we have demonstrated the essentiality of *MIR3607* in ferret cerebral cortex, whose absence would lead to impairment in detachment of apical radial glial cells, which would be essential at this stage to form OSVZ (*Martinez-Martinez et al.,2016*). Any impairment caused in the formation of OSVZ, would negatively impact the expansion and folding of the cerebral cortex.



**Figure 16.** *MIR3607* is essential for proper delamination of progenitors. (A,F) Schema of Ferret in utero electroporation at E(35) and analyses at E(37) with the indicated plasmids. (B,D,E) Distribution of mitotic (PhVim+) cells in the ferret cerebral cortex at the apical, sub-apical and basal level between TUD-Scr and TUD-3607 electroporated embryos. (C) Distribution of GFP+ cells across different layers of the cortex (VZ, SVZ, IZ). (G,I,J) Distribution of mitotic (PhVim+) cells in the ferret cerebral cortex at the apical, sub-apical and basal level between GFP and APC electroporated embryos. (H) Distribution of GFP+ cells across different layers of the cortex (VZ, SVZ, IZ). Analyses indicate defective apical

delamination and radial migration of cells, resulting in increase in subapical mitoses upon expression of TUD-3607/APC.



#### Interim summary 4





#### DISCUSSION

#### Evolutionary significance of *miR3607* in cerebral cortex development

The diversity of neural progenitors and the extent of proliferation of these progenitors is an important determinant of the size of the cerebral cortex across evolution (*Cardenas et al.,2018; Cardenas and Borrell.,2020*). The increased proliferation of aRGCs and basal progenitor cells has been linked to radial and tangential expansion respectively, thereby increasing the overall size of the cerebral cortex (*Chenn and Walsh.,2002; Nonaka-Kinoshita et al.,2013*). Furthermore, the presence of expanded and complex subventricular germinal layers (ISVZ and OSVZ), containing a high diversity of progenitors and a high proportion of bRGCs, is associated to species with large and folded cerebral cortex, including human and ferret (*Betizeau et al., 2013; Fietz et al., 2010; Hansen et al., 2010; Reillo & Borrell, 2012; Reillo et al., 2011; Smart et al., 2002*). These bRGCs are characterized as self-amplifying proliferative progenitors that express either Pax6 or Pax6 plus Tbr2, with a basal process that induces a fanned array of additional radial fibers which cause the tangential dipersion of radially-migrating neurons (*Reillo & Borrell, 2012; Reillo et al., 2011*).

Transcriptome analyses across different species with smooth and gyrified cerebral cortex identified several protein-coding genes that are important regulators of cerebral cortex expansion and gyrification (*Fiddes et al.,2018; Fietz et al.,2012; Florio et al.,2015; Florio et al.,2017; Florio et al.,2018; Suzuki et al.,2018; de Juan Romero et al.,2015)*. This includes genes that are differentially expressed in the germinal layers across different species, different types of progenitors and genes that are specific to primates or humans. Manipulation of some of these identified genes in small and smooth mouse cerebral cortex often led to the features specific to large and gyrified brains. Studies involving overexpression of *Fgf2*, human specific genes *ARHGAP11B/TMEM14B*, or downregulation of *Trnp1* or *Flrt1/3*, lead to cortical folding in mouse, with increase in expansion of basal progenitors including bRGCs, or due to changes in migration of neurons (*Del Toro et al.,2017; Rash et al.,2013; Stahl et al.,2013; Florio et al.,2017; Liu et al.,2017*). Similarly, overexpression of *Pax6, Hopx*, or

the human specific gene *NOTCH2NL*, in the mouse cerebral cortex leads to significant expansion of the cortical progenitor cells with features known to be relevant to large and folded brains (*Vaid et al.,2018; Wong et al.,2015; Fiddes et al.,2018; Suzuki et al.,2018*).

Despite an increasing number of studies on primate or human specific protein coding genes, or genes differentially expressed across species, which are important for expansion and complexification of the cerebral cortex, little is known about the function of non-coding genes that emerged along different periods of evolution, or that are expressed only in higher order mammals. Given the potential of non-coding genes, including IncRNAs and miRNAs, in regulating the expression of important genes across different cell types and cerebral cortex development, their importance in the evolution of the cerebral cortex has not been studied enough. Important candidates in the context of evolution and expansion of the cerebral cortex include miRNAs that are abundantly expressed (with detectable expression levels in development compared to other non-coding RNAs) and novel miRNAs that emerged at lineage divergence points in evolution (Heimberg at al., 2008; Fineberg et al., 2009; Dehay et al., 2015). MiRNA profiling studies in primates identified several miRNAs differentially expressed across cell types and developmental stages, including primate-specific miRNAs regulating the expression of cell cycle and neurogenic regulatory proteins (Nowakowski et al.,2018; Arcila et al.,2014; Moreau at al.,2013).

In this context, our previous transcriptomic analysis of germinal layers of the developing ferret cortex uncovered pre-*MIR3607* as a non-protein coding gene with potential roles in evolution of the cerebral cortex, and thus an interesting candidate to study. Our *in situ* hybridization stains revealed the expression of the mature *MIR3607* in the germinal layers of the human embryonic cortex at 16 gestational weeks, around the period of peak neurogenesis. Its expression was also detected in the germinal layers of the developing ferret cerebral cortex. Its temporal pattern of expression is particularly interesting because it is highly expressed in VZ at E35, a stage corresponding to the critical period when OSVZ bRGCs are generated. Then, at P2, when bRGCs seeding the OSVZ are not generated from VZ anymore, we find expression of *MIR3607* low in VZ but high in OSVZ, when the already generated bRGCs undergo self-amplification within

the OSVZ (Martinez-Martinez et al., 2016). These expression patterns support a role for MIR3607 in promoting the generation and amplification of bRGCs. Consistent with this interpretation, expression of MIR3607 in the small and smooth mouse cortex at the peak of neurogenesis is undetectable, suggesting that it is limited to the development of large and folded brains. Although we find similar sequences of pre-MIR3607 in the genome of mouse, with very few nucleotide changes, its absence of expression in the mouse suggests that other regulatory mechanisms repress (or simply do not drive) its expression. At the genomic sequence level, we find 100% conservation only among members of the primate family Hominidae, including humans, which may render additional advantages over other species beyond expression, potentially contributing to cortical complexification. Otherwise, the mature miRNA sequence is completely conserved among other members of the order *Primates* and few exceptions from other orders. The fact that dynamic nucleotide changes across phylogeny occur only in the predicted mature MIR3607 sequence, with no changes observed in its complementary 3p counterpart (with less or no function) among the species analyzed, suggest the possibility of increased complexity of regulation and diverse functions exerted by MIR3607 among higher order mammals.

Our results upon expression of *MIR3607* in the early embryonic mouse cerebral cortex suggest that *MIR3607* strongly promotes the proliferation of cortical progenitor cells and expansion of their pool, which is important at early stages of development, and drive their delamination from the VZ to basal positions, while retaining apical-basal polarity and Pax6 expression, typical of bRGCs. These are features greatly enhanced in the developing cerebral cortex of human, macaque and ferret, which may contribute to the abundant formation of bRGCs (*Fietz et al.,2010; Hansen et al.,2010; Reillo and Borrell.,2012; Reillo et al.,2011; Smart et al.,2002)*, and to the enlargement of these cortices (*Fernandez et al.,2016; Nonaka-Kinoshita et al.,2013; Reillo et al.,2011)*. In agreement with this line of reasoning, overexpression of *MIR3607* in human cerebral organoids promoted the formation of closed proliferative ventricles, resembling delaminated rosettes, and increased apical surface area, supporting increased proliferation and aRGC expansion. On the other hand, downregulation of *MIR3607* in ferret cerebral cortex caused severe defects in proliferation, polarity and delamination of

individual aRGCs, impairing their self-amplification. In summary, our results suggest that the function of *MIR3607* is conserved in the developing cortex across species, and it is consistent with this miRNA favoring production of neurons for large brains across evolution.

#### MIR3607 controls different aspects of cerebral cortex development

A well-structured cortex requires a multi-step process that has to be perfectly coordinated for its effective functioning. This includes generating neurons in the right numbers and at the right time, migration of neurons to the right place, extension of dendrites and projection axons to different regions of the brain for establishing functional connectivity across different regions. Several miRNAs have been previously identified as potentially influencing several aspects of cortical development by targeting different genes and pathways (Barca-Mayo and De Pietri Tonelli, 2014; Rajman and Schratt., 2017). The results of this Thesis suggest that MIR3607 is capable of influencing all the above-mentioned aspects of development by regulating different genes and pathways. Our computationally predicted targets included a large set of genes important for neurogenesis and axon growth. In agreement with this, our gene ontology analysis of DEGs upon MIR3607 overexpression highlighted axon development, cell fate commitment and regulation of neuronal precursor proliferation as highly enriched terms, among others. Moreover, the list of DEGs contained eight computationally predicted direct target genes that are downregulated, most of them having the conserved MIR3607 target sites in their 3' UTR, in human and other species, favoring the possibility that MIR3607 is capable of targeting these genes across species.

Our results suggest that *MIR3607* overexpression in mouse causes delamination of progenitors and increased proliferation as immediate early effect, followed then by increased cell cycle exit and premature neurogenesis. Several miRNAs are known to be important for mammalian neurogenesis, including the brain enriched miRNAs let-7, miR-9, miR-124 and miR-137 (*Fernandez et al.,2020; Sun et al.,2015; Petri et al.,2014*). Apart from these, miRNAs recently identified as

primate-specific, which are not expressed in mouse, mostly target cell cycle and neurogenesis regulating genes, thereby leading to increased neurogenesis, contributing to cortical expansion and folding (*Nowakowski et al.,2018; Arcila et al.,2014*). Similarly, in accordance with the phenotypes observed, *MIR3607* is found to alter the expression of genes associated with apical junctional complex and cell division in cortical progenitors, suggesting similar importance as primate specific miRNAs (**Fig. 16**).



**Figure 16. Gene Ontology analysis of DEGs from GSEA.** Bar chart of top ranked GO gene sets according to normalized enrichment score (NES), from gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA). Bars are color-coded according to statistical significance (nominal *p* value) as indicated.

Our results also indicate that MIR3607 affects the migration of neurons, causing overmigration with lamination defects, formation of ventricular heterotopia, and also affecting the extension of axonal projections. The effects that we observe are consistent with the results of our transcriptomic analyses, with significant changes in gene networks related to mTORC1 signaling (NES: 2.22; p-val: 0.0078; q-val: 0.0054), axon development and L1CAM interactions. Increased mTORC1 with signaling is associated several neurological and neurodevelopmental disorders with defects in organization of the cortex. Hyperactivation of mTORC1 signaling in mammalian models lead to disorganized

cortical lamination (Orlova et al.,2010; Tsai et al.,2014; Moon et al.,2015), and is known to be associated with the formation of heterotopia (Broix et al.,2016). Further, mTOR signaling is found to be important for axon specification and elongation, also controlling dendritic size and complexity (Li et al.,2008; Kumar at al.,2005). L1CAM plays a role in radial migration of neurons and its mutation associated with congenital hydrocephalus is found to dramatically impair axonal and dendritic arborization (Tonosaki et al.,2014; Patzke et al.,2016). From an evolutionary perspective, the overmigration phenotype observed in mouse suggest that MIR3607 may help neurons migrate long distances in large and gyrified cortices. This is important so these neurons have time to get settled before they initiate further maturation, extending their axonal and dendritic arbors, which is also consistent with our transcriptome analyses revealing processes related to late stages of maturation of neurons being downregulated (Fig 16).

# *MIR3607* increases the proliferative capacity of progenitor cells by enhancing features of gyrified cortices

The proliferative capacity of cortical progenitors is critical, as it determines the final size of the brain. Several primate- and human-specific genes have been identified that enhance progenitor cell proliferation, including few miRNAs (Fiddes at al.,2018; Florio et al.,2018; Suzuki et al.,2018; Nowakowski et al.,2018; Arcila et al.,2014; Prodromidou et al.,2020). We have found that the expression of MIR3607 enhances cell proliferation, and this effect is even more pronounced when it is expressed at early developmental stages, when self-amplifying progenitor divisions are comparatively high. This highlights the relevance of intrinsic genetic programs and their interaction with environmental signals among progenitor cells at different stages (Telley et al., 2019). Our results obtained with cerebral organoids indicate that this function of *MIR3607* is conserved in human. Another important factor linked to the increase in proliferation is the maintenance of Pax6 expression by cortical progenitors long after their delamination from the VZ. This is an important feature of proliferative bRGCs in species with large brains. Moreover, experimentally sustained expression of Pax6 in basal progenitors of the embryonic mouse cortex leads to an increase in cycling

progenitors in the SVZ along with increased bRGCs undergoing selfamplification, which is otherwise uncommon in mouse (Wong at al., 2015).

The transcription factors Pax6 and Tbr2 play key roles in cortical development, as for example they define the identity of aRGCs and IPCs, respectively (Götz and Huttner., 2005). Increasing levels of Pax6 in aRGCs favors basal progenitor cell genesis by positively regulating the levels of Neurog2 and Tbr2 (Sansom et al.,2009). But in mouse, the formation of basal progenitors and increased expression of Tbr2 rapidly downregulates Pax6 expression, suggesting a negative feedback loop between Tbr2 and Pax6 (Sessa et al., 2017). Also, Pax6 seems to have auto-regulation by negative feedback (Manuel et al., 2015). As a result of the above, co-expression of Pax6 and Tbr2 at the protein level are near mutually-exclusive in mouse, with only a minority of cells expressing both proteins and at low levels (Englund et al., 2005; Arai et al., 2011). Intriguingly, many aRGCs within VZ express high levels of *Tbr2* mRNA but not protein, in mouse as well as in ferret, indicating the existence of post-transcriptional regulatory mechanisms (de Juan Romero et al., 2015; Sessa et al., 2008). Few miRNAs have been identified to be involved in this transition by directly blocking the expression of Pax6 or Tbr2 (Bian et al., 2013; Nowakowski et al., 2013; Needhamsan et al.,2014). Interestingly, miR-7 has been shown to inhibit Pax6 protein expression without altering its mRNA level, and the 3'UTR of Pax6 bears additional functional miR-7 target site only in primates, supporting our idea that the increase in functional target sites during evolution is linked to brain expansion (Needhamsan et al., 2014). In contrast to mouse, Pax6 and Tbr2 protein are very frequently coexpressed within basal progenitors of the developing cortex of large-brained species such as macaque and ferret, essentially in bRGCs (Betizeau et al., 2013; Reillo and Borrell., 2012). This suggests the absence, or override, of posttranscriptional regulation in these two particular genes, which may have contributed to the developmental features important for cortical expansion, including aRGC delamination and acquisition of bRGC fates.

We have shown that expression of *MIR3607* in the embryonic mouse cortex increases the frequency of cells double-positive for Tbr2 and Pax6 protein in VZ, and especially in SVZ. This is particularly dramatic for Pax6, which we also found is expressed at much higher levels relative to Tbr2 in *MIR3607* expressing

embryos. This suggests that existing mechanism of regulation between these two proteins may be modified or altered by *MIR3607*. Our results suggest that *MIR3607* indirectly promotes Pax6 translation, perhaps by blocking the post-transcriptional inhibition of Pax6 expression, as our transcriptional profiling shows no differential expression of Pax6, yet showing abundance of Pax6 mRNA levels compatible with post-transcriptional regulatory mechanisms. In this line of evidence, our GSEA analyses revealed mTORC1 among the most significantly altered pathways upon *MIR3607* expression. Importantly, mTORC1 regulates Pax6 protein levels in the chick retina, and this mTORC1 activation is downstream of Wnt/ $\beta$ Catenin signaling (*Zelinka et al.,2016*). Hence, this suggests the possibility that in the developing cerebral cortex Pax6 protein levels are indirectly increased by *MIR3607* via augmenting Wnt signaling and then mTORC. Moreover,  $\beta$ Catenin/TCF binding to Pax6 promoter is demonstrated to induce its expression in neural stem cells (*Gan et al.,2014*).

# MIR3607 is a major regulator of the canonical Wnt/β-Catenin signaling pathway

Expression of *MIR3607* in the early embryonic mouse cortex drives the amplification and massive delamination of apical progenitor cells to basal positions, frequently forming conspicuous proliferative rosettes. Several signaling pathways have been known to be critical for neurogenesis including Shh, FGF, notch, BMP, Wnt signaling and so on (*Johansson et al.,2010, Kazanis et al.,2008*). Our transcriptomic analyses revealed that several regulators and factors of Wnt/ $\beta$ Catenin signaling pathway were significantly altered, including upregulation of  $\beta$  *Catenin* itself, leading to hyperactivation of the pathway. Among several factors of this major signaling pathway that were altered, there was downregulation of mRNA levels of negative regulators of Wnt/ $\beta$ Catenin pathway such as APC, Draxin and Hecw1. APC was particularly interesting as it is a computationally predicted target of *MIR3607* in mouse and many other species including human (**Fig. 17A**). Also it is an experimentally verified target of *MIR3607*, and the resulting downregulation of APC is known to induce

hyperproliferation in human lung cancer cells by activating Wnt/BCatenin pathway (Lin et al., 2017). Draxin and Hecw1 are also predicted targets of MIR3607 in human, but not mouse, which might make them less likely to act as confident targets in our case, but suggests the possibility of stronger activation of Wnt/BCatenin signaling in human and other higher order species with conserved target sites of *MIR3607* for these genes. Several studies have demonstrated the critical role of Wnt/BCatenin signaling in cerebral cortex development, including its effect on promoting the proliferation of progenitors at early stages (Chenn and Walsh.,2002; Chenn and Walsh.,2003; Woodhead et al.,2006; Wrobel et al.,2007; Mutch et al.,2009; Hirabayashi et al.,2004). In addition, APC, which is a component of the protein complex driving BCatenin for phosphorylation and proteasome degradation, is important for maintaining polarity of radial glial cells and control cerebral cortex neurogenesis, by tuning the levels of  $\beta$ Catenin via post-translational mechanisms (Yokota et al., 2009; Nakagawa et al., 2017). Our results confirm the activation of the Wnt/BCatenin pathway upon expression of MIR3607 in vivo in the mouse cortex. Indeed, the effects of MIR3607 overexpression in the early embryonic mouse cortex were phenocopied by overexpression of constitutively active BCatenin. The increased abundance of activated BCatenin upon MIR3607 overexpression may result from the loss of negative regulation by APC. Consistent with these observations, the phenotype caused by MIR3607 was largely rescued by co-expression of APC. With this, our study confirms the major role played by *MIR3607* in regulating APC and, in turn, critically regulating the Wnt/ $\beta$ Catenin pathway, a key pathway involved in cerebral cortex development (Fig. 17B).



#### Fig.17 *MIR3607* targets APC and regulates Wnt/ $\beta$ -Catenin signaling

(A) *MIR3607* target sites in two different locations of the 3'UTR of APC of different species. (B) By repressing expression of APC, *MIR3607* prevents the formation of the beta-catenin destruction complex, leading to the activation of this signaling pathway.

## The effect of *MIR3607* on progenitor cells at different stages illustrate the existence of critical time windows during development

We have observed a significant difference in severity of phenotypes between early and mid developmental stages of mouse corticogenesis, where the Wnt/BCatenin signaling pathway is the main implicated. Our results suggest that the reduced severity of phenotypes as development progresses could be attributed to the decreased susceptibility of progenitors to Wnt/Bcatenin signaling along development. This would be in agreement with previous reports showing that the transcriptional activity induced by Wnt/Bcatenin signaling decreases over developmental time in the embryonic cortex (Mutch et al., 2009; Pöschl et al.,2013). A recent study showed that apical cortical progenitors respond differently to intrinsic versus extrinsic factors depending on developmental stage. In the early embryonic cortex (E12.5), aRGCs are more prone to respond to intrinsic signals, with cell-cycle and nucleus/chromatin-related processes being predominant. At later stages, with increased expression of membrane receptors and cell-cell signaling related proteins, cortical progenitor cells become more susceptible to environmental signals and become more neurogenic (Telley et al.,2019). Moreover, Wnt transcripts are expressed in a temporal early-high to late-low gradient in the developing mouse cortex, and late apical progenitors may be re-specified to an early fate by experimental activation of Wnt-signaling (Oberst et al.,2019).

Previous studies from our lab demonstrated the importance of temporallydynamic changes in gene expression levels in the ferret cerebral cortex during a defined critical period, where aRGC self-consumption and delamination leads to the generation of massive amounts of bRGCs and the formation of the OSVZ. Again, mRNA levels of  $\beta$ -Catenin are upregulated in this critical period, further highlighting the importance of Wnt/ $\beta$ Catenin signaling in regulating aRGC-tobRGC cell fate (*Martinez-Martinez et al.,2016*). The observed high expression of *MIR3607* at this particular stage further supports the critical importance of Wnt/ $\beta$ Catenin signaling activation by this miRNA at specific stages of development to regulate the extent of cell proliferation and the size of the cortex across evolution.

### *MIR3607* is important for the expansion of cerebral cortex in higher mammals

Delamination of apical progenitors from the VZ, while maintaining apical-basal polarity, is a key step for the formation of bRGCs and the OSVZ, critical for cerebral cortex gyrification (Martinez-Martinez et al., 2016; Stahl et al., 2013). Our loss-of-function experiments in ferret embryos indicate that MIR3607 is important for proper RGC delamination and maintenance of polarity, at the stage when massive bRGC production and seeding of the OSVZ occurs. These results confirm the importance of MIR3607 in assisting the formation of OSVZ and gyrification. Our western blot analyses confirmed the regulation of APC by *MIR3607* in ferret, which consequently regulates canonical Wnt signaling. Further confirmation of this mode of regulation comes from experiments overexpressing APC, which phenocopy the effects of loss of function of *MIR3607*, with the effect being even more dramatic as expected. The association of APC with microtubules has been shown to influence microtubule stability, and thus it may help to maintain the polarity of RGCs in mouse cerebral cortex (Yokota et al.,2009). APC is also known to regulate RGC morphology and the formation of primary cilia, via regulating  $\beta$ Catenin activity. In addition to its role as central nuclear effector of canonical Wnt signaling pathway, at the structural level  $\beta$ Catenin also regulates adherens junctions between the progenitors, thereby maintaining the integrity of VZ (Nakagava et al., 2017). Deregulated distribution of BCatenin upon dysregulation of its expression might disturb the integrity of VZ, as we observe here in mouse. Overall, our experiments in ferret confirm the conservation of function and mechanism of action of MIR3607 by targeting APC and regulating canonical Wnt signaling.

Overexpression of *MIR3607* in organoids leads to the formation of many closed ventricles resembling the rosettes that we observed upon overexpression in the early embryonic mouse cortex, confirming the conservation of function of *MIR3607* in human cerebral organoids. *MIR3607* expression also increased apical surface area, possibly reflecting an increase in amplification (symmetric proliferation) of aRGCs. This is consistent with the experimental expression of

stabilized  $\beta$ Catenin in the early mouse cortex, which massively increases the surface area of the neuroepithelium *(Chenn and Walsh.,2002)*. Altogether, past and present evidence strongly supports the notion that the molecular regulation of progenitor cell amplification and cortical expansion, via *MIR3607* expression, is a mechanism strongly conserved in evolution. Given the phylogenic relationships between human, mouse and ferret, our results also indicate that the absence of *MIR3607* expression in the embryonic mouse cerebral cortex is the result of a secondary loss during evolution, where this was expressed in the common mammalian ancestor.





CONCLUSIONS

### CONCLUSIONS

- 1. *MIR3607* is expressed in the early embryonic cerebral cortex of the gyrencephalic ferret and human, but not the lissencephalic mouse.
- 2. Expression of *MIR3607* in embryonic mouse cortex cause premature neurogenesis, defects in migration, positioning and maturation of neurons.
- MIR3607 expression causes the amplification of cortical progenitors and increased co-expression of Pax6+Tbr2+ in SVZ cells in mouse, typical features of gyrencephalic brains.
- 4. Transcriptome analyses revealed changes in biological functions and signaling pathways that are key for the amplification and delamination of cortical progenitor cells, highlighting Wnt signaling as one of the major dysregulated pathways.
- Expression of *MIR3607* in earlier embryonic mouse cerebral cortex causes the overactivation of βCatenin followed by the severe amplification of VZ progenitors and the destabilization of this germinal layer, forming proliferative rosettes.
- The phenotypic effects of *MIR3607* overexpression in the early embryonic mouse cortex are rescued by co-expression of APC, functionally confirming that this miRNA targets APC and overactivates Wnt/βCatenin signaling.
- 7. Overexpression of *MIR3607* in human cerebral organoids also leads to the expansion of VZ progenitors and the formation of proliferative rosettes.
- 8. Endogenous *MIR3607* regulates the levels of APC in ferret brain cells, ensuring the amplification of aRGCs and maintenance of their polarity.

This function may guarantee the early expansion of the VZ prior to the peak of neurogenesis, leading to cortical expansion and possibly folding.



CONCLUSIONS

### CONCLUSIONES

1. *MIR3607* se expresa de manera temprana en la corteza cerebral embrionaria de especies girencefálicas, como el hurón y el humano, pero está ausente en el ratón lisencefálico.

2. La expresión de *MIR3607* en la corteza embrionaria de ratón causa neurogénesis prematura, defectos en la migración, posicionamiento y maduración neuronal.

 La expresión de *MIR3607* produce la amplificación de los progenitores corticales y el aumento de la coexpresión de Pax6+Tbr2+ en células de la SVZ en ratón, características típicas de cerebros girencefálicos.

4. Los análisis transcriptómicos revelaron cambios en funciones biológicas y vías de señalización claves para la amplificación y delaminación de las células progenitoras corticales, entre las cuales destaca la cascada de señalización de Wnt como una de las principales vías afectadas.

5. La expresión temprana de *MIR3607* en la corteza cerebral embrionaria de ratón produce la sobreactivación de β-catenina seguida de una amplificación sustancial de los progenitores de la VZ y la consecuente desestabilización de esta capa germinativa, dando lugar a rosetas proliferativas.

6. Los efectos fenotípicos producidos por la sobreexpresión de *MIR3607* en la corteza embrionaria temprana del ratón son rescatados mediante la coexpresión de APC, lo que confirma funcionalmente que este miARN tiene como diana APC y sobreactiva la vía de señalización de Wnt/β-catenina.

7. La sobreexpresión de *MIR3607* en organoides cerebrales humanos también conduce a la expansión de los progenitores de la VZ y la formación de rosetas proliferativas.

8. El *MIR3607* endógeno regula los niveles de APC en las células del cerebro de hurón, asegurando la amplificación de las aRGC y el mantenimiento de su polaridad. Esta función puede garantizar la expansión temprana de la VZ antes de que el proceso de neurogénesis alcance su máximo, lo que conduce a la expansión cortical y su posible plegamiento.





### ANNEX I – AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTIONS

#### Poster presented at EMBO AND SENC conferences 2017


## Poster presented at FENS conference 2018



A PETER county study that show has a single attempt which is a single study of the single study attempt is single at the single study attempt attem

(in the descent sector of the sector of t



## REFERENCES

- Aaku-Saraste, E., Hellwig, A., & Huttner, W. B. (1996). Loss of occludin and functional tight junctions, but not ZO-1, during neural tube closure -Remodeling of the neuroepithelium prior to neurogenesis. *Developmental Biology*, *180*(2). https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1996.0336
- Agarwal, V., Bell, G. W., Nam, J. W., & Bartel, D. P. (2015). Predicting effective microRNA target sites in mammalian mRNAs. *ELife*, *4*(AUGUST2015). https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.05005
- Agirman, G., Broix, L., & Nguyen, L. (2017). Cerebral cortex development: an outside-in perspective. In *FEBS Letters* (Vol. 591, Issue 24). https://doi.org/10.1002/1873-3468.12924
- Ameres, S. L., Horwich, M. D., Hung, J. H., Xu, J., Ghildiyal, M., Weng, Z., & Zamore, P. D. (2010). Target RNA-directed trimming and tailing of small silencing RNAs. *Science*, 328(5985). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1187058
- 5. Anders, S., Pyl, P. T., & Huber, W. (2015). HTSeq-A Python framework to work with high-throughput sequencing data. *Bioinformatics*, *31*(2). https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btu638
- Angevine, J. B., & Sidman, R. L. (1961). Autoradiographic study of cell migration during histogenesis of cerebral cortex in the mouse. *Nature*, 192(4804). https://doi.org/10.1038/192766b0
- Arai, Y., Pulvers, J. N., Haffner, C., Schilling, B., Nüsslein, I., Calegari, F., & Huttner, W. B. (2011). Neural stem and progenitor cells shorten S-phase on commitment to neuron production. *Nature Communications*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1155
- 8. Arai, Y., & Taverna, E. (2017). Neural progenitor cell polarity and cortical development. In *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* (Vol. 11). https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2017.00384
- Arcila, M. L., Betizeau, M., Cambronne, X. A., Guzman, E., Doerflinger, N., Bouhallier, F., Zhou, H., Wu, B., Rani, N., Bassett, D. S., Borello, U., Huissoud, C., Goodman, R. H., Dehay, C., & Kosik, K. S. (2014). Novel primate miRNAs coevolved with ancient target genes in germinal zonespecific expression patterns. *Neuron*, *81*(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.01.017
- Babiarz, J. E., Hsu, R., Melton, C., Thomas, M., Ullian, E. M., & Blelloch, R. (2011). A role for noncanonical microRNAs in the mammalian brain revealed by phenotypic differences in Dgcr8 versus Dicer1 knockouts and small RNA sequencing. *RNA*, *17*(8). https://doi.org/10.1261/rna.2442211

- 11. Bachler, M., & Neubüser, A. (2001). Expression of members of the Fgf family and their receptors during midfacial development. *Mechanisms of Development*, *100*(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4773(00)00518-9
- Barca-Mayo, O., & De Pietri Tonelli, D. (2014). Convergent microRNA actions coordinate neocortical development. In *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* (Vol. 71, Issue 16). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-014-1576-5
- Bartel, D. P. (2004). MicroRNAs: Genomics, Biogenesis, Mechanism, and Function. In *Cell* (Vol. 116, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00045-5
- Behm-Ansmant, I., Rehwinkel, J., Doerks, T., Stark, A., Bork, P., & Izaurralde, E. (2006). mRNA degradation by miRNAs and GW182 requires both CCR4:NOT deadenylase and DCP1:DCP2 decapping complexes. *Genes* and Development, 20(14). https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1424106
- Belousov, L. V. (2011). Scott F. Gilbert—Developmental Biology, 2010, Sinauer Associates, Inc., Sunderland, MA Ninth Edition. *Russian Journal of Developmental Biology*, 42(5). https://doi.org/10.1134/s1062360411050043
- Bernstein, E., Kim, S. Y., Carmell, M. A., Murchison, E. P., Alcorn, H., Li, M. Z., Mills, A. A., Elledge, S. J., Anderson, K. V., & Hannon, G. J. (2003). Dicer is essential for mouse development. *Nature Genetics*, 35(3). https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1253
- Betizeau, M., Cortay, V., Patti, D., Pfister, S., Gautier, E., Bellemin-Menard, A., Afanassieff, M., Huissoud, C., Douglas, R. J., Kennedy, H., & Dehay, C. (2013). Precursor diversity and complexity of lineage relationships in the outer subventricular zone of the primate. *Neuron*, 80(2), 442–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2013.09.032 S0896-6273(13)00863-5 [pii]
- Bhaskaran, M., & Mohan, M. (2014). MicroRNAs: History, Biogenesis, and Their Evolving Role in Animal Development and Disease. *Veterinary Pathology*, 51(4). https://doi.org/10.1177/0300985813502820
- Bian, S., Hong, J., Li, Q., Schebelle, L., Pollock, A., Knauss, J. L., Garg, V., & Sun, T. (2013). MicroRNA Cluster miR-17-92 Regulates Neural Stem Cell Expansion and Transition to Intermediate Progenitors in the Developing Mouse Neocortex. *Cell Reports*, 3(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2013.03.037
- Biasiolo, M., Sales, G., Lionetti, M., Agnelli, L., Todoerti, K., Bisognin, A., Coppe, A., Romualdi, C., Neri, A., & Bortoluzzi, S. (2011). Impact of host genes and strand selection on miRNA and miRNA\* expression. *PLoS ONE*, *6*(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023854
- 21. Bindea, G., Mlecnik, B., Hackl, H., Charoentong, P., Tosolini, M., Kirilovsky, A., Fridman, W. H., Pagès, F., Trajanoski, Z., & Galon, J. (2009). ClueGO: A Cytoscape plug-in to decipher functionally grouped gene ontology and

pathway annotation networks. *Bioinformatics*, 25(8). https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btp101

- Blow, M. J., Grocock, R. J., van Dongen, S., Enright, A. J., Dicks, E., Futreal, P. A., Wooster, R., & Stratton, M. R. (2006). RNA editing of human microRNAs. *Genome Biology*, 7(4). https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2006-7-4-r27
- Bogerd, H. P., Karnowski, H. W., Cai, X., Shin, J., Pohlers, M., & Cullen, B. R. (2010). A Mammalian Herpesvirus Uses Noncanonical Expression and Processing Mechanisms to Generate Viral MicroRNAs. *Molecular Cell*, 37(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2009.12.016
- Boitard, M., Bocchi, R., Egervari, K., Petrenko, V., Viale, B., Gremaud, S., Zgraggen, E., Salmon, P., & Kiss, J. Z. (2015). Wnt signaling regulates multipolar-to-bipolar transition of migrating neurons in the cerebral cortex. *Cell Reports*, 10(8). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.01.061
- Bonev, B., Pisco, A., & Papalopulu, N. (2011). MicroRNA-9 Reveals Regional Diversity of Neural Progenitors along the Anterior-Posterior Axis. Developmental Cell, 20(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2010.11.018
- 26. Borchert, G. M., Lanier, W., & Davidson, B. L. (2006). RNA polymerase III transcribes human microRNAs. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, *13*(12). https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb1167
- 27. Borrell, V., & Calegari, F. (2014). Mechanisms of brain evolution: Regulation of neural progenitor cell diversity and cell cycle length. In *Neuroscience Research* (Vol. 86). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neures.2014.04.004
- Borrell, V., & Reillo, I. (2012). Emerging roles of neural stem cells in cerebral cortex development and evolution. *Developmental Neurobiology*, 72(7). https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.22013
- Boyle, E. I., Weng, S., Gollub, J., Jin, H., Botstein, D., Cherry, J. M., & Sherlock, G. (2004). GO::TermFinder - Open source software for accessing Gene Ontology information and finding significantly enriched Gene Ontology terms associated with a list of genes. *Bioinformatics*, 20(18). https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bth456
- Britanova, O., de Juan Romero, C., Cheung, A., Kwan, K. Y., Schwark, M., Gyorgy, A., Vogel, T., Akopov, S., Mitkovski, M., Agoston, D., Šestan, N., Molnár, Z., & Tarabykin, V. (2008). Satb2 Is a Postmitotic Determinant for Upper-Layer Neuron Specification in the Neocortex. *Neuron*, *57*(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2007.12.028
- Broix, L., Jagline, H., Ivanova, E. L., Schmucker, S., Drouot, N., Clayton-Smith, J., Pagnamenta, A. T., Metcalfe, K. A., Isidor, B., Louvier, U. W., Poduri, A., Taylor, J. C., Tilly, P., Poirier, K., Saillour, Y., Lebrun, N., Stemmelen, T., Rudolf, G., Muraca, G., ... Chelly, J. (2016). Mutations in the HECT domain of NEDD4L lead to AKT-mTOR pathway deregulation and

cause periventricular nodular heterotopia. *Nature Genetics*, *48*(11). https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3676

- Bulchand, S., Grove, E. A., Porter, F. D., & Tole, S. (2001). LIMhomeodomain gene Lhx2 regulates the formation of the cortical hem. *Mechanisms of Development*, 100(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4773(00)00515-3
- Camargo Ortega, G., Falk, S., Johansson, P. A., Peyre, E., Broix, L., Sahu, S. K., Hirst, W., Schlichthaerle, T., De Juan Romero, C., Draganova, K., Vinopal, S., Chinnappa, K., Gavranovic, A., Karakaya, T., Steininger, T., Merl-Pham, J., Feederle, R., Shao, W., Shi, S. H., ... Götz, M. (2019). The centrosome protein AKNA regulates neurogenesis via microtubule organization. *Nature*, *567*(7746). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-0962-4
- 34. Campbell, K., & Götz, M. (2002). Radial glia: Multi-purpose cells for vertebrate brain development. In *Trends in Neurosciences* (Vol. 25, Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(02)02156-2
- Cárdenas, A., & Borrell, V. (2020). Molecular and cellular evolution of corticogenesis in amniotes. In *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* (Vol. 77, Issue 8). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-019-03315-x
- Cárdenas, A., Villalba, A., de Juan Romero, C., Picó, E., Kyrousi, C., Tzika, A. C., Tessier-Lavigne, M., Ma, L., Drukker, M., Cappello, S., & Borrell, V. (2018). Evolution of Cortical Neurogenesis in Amniotes Controlled by Robo Signaling Levels. *Cell*, *174*(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.06.007
- Caviness, V. S., Takahashi, T., & Nowakowski, R. S. (1995). Numbers, time and neocortical neuronogenesis: a general developmental and evolutionary model. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 18(9). https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(95)93933-O
- Chaudhry, M. A., Omaruddin, R. A., Brumbaugh, C. D., Tariq, M. A., & Pourmand, N. (2013). Identification of radiation-Induced MicroRNA transcriptome by next-Generation massively parallel sequencing. *Journal of Radiation Research*, *54*(5). https://doi.org/10.1093/jrr/rrt014
- Chen, C. Y. A., Zheng, D., Xia, Z., & Shyu, A. Bin. (2009). Ago-TNRC6 triggers microRNA-mediated decay by promoting two deadenylation steps. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, 16(11). https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.1709
- 40. Chenn, A., & Walsh, C. A. (2002). Regulation of cerebral cortical size by control of cell cycle exit in neural precursors. *Science*, *297*(5580), 365–369.
- 41. Chenn, A., & Walsh, C. A. (2003). Increased neuronal production, enlarged forebrains and cytoarchitectural distortions in β-catenin overexpressing

transgenic mice. *Cerebral Cortex*, *13*(6). https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/13.6.599

- 42. Cherone, J. M., Jorgji, V., & Burge, C. B. (2019). Cotargeting among microRNAs in the brain. *Genome Research*, 29(11). https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.249201.119
- Christensen, M., Larsen, L. A., Kauppinen, S., & Schratt, G. (2010). Recombinant adeno-associated virus-mediated microRNA delivery into the postnatal mouse brain reveals a role for miR-134 in dendritogenesis in vivo. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, 3(JAN). https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.04.016.2009
- 44. Cifuentes, D., Xue, H., Taylor, D. W., Patnode, H., Mishima, Y., Cheloufi, S., Ma, E., Mane, S., Hannon, G. J., Lawson, N. D., Wolfe, S. A., & Giraldez, A. J. (2010). A novel miRNA processing pathway independent of dicer requires argonaute2 catalytic activity. *Science*, *328*(5986). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1190809
- Clovis, Y. M., Enard, W., Marinaro, F., Huttner, W. B., & de Pietri Tonelli, D. (2012). Convergent repression of Foxp2 3 UTR by miR-9 and miR-132 in embryonic mouse neocortex: Implications for radial migration of neurons. *Development (Cambridge)*, 139(18). https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.078063
- Dajas-Bailador, F., Bonev, B., Garcez, P., Stanley, P., Guillemot, F., & Papalopulu, N. (2012). MicroRNA-9 regulates axon extension and branching by targeting Map1b in mouse cortical neurons. *Nature Neuroscience*, *15*(5). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3082
- Davis, T. H., Cuellar, T. L., Koch, S. M., Barker, A. J., Harfe, B. D., McManus, M. T., & Ullian, E. M. (2008). Conditional loss of dicer disrupts cellular and tissue morphogenesis in the cortex and hippocampus. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *28*(17). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4815-07.2008
- De Chevigny, A., Coré, N., Follert, P., Gaudin, M., Barbry, P., Béclin, C., & Cremer, H. (2012). MiR-7a regulation of Pax6 controls spatial origin of forebrain dopaminergic neurons. *Nature Neuroscience*, 15(8). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3142
- 49. de Juan Romero, C., & Borrell, V. (2017). Genetic maps and patterns of cerebral cortex folding. In *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* (Vol. 49). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2017.11.009
- 50. De Juan Romero, C., & Borrell, V. (2015). Coevolution of radial glial cells and the cerebral cortex. *GLIA*, *63*(8). https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22827
- 51. de Juan Romero, C., Bruder, C., Tomasello, U., Sanz-Anquela, J. M., & Borrell, V. (2015). Discrete domains of gene expression in germinal layers distinguish the development of gyrencephaly. *The EMBO Journal*, *34*(14). https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201591176

- De Pietri Tonelli, D., Clovis, Y. M., & Huttner, W. B. (2014). Detection and monitoring of microRNA expression in developing mouse brain and fixed brain cryosections. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 1092. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60327-292-6\_3
- De Pietri Tonelli, D., Pulvers, J. N., Haffner, C., Murchison, E. P., Hannon, G. J., & Huttner, W. B. (2008). miRNAs are essential for survival and differentiation of newborn neurons but not for expansion of neural progenitors during early neurogenesis in the mouse embryonic neocortex. *Development*, 135(23). https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.025080
- 54. Dehay, C., Kennedy, H., & Kosik, K. S. (2015). The Outer Subventricular Zone and Primate-Specific Cortical Complexification. In *Neuron* (Vol. 85, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.12.060
- del Toro, D., Ruff, T., Cederfjäll, E., Villalba, A., Seyit-Bremer, G., Borrell, V., & Klein, R. (2017). Regulation of Cerebral Cortex Folding by Controlling Neuronal Migration via FLRT Adhesion Molecules. *Cell*, 169(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.04.012
- Delaloy, C., Liu, L., Lee, J. A., Su, H., Shen, F., Yang, G. Y., Young, W. L., Ivey, K. N., & Gao, F. B. (2010). MicroRNA-9 Coordinates Proliferation and Migration of Human Embryonic Stem Cell-Derived Neural Progenitors. *Cell Stem Cell*, 6(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2010.02.015
- Denli, A. M., Tops, B. B. J., Plasterk, R. H. A., Ketting, R. F., & Hannon, G. J. (2004). Processing of primary microRNAs by the Microprocessor complex. *Nature*, 432(7014). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03049
- 58. Diaz, J. L., Siththanandan, V. B., Lu, V., Gonzalez-Nava, N., Pasquina, L., MacDonald, J. L., Woodworth, M. B., Ozkan, A., Nair, R., He, Z., Sahni, V., Sarnow, P., Palmer, T. D., Macklis, J. D., & Tharin, S. (2020). An evolutionarily acquired microRNA shapes development of mammalian cortical projections. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *117*(46). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2006700117
- 59. Dickson, B. J. (2002). Molecular mechanisms of axon guidance. In *Science* (Vol. 298, Issue 5600). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1072165
- 60. Diederichs, S., & Haber, D. A. (2007). Dual Role for Argonautes in MicroRNA Processing and Posttranscriptional Regulation of MicroRNA Expression. *Cell*, 131(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.10.032
- Dou, W., Yang, M., Su, Y., & Xie, R. (2020). Dysregulation of miR-3607 predicts prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma and regulates tumor cell proliferation, migration and invasion. *Diagnostic Pathology*, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13000-020-00973-5

- Draganova, K., Zemke, M., Zurkirchen, L., Valenta, T., Cantù, C., Okoniewski, M., Schmid, M. T., Hoffmans, R., Götz, M., Basler, K., & Sommer, L. (2015). Wnt/β-catenin signaling regulates sequential fate decisions of murine cortical precursor cells. *Stem Cells*, 33(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1820
- Englund, C., Fink, A., Lau, C., Pham, D., Daza, R. A. M., Bulfone, A., Kowalczyk, T., & Hevner, R. F. (2005). Pax6, Tbr2, and Tbr1 are expressed sequentially by radial glia, intermediate progenitor cells, and postmitotic neurons in developing neocortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(1), 247–251.
- 64. Fame, R. M., MacDonald, J. L., & Macklis, J. D. (2011). Development, specification, and diversity of callosal projection neurons. In *Trends in Neurosciences* (Vol. 34, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2010.10.002
- 65. Fang, W. Q., Chen, W. W., Fu, A. K. Y., & Ip, N. Y. (2013). Axin directs the amplification and differentiation of intermediate progenitors in the developing cerebral cortex. *Neuron*, *79*(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2013.06.017
- 66. Farkas, L. M., & Huttner, W. B. (2008). The cell biology of neural stem and progenitor cells and its significance for their proliferation versus differentiation during mammalian brain development. In *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* (Vol. 20, Issue 6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2008.09.008
- 67. Fernández, V., Llinares-Benadero, C., & Borrell, V. (2016). Cerebral cortex expansion and folding: what have we learned? *The EMBO Journal*, *35*(10). https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201593701
- Fernández, V., Martínez-Martínez, M. Á., Prieto-Colomina, A., Cárdenas, A., Soler, R., Dori, M., Tomasello, U., Nomura, Y., López-Atalaya, J. P., Calegari, F., & Borrell, V. (2020). Repression of Irs2 by let-7 miRNAs is essential for homeostasis of the telencephalic neuroepithelium. *The EMBO Journal*, 39(21), e105479–e105479. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.2020105479
- 69. ffrench-Constant. (2008). The neural stem cell microenvironment. *StemBook*. https://doi.org/10.3824/stembook.1.15.1
- Fiddes, I. T., Lodewijk, G. A., Mooring, M., Bosworth, C. M., Ewing, A. D., Mantalas, G. L., Novak, A. M., van den Bout, A., Bishara, A., Rosenkrantz, J. L., Lorig-Roach, R., Field, A. R., Haeussler, M., Russo, L., Bhaduri, A., Nowakowski, T. J., Pollen, A. A., Dougherty, M. L., Nuttle, X., ... Haussler, D. (2018). Human-Specific NOTCH2NL Genes Affect Notch Signaling and Cortical Neurogenesis. *Cell*, *173*(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.03.051
- 71. Fietz, S. A., Kelava, I., Vogt, J., Wilsch-Bräuninger, M., Stenzel, D., Fish, J. L., Corbeil, D., Riehn, A., Distler, W., Nitsch, R., & Huttner, W. B. (2010). OSVZ progenitors of human and ferret neocortex are epithelial-like and expand by integrin signaling. *Nature Neuroscience*, *13*(6). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2553

- 72. Fietz, S. A., Lachmann, R., Brandl, H., Kircher, M., Samusik, N., Schroder, R., Lakshmanaperumal, N., Henry, I., Vogt, J., Riehn, A., Distler, W., Nitsch, R., Enard, W., Paäbo, S., & Huttner, W. B. (2012). Transcriptomes of germinal zones of human and mouse fetal neocortex suggest a role of extracellular matrix in progenitor self-renewal. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(29). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1209647109
- Fineberg, S. K., Kosik, K. S., & Davidson, B. L. (2009). MicroRNAs Potentiate Neural Development. In *Neuron* (Vol. 64, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2009.10.020
- 74. Florio, M., Albert, M., Taverna, E., Namba, T., Brandl, H., Lewitus, E., Haffner, C., Sykes, A., Wong, F. K., Peters, J., Guhr, E., Klemroth, S., Prüfer, K., Kelso, J., Naumann, R., Nüsslein, I., Dahl, A., Lachmann, R., Pääbo, S., & Huttner, W. B. (2015). Human-specific gene ARHGAP11B promotes basal progenitor amplification and neocortex expansion. *Science*, *347*(6229). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa1975
- Florio, M., Borrell, V., & Huttner, W. B. (2017). Human-specific genomic signatures of neocortical expansion. In *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* (Vol. 42). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2016.11.004
- 76. Florio, M., Heide, M., Pinson, A., Brandl, H., Albert, M., Winkler, S., Wimberger, P., Huttner, W. B., & Hiller, M. (2018). Evolution and cell-type specificity of human-specific genes preferentially expressed in progenitors of fetal neocortex. *ELife*, 7. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.32332
- 77. Francis, F., & Cappello, S. (2021). Neuronal migration and disorders an update. In *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* (Vol. 66). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2020.10.002
- Franco, S. J., Gil-Sanz, C., Martinez-Garay, I., Espinosa, A., Harkins-Perry, S. R., Ramos, C., & Müller, U. (2012). Fate-restricted neural progenitors in the mammalian cerebral cortex. *Science*, 337(6095). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1223616
- Fukao, A., Mishima, Y., Takizawa, N., Oka, S., Imataka, H., Pelletier, J., Sonenberg, N., Thoma, C., & Fujiwara, T. (2014). MicroRNAs trigger dissociation of eIF4AI and eIF4AII from target mRNAs in humans. *Molecular Cell*, 56(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2014.09.005
- Fukaya, T., Iwakawa, H. oki, & Tomari, Y. (2014). MicroRNAs block assembly of eIF4F translation initiation complex in drosophila. *Molecular Cell*, *56*(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2014.09.004
- Fukuchi-Shimogori, T., & Grove, E. A. (2001). Neocortex patterning by the secreted signaling molecute FGF8. *Science*, 294(5544). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1064252

- Fukuda, Y., Kawasaki, H., & Taira, K. (2005). Exploration of human miRNA target genes in neuronal differentiation. *Nucleic Acids Symposium Series* (2004), 49. https://doi.org/10.1093/nass/49.1.341
- 83. Furuta, Y., Piston, D. W., & Hogan, B. L. M. (1997). Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) as regulators of dorsal forebrain development. *Development*, *124*(11). https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.124.11.2203
- 84. Gan, Q., Lee, A., Suzuki, R., Yamagami, T., Stokes, A., Nguyen, B. C., Pleasure, D., Wang, J., Chen, H. W., & Zhou, C. J. (2014). Pax6 mediates β-catenin signaling for self-renewal and neurogenesis by neocortical radial glial stem cells. *Stem Cells*, *32*(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1561
- 85. Gao, F. B. (2010). Context-dependent functions of specific microRNAs in neuronal development. *Neural Development*, *5*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1749-8104-5-25
- Gaughwin, P., Ciesla, M., Yang, H., Lim, B., & Brundin, P. (2011). Stagespecific modulation of cortical neuronal development by Mmu-miR-134. *Cerebral Cortex*, *21*(8). https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhq262
- Gebert, L. F. R., & MacRae, I. J. (2019). Regulation of microRNA function in animals. In *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* (Vol. 20, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-018-0045-7
- Gertz, C. C., & Kriegstein, A. R. (2015). Neuronal migration dynamics in the developing ferret cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(42). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2198-15.2015
- Ghosh, T., Aprea, J., Nardelli, J., Engel, H., Selinger, C., Mombereau, C., Lemonnier, T., Moutkine, I., Schwendimann, L., Dori, M., Irinopoulou, T., Henrion-Caude, A., Benecke, A. G., Arnold, S. J., Gressens, P., Calegari, F., & Groszer, M. (2014). MicroRNAs Establish Robustness and Adaptability of a Critical Gene Network to Regulate Progenitor Fate Decisions during Cortical Neurogenesis. *Cell Reports*, 7(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2014.05.029
- 90. Götz M, H. W. (2005). Gotz and Huttner. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol., 6(10).
- Götz, M. (2003). Glial cells generate neurons Master control within CNS regions: Developmental perspectives on neural stem cells. In *Neuroscientist* (Vol. 9, Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858403257138
- Götz, M., Hartfuss, E., & Malatesta, P. (2002). Radial glial cells as neuronal precursors: A new perspective on the correlation of morphology and lineage restriction in the developing cerebral cortex of mice. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 57(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0361-9230(01)00777-8

- 93. Götz, M., & Huttner, W. B. (2005). The cell biology of neurogenesis. In Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology (Vol. 6, Issue 10). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1739
- 94. Götz, M., Stoykova, A., & Gruss, P. (1998). Pax6 controls radial glia differentiation in the cerebral cortex. *Neuron*, *21*(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80621-2
- 95. Gregory, R. I., Chendrimada, T. P., Cooch, N., & Shiekhattar, R. (2005). Human RISC couples microRNA biogenesis and posttranscriptional gene silencing. *Cell*, *123*(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.10.022
- 96. Gregory, R. I., Yan, K. P., Amuthan, G., Chendrimada, T., Doratotaj, B., Cooch, N., & Shiekhattar, R. (2004). The Microprocessor complex mediates the genesis of microRNAs. *Nature*, 432(7014). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03120
- 97. Grimson, A., Farh, K. K. H., Johnston, W. K., Garrett-Engele, P., Lim, L. P., & Bartel, D. P. (2007). MicroRNA Targeting Specificity in Mammals: Determinants beyond Seed Pairing. *Molecular Cell*, 27(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2007.06.017
- 98. Guarnieri, F. C., De Chevigny, A., Falace, A., & Cardoso, C. (2018). Disorders of neurogenesis and cortical development. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *20*(4). https://doi.org/10.31887/dcns.2018.20.4/ccardoso
- 99. Guo, H., Ingolia, N. T., Weissman, J. S., & Bartel, D. P. (2010). Mammalian microRNAs predominantly act to decrease target mRNA levels. *Nature*, 466(7308). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09267
- 100. Guo, Y., Liu, J., Elfenbein, S. J., Ma, Y., Zhong, M., Qiu, C., Ding, Y., & Lu, J. (2015). Characterization of the mammalian miRNA turnover landscape. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 43(4). https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv057
- 101. Gutiérrez-Vázquez, C., Enright, A. J., Rodríguez-Galán, A., Pérez-García, A., Collier, P., Jones, M. R., Benes, V., Mizgerd, J. P., Mittelbrunn, M., Ramiro, A. R., & Sánchez-Madrid, F. (2017). 3' Uridylation controls mature microRNA turnover during CD4 T-cell activation. *RNA*, 23(6). https://doi.org/10.1261/rna.060095.116
- 102. Halfter, W., Dong, S., Yip, Y. P., Willem, M., & Mayer, U. (2002). A critical function of the pial basement membrane in cortical histogenesis. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(14). https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.22-14-06029.2002
- 103. Han, J., Lee, Y., Yeom, K. H., Nam, J. W., Heo, I., Rhee, J. K., Sohn, S. Y., Cho, Y., Zhang, B. T., & Kim, V. N. (2006). Molecular Basis for the Recognition of Primary microRNAs by the Drosha-DGCR8 Complex. *Cell*, 125(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.03.043

- 104. Han, J., Lee, Y., Yeom, K. H., Kim, Y. K., Jin, H., & Kim, V. N. (2004). The Drosha-DGCR8 complex in primary microRNA processing. *Genes and Development*, *18*(24). https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1262504
- 105. Hansen, D. V., Lui, J. H., Parker, P. R. L., & Kriegstein, A. R. (2010). Neurogenic radial glia in the outer subventricular zone of human neocortex. *Nature*, 464(7288), 554–561. https://doi.org/nature08845 [pii] 10.1038/nature08845
- 106. Haraguchi, T., Ozaki, Y., & Iba, H. (2009). Vectors expressing efficient RNA decoys achieve the long-term suppression of specific microRNA activity in mammalian cells. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 37(6). https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkp040
- Haussecker, D., Huang, Y., Lau, A., Parameswaran, P., Fire, A. Z., & Kay, M. A. (2010). Human tRNA-derived small RNAs in the global regulation of RNA silencing. *RNA*, *16*(4). https://doi.org/10.1261/rna.2000810
- 108. He, M., Liu, Y., Wang, X., Zhang, M. Q., Hannon, G. J., & Huang, Z. J. (2012). Cell-Type-Based Analysis of MicroRNA Profiles in the Mouse Brain. *Neuron*, 73(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.11.010
- 109. Hébert, J. M., Mishina, Y., & McConnell, S. K. (2002). BMP signaling is required locally to pattern the dorsal telencephalic midline. *Neuron*, *35*(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00900-5
- 110. Heimberg, A. M., Sempere, L. F., Moy, V. N., Donoghue, P. C. J., & Peterson, K. J. (2008). MicroRNAs and the advent of vertebrate morphological complexity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 105(8). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0712259105
- 111. Helwak, A., Kudla, G., Dudnakova, T., & Tollervey, D. (2013). Mapping the human miRNA interactome by CLASH reveals frequent noncanonical binding. *Cell*, *153*(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.03.043
- 112. Herrera, A., Saade, M., Menendez, A., Marti, E., & Pons, S. (2014). Sustained Wnt/β-catenin signalling causes neuroepithelial aberrations through the accumulation of aPKC at the apical pole. *Nature Communications*, 5. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms5168
- 113. Hirabayashi, Y., Itoh, Y., Tabata, H., Nakajima, K., Akiyama, T., Masuyama, N., & Gotoh, Y. (2004). The Wnt/β-catenin pathway directs neuronal differentation of cortical neural precursor cells. *Development*, 131(12), 2791–2801. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01165
- 114. Huang, D. W., Sherman, B. T., Zheng, X., Yang, J., Imamichi, T., Stephens, R., & Lempicki, R. A. (2009). Extracting biological meaning from large gene lists with DAVID. In *Current Protocols in Bioinformatics* (Issue SUPPL. 27). https://doi.org/10.1002/0471250953.bi1311s27

- 115. Ihaka, R., & Gentleman, R. (1996). R: A Language for Data Analysis and Graphics. *Journal of Computational and Graphical Statistics*, *5*(3). https://doi.org/10.1080/10618600.1996.10474713
- 116. Iso, T., Kedes, L., & Hamamori, Y. (2003). HES and HERP families: Multiple effectors of the Notch signaling pathway. In *Journal of Cellular Physiology* (Vol. 194, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.10208
- 117. Ivaniutsin, U., Chen, Y., Mason, J. O., Price, D. J., & Pratt, T. (2009). Adenomatous polyposis coli is required for early events in the normal growth and differentiation of the developing cerebral cortex. *Neural Development*, *4*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1749-8104-4-3
- 118. Johansson, P. A., Cappello, S., & Götz, M. (2010). Stem cells niches during development-lessons from the cerebral cortex. In *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* (Vol. 20, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2010.04.003
- 119. Jones, M. R., Quinton, L. J., Blahna, M. T., Neilson, J. R., Fu, S., Ivanov, A. R., Wolf, D. A., & Mizgerd, J. P. (2009). Zcchc11-dependent uridylation of microRNA directs cytokine expression. *Nature Cell Biology*, *11*(9). https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1931
- 120. Jovičić, A., Roshan, R., Moisoi, N., Pradervand, S., Moser, R., Pillai, B., & Luthi-Carter, R. (2013). Comprehensive expression analyses of neural celltype-specific miRNAs identify new determinants of the specification and maintenance of neuronal phenotypes. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 158(6). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0600-12.2013
- 121. Justice, N. J., & Jan, Y. N. (2002). Variations on the Notch pathway in neural development. In *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* (Vol. 12, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(02)00291-X
- 122. Kalebic, N., Gilardi, C., Stepien, B., Wilsch-Bräuninger, M., Long, K. R., Namba, T., Florio, M., Langen, B., Lombardot, B., Shevchenko, A., Kilimann, M. W., Kawasaki, H., Wimberger, P., & Huttner, W. B. (2019). Neocortical Expansion Due to Increased Proliferation of Basal Progenitors Is Linked to Changes in Their Morphology. *Cell Stem Cell*, 24(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2019.02.017
- 123. Katoh, T., Hojo, H., & Suzuki, T. (2015). Destabilization of microRNAs in human cells by 3' deadenylation mediated by PARN and CUGBP1. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *43*(15). https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv669
- 124. Katoh, T., Sakaguchi, Y., Miyauchi, K., Suzuki, T., Suzuki, T., Kashiwabara, S. I., & Baba, T. (2009). Selective stabilization of mammalian microRNAs by 3' adenylation mediated by the cytoplasmic poly(A) polymerase GLD-2. *Genes and Development*, 23(4). https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1761509
- 125. Kawahara, Y., Megraw, M., Kreider, E., Iizasa, H., Valente, L., Hatzigeorgiou, A. G., & Nishikura, K. (2008). Frequency and fate of

microRNA editing in human brain. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *36*(16). https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkn479

- 126. Kawase-Koga, Y., Otaegi, G., & Sun, T. (2009). Different timings of dicer deletion affect neurogenesis and gliogenesis in the developing mouse central nervous system. *Developmental Dynamics*, 238(11). https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.22109
- 127. Kelava, I., Reillo, I., Murayama, A. Y., Kalinka, A. T., Stenzel, D., Tomancak, P., Matsuzaki, F., Lebrand, C., Sasaki, E., Schwamborn, J. C., Okano, H., Huttner, W. B., & Borrell, V. (2012). Abundant occurrence of basal radial glia in the subventricular zone of embryonic neocortex of a lissencephalic primate, the common marmoset callithrix jacchus. In *Cerebral Cortex* (Vol. 22, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhr301
- 128. Ketting, R. F., Fischer, S. E. J., Bernstein, E., Sijen, T., Hannon, G. J., & Plasterk, R. H. A. (2001). Dicer functions in RNA interference and in synthesis of small RNA involved in developmental timing in C. elegans. *Genes and Development*, 15(20). https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.927801
- 129. Khvorova, A., Reynolds, A., & Jayasena, S. D. (2003). Functional siRNAs and miRNAs exhibit strand bias. *Cell*, *115*(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00801-8
- 130. Kim, D. H., Marinov, G. K., Pepke, S., Singer, Z. S., He, P., Williams, B., Schroth, G. P., Elowitz, M. B., & Wold, B. J. (2015). Single-cell transcriptome analysis reveals dynamic changes in IncRNA expression during reprogramming. *Cell Stem Cell*, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2014.11.005
- 131. Kim, D., Sung, Y. M., Park, J., Kim, S., Kim, J., Park, J., Ha, H., Bae, J. Y., Kim, S., & Baek, D. (2016). General rules for functional microRNA targeting. *Nature Genetics*, 48(12). https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3694
- 132. Kim, J., Inoue, K., Ishii, J., Vanti, W. B., Voronov, S. V., Murchison, E., Hannon, G., & Abeliovich, A. (2007). A microRNA feedback circuit in midbrain dopamine neurons. *Science*, 317(5842). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1140481
- 133. Kim, Y. K., Kim, B., & Kim, V. N. (2016). Re-evaluation of the roles of DROSHA, Exportin 5, and DICER in microRNA biogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113(13). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1602532113
- 134. Kim, Y. K., & Kim, V. N. (2007). Processing of intronic microRNAs. *EMBO Journal*, *26*(3). https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601512
- 135. Kloosterman, W. P., & Plasterk, R. H. A. (2006). The Diverse Functions of MicroRNAs in Animal Development and Disease. In *Developmental Cell* (Vol. 11, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2006.09.009

- 136. Knuckles, P., Vogt, M. A., Lugert, S., Milo, M., Chong, M. M. W., Hautbergue, G. M., Wilson, S. A., Littman, D. R., & Taylor, V. (2012). Drosha regulates neurogenesis by controlling Neurogenin 2 expression independent of microRNAs. *Nature Neuroscience*, *15*(7). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3139
- 137. Komada, M., Iguchi, T., Takeda, T., Ishibashi, M., & Sato, M. (2013). Smoothened controls cyclin D2 expression and regulates the generation of intermediate progenitors in the developing cortex. *Neuroscience Letters*, 547. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2013.05.006
- 138. Kon, E., Cossard, A., & Jossin, Y. (2017). Neuronal polarity in the embryonic mammalian cerebral cortex. In *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* (Vol. 11). https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2017.00163
- 139. Kos, A., Olde Loohuis, N., Meinhardt, J., van Bokhoven, H., Kaplan, B. B., Martens, G. J., & Aschrafi, A. (2016). MicroRNA-181 promotes synaptogenesis and attenuates axonal outgrowth in cortical neurons. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 73(18). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-016-2179-0
- 140. Kosodo, Y., & Huttner, W. B. (2009). Basal process and cell divisions of neural progenitors in the developing brain. In *Development Growth and Differentiation* (Vol. 51, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-169X.2009.01101.x
- 141. Kosodo, Y., Toida, K., Dubreuil, V., Alexandre, P., Schenk, J., Kiyokage, E., Attardo, A., Mora-Bermúdez, F., Arii, T., Clarke, J. D. W., & Huttner, W. B. (2008). Cytokinesis of neuroepithelial cells can divide their basal process before anaphase. *EMBO Journal*, 27(23). https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2008.227
- 142. Krichevsky, A. M., King, K. S., Donahue, C. P., Khrapko, K., & Kosik, K. S. (2003). A microRNA array reveals extensive regulation of microRNAs during brain development. *RNA*, 9(10). https://doi.org/10.1261/rna.5980303
- 143. Kriegstein, A. R., & Götz, M. (2003). Radial glia diversity: A matter of cell fate. *GLIA*, *43*(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.10250
- 144. Krol, J., Busskamp, V., Markiewicz, I., Stadler, M. B., Ribi, S., Richter, J., Duebel, J., Bicker, S., Fehling, H. J., Schübeler, D., Oertner, T. G., Schratt, G., Bibel, M., Roska, B., & Filipowicz, W. (2010). Characterizing Light-Regulated Retinal MicroRNAs Reveals Rapid Turnover as a Common Property of Neuronal MicroRNAs. *Cell*, 141(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.03.039
- 145. Kuang, Y., Liu, Q., Shu, X., Zhang, C., Huang, N., Li, J., Jiang, M., & Li, H. (2012). Dicer1 and MiR-9 are required for proper Notch1 signaling and the Bergmann glial phenotype in the developing mouse cerebellum. *GLIA*, 60(11). https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22392

- 146. Kumar, V., Zhang, M. X., Swank, M. W., Kunz, J., & Wu, G. Y. (2005). Regulation of dendritic morphogenesis by Ras-PI3K-Akt-mTOR and Ras-MAPK signaling pathways. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(49). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2284-05.2005
- 147. Lancaster, M. A., & Knoblich, J. A. (2014). Generation of cerebral organoids from human pluripotent stem cells. *Nature Protocols*, *9*(10). https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2014.158
- 148. Lee, R. C., Feinbaum, R. L., & Ambros, V. (1993). The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell*, 75(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(93)90529-Y
- 149. Lee, Y., Kim, M., Han, J., Yeom, K. H., Lee, S., Baek, S. H., & Kim, V. N. (2004). MicroRNA genes are transcribed by RNA polymerase II. *EMBO Journal*, 23(20). https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7600385
- 150. Lei, L., Zhao, X., Liu, S., Cao, Q., Yan, B., & Yang, J. (2019). MicroRNA-3607 inhibits the tumorigenesis of colorectal cancer by targeting DDI2 and regulating the DNA damage repair pathway. *Apoptosis*, 24(7–8). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-019-01549-5
- 151. Leone, D. P., Srinivasan, K., Chen, B., Alcamo, E., & McConnell, S. K. (2008). The determination of projection neuron identity in the developing cerebral cortex. In *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* (Vol. 18, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2008.05.006
- 152. Li, W., Cogswell, C. A., & LoTurco, J. J. (1998). Neuronal differentiation of precursors in the neocortical ventricular zone is triggered by BMP. *Journal* of *Neuroscience*, 18(21). https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.18-21-08853.1998
- 153. Li, Y. H., Werner, H., & Püschel, A. W. (2008). Rheb and mTOR regulate neuronal polarity through Rap1B. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(48). https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M802431200
- 154. Lin, Y., Gu, Q., Sun, Z., Sheng, B., Qi, C., Liu, B., Fu, T., Liu, C., & Zhang, Y. (2017). Upregulation of miR-3607 promotes lung adenocarcinoma proliferation by suppressing APC expression. *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy*, 95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2017.08.052
- 155. Linney, E., & La Mantia, A. S. (1994). Retinoid signaling in mouse EMBRYOS. Advances in Developmental Biology (1992), 3(C). https://doi.org/10.1016/s1566-3116(08)60007-9
- 156. Liu, J., Liu, W., Yang, L., Wu, Q., Zhang, H., Fang, A., Li, L., Xu, X., Sun, L., Zhang, J., Tang, F., & Wang, X. (2017). The Primate-Specific Gene TMEM14B Marks Outer Radial Glia Cells and Promotes Cortical Expansion

and Folding. *Cell Stem Cell*, *21*(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2017.08.013

- 157. Llinares-Benadero, C., & Borrell, V. (2019). Deconstructing cortical folding: genetic, cellular and mechanical determinants. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 20(3), 161–176. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-018-0112-2
- 158. Love, M. I., Huber, W., & Anders, S. (2014). Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biology*, *15*(12). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-014-0550-8
- 159. Lukaszewicz, A., Savatier, P., Cortay, V., Giroud, P., Huissoud, C., Berland, M., Kennedy, H., & Dehay, C. (2005). G1 phase regulation, area-specific cell cycle control, and cytoarchitectonics in the primate cortex. *Neuron*, 47(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.06.032
- 160. Lv, X., Jiang, H., Liu, Y., Lei, X., & Jiao, J. (2014). Micro RNA -15b promotes neurogenesis and inhibits neural progenitor proliferation by directly repressing TET 3 during early neocortical development . *EMBO Reports*, 15(12). https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201438923
- 161. Machon, O., Backman, M., Machonova, O., Kozmik, Z., Vacik, T., Andersen, L., & Krauss, S. (2007). A dynamic gradient of Wnt signaling controls initiation of neurogenesis in the mammalian cortex and cellular specification in the hippocampus. *Developmental Biology*, 311(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2007.08.038
- 162. MacRae, I. J., Ma, E., Zhou, M., Robinson, C. V., & Doudna, J. A. (2008). In vitro reconstitution of the human RISC-loading complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105(2). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0710869105
- 163. Malatesta, P., Hartfuss, E., & Götz, M. (2000). Isolation of radial glial cells by fluorescent-activated cell sorting reveals a neural lineage. *Development*, 127(24). https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.127.24.5253
- 164. Manuel, M. N., Mi, D., Masonand, J. O., & Price, D. J. (2015). Regulation of cerebral cortical neurogenesis by the Pax6 transcription factor. In *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* (Vol. 9). https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2015.00070
- 165. Marinaro, F., Marzi, M. J., Hoffmann, N., Amin, H., Pelizzoli, R., Niola, F., Nicassio, F., & De Pietri Tonelli, D. (2017). MicroRNA-independent functions of DGCR8 are essential for neocortical development and TBR1 expression. *EMBO Reports*, 18(4). https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201642800
- 166. Martínez-Martínez, M. Á., De Juan Romero, C., Fernández, V., Cárdenas, A., Götz, M., & Borrell, V. (2016). A restricted period for formation of outer subventricular zone defined by Cdh1 and Trnp1 levels. *Nature Communications*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms11812

- 167. Martínez-Martínez, M., Ciceri, G., Espinós, A., Fernández, V., Marín, O., & Borrell, V. (2019). Extensive branching of radially-migrating neurons in the mammalian cerebral cortex. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *527*(10). https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.24597
- 168. Masuda, K., Toda, T., Shinmyo, Y., Ebisu, H., Hoshiba, Y., Wakimoto, M., Ichikawa, Y., & Kawasaki, H. (2015). Pathophysiological analyses of cortical malformation using gyrencephalic mammals. *Scientific Reports*, *5*. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep15370
- 169. Mathys, H., Basquin, J. Ô., Ozgur, S., Czarnocki-Cieciura, M., Bonneau, F., Aartse, A., Dziembowski, A., Nowotny, M., Conti, E., & Filipowicz, W. (2014). Structural and Biochemical Insights to the Role of the CCR4-NOT Complex and DDX6 ATPase in MicroRNA Repression. *Molecular Cell*, *54*(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2014.03.036
- 170. McKenna, W. L., Ortiz-Londono, C. F., Mathew, T. K., Hoang, K., Katzman, S., & Chen, B. (2015). Mutual regulation between Satb2 and Fezf2 promotes subcerebral projection neuron identity in the developing cerebral cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *112*(37). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1504144112
- McLoughlin, H. S., Fineberg, S. K., Ghosh, L. L., Tecedor, L., & Davidson, B. L. (2012). Dicer is required for proliferation, viability, migration and differentiation in corticoneurogenesis. *Neuroscience*, 223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.08.009
- 172. Meijer, H. A., Kong, Y. W., Lu, W. T., Wilczynska, A., Spriggs, R. V., Robinson, S. W., Godfrey, J. D., Willis, A. E., & Bushell, M. (2013). Translational repression and eIF4A2 activity are critical for microRNAmediated gene regulation. *Science*, *340*(6128). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1231197
- 173. Miyoshi, K., Miyoshi, T., & Siomi, H. (2010). Many ways to generate microRNA-like small RNAs: Non-canonical pathways for microRNA production. In *Molecular Genetics and Genomics* (Vol. 284, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00438-010-0556-1
- 174. Molyneaux, B. J., Arlotta, P., Menezes, J. R. L., & Macklis, J. D. (2007). Neuronal subtype specification in the cerebral cortex. In *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* (Vol. 8, Issue 6). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2151
- 175. Montiel, J. F., Vasistha, N. A., Garcia-Moreno, F., & Molnár, Z. (2016). From sauropsids to mammals and back: New approaches to comparative cortical development. In *Journal of Comparative Neurology* (Vol. 524, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.23871
- 176. Moon, J. S., Hisata, S., Park, M. A., DeNicola, G. M., Ryter, S. W., Nakahira, K., & Choi, A. M. K. (2015). MTORC1-Induced HK1-Dependent Glycolysis

Regulates NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation. *Cell Reports*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.05.046

- 177. Moreau, M. P., Bruse, S. E., Jornsten, R., Liu, Y., & Brzustowicz, L. M. (2013). Chronological Changes in MicroRNA Expression in the Developing Human Brain. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0060480
- 178. Mutch, C. A., Funatsu, N., Monuki, E. S., & Chenn, A. (2009). β-catenin signaling levels in progenitors influence the laminar cell fates of projection neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(43). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3022-09.2009
- 179. Mutch, C. A., Schulte, J. D., Olson, E., & Chenn, A. (2010). Beta-catenin signaling negatively regulates intermediate progenitor population numbers in the developing cortex. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0012376
- 180. Muzio, L., DiBenedetto, B., Stoykova, A., Boncinelli, E., Gruss, P., & Mallamaci, A. (2002). Conversion of cerebral cortex into basal ganglia in Emx2-/- Pax6Sey/Sey double-mutant mice. *Nature Neuroscience*, 5(8). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn892
- 181. Muzio, L., & Mallamaci, A. (2005). Foxg1 confines Cajal-Retzius neuronogenesis and hippocampal morphogenesis to the dorsomedial pallium. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(17). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4804-04.2005
- 182. Nadarajah, B., Brunstrom, J. E., Grutzendler, J., Wong, R. O. L., & Pearlman, A. L. (2001). Two modes of radial migration in early development of the cerebral cortex. *Nature Neuroscience*, 4(2). https://doi.org/10.1038/83967
- 183. Nakagawa, N., Li, J., Yabuno-Nakagawa, K., Eom, T. Y., Cowles, M., Mapp, T., Taylor, R., & Anton, E. S. (2017). APC sets the Wnt tone necessary for cerebral cortical progenitor development. *Genes and Development*, 31(16). https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.302679.117
- 184. Needhamsen, M., White, R. B., Giles, K. M., Dunlop, S. A., & Thomas, M. G. (2014). Regulation of human PAX6 expression by miR-7. *Evolutionary Bioinformatics*, 10. https://doi.org/10.4137/EBO.S13739
- 185. Neilsen, C. T., Goodall, G. J., & Bracken, C. P. (2012). IsomiRs The overlooked repertoire in the dynamic microRNAome. In *Trends in Genetics* (Vol. 28, Issue 11). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2012.07.005
- 186. Nielsen, J. A., Lau, P., Maric, D., Barker, J. L., & Hudson, L. D. (2009). Integrating microRNA and mRNA expression profiles of neuronal progenitors to identify regulatory networks underlying the onset of cortical neurogenesis. *BMC Neuroscience*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-10-98

- 187. Nieto, M., Monuki, E. S., Tang, H., Imitola, J., Haubst, N., Khoury, S. J., Cunningham, J., Gotz, M., & Walsh, C. A. (2004). Expression of Cux-1 and Cux-2 in the subventricular zone and upper layers II-IV of the cerebral cortex. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 479(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.20322
- 188. Nieto, M., Schuurmans, C., Britz, O., & Guillemot, F. (2001). Neural bHLH genes control the neuronal versus glial fate decision in cortical progenitors. *Neuron*, *29*(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00214-8
- 189. Nishikura, K. (2016). A-to-I editing of coding and non-coding RNAs by ADARs. In *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* (Vol. 17, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2015.4
- 190. Noctor, S. C., Flint, A. C., Weissman, T. A., Wong, W. S., Clinton, B. K., & Kriegstein, A. R. (2002). Dividing precursor cells of the embryonic cortical ventricular zone have morphological and molecular characteristics of radial glia. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(8). https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.22-08-03161.2002
- Nonaka-Kinoshita, M., Reillo, I., Artegiani, B., Ángeles Martínez-Martínez, M., Nelson, M., Borrell, V., & Calegari, F. (2013). Regulation of cerebral cortex size and folding by expansion of basal progenitors. *EMBO Journal*, 32(13). https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2013.96
- 192. Nowakowski, T. J., Rani, N., Golkaram, M., Zhou, H. R., Alvarado, B., Huch, K., West, J. A., Leyrat, A., Pollen, A. A., Kriegstein, A. R., Petzold, L. R., & Kosik, K. S. (2018). Regulation of cell-type-specific transcriptomes by microRNA networks during human brain development. *Nature Neuroscience*, 21(12). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0265-3
- 193. Nowakowski, T. J., Fotaki, V., Pollock, A., Sun, T., Pratt, T., & Price, D. J. (2013). MicroRNA-92b regulates the development of intermediate cortical progenitors in embryonic mouse brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 110(17). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1219385110
- 194. Nowakowski, T. J., Mysiak, K. S., Pratt, T., & Price, D. J. (2011). Functional dicer is necessary for appropriate specification of radial glia during early development of mouse telencephalon. *PLoS ONE*, *6*(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023013
- Oberst, P., Fièvre, S., Baumann, N., Concetti, C., Bartolini, G., & Jabaudon, D. (2019). Temporal plasticity of apical progenitors in the developing mouse neocortex. *Nature*, *573*(7774). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1515-6
- 196. O'Brien, J., Hayder, H., Zayed, Y., & Peng, C. (2018). Overview of microRNA biogenesis, mechanisms of actions, and circulation. In *Frontiers in Endocrinology* (Vol. 9, Issue AUG, p. 402). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2018.00402

- 197. Okamura, K., Hagen, J. W., Duan, H., Tyler, D. M., & Lai, E. C. (2007). The Mirtron Pathway Generates microRNA-Class Regulatory RNAs in Drosophila. *Cell*, *130*(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.06.028
- 198. Orlova, K. A., Parker, W. E., Heuer, G. G., Tsai, V., Yoon, J., Baybis, M., Fenning, R. S., Strauss, K., & Crino, P. B. (2010). STRADα deficiency results in aberrant mTORC1 signaling during corticogenesis in humans and mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *120*(5). https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI41592
- 199. Packer, A. N., Xing, Y., Harper, S. Q., Jones, L., & Davidson, B. L. (2008). The bifunctional microRNA miR-9/miR-9\* regulates REST and CoREST and is downregulated in Huntington's disease. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 28(53), 14341–14346. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2390-08.2008
- 200. Panchision, D. M., Pickel, J. M., Studer, L., Lee, S. H., Turner, P. A., Hazel, T. G., & McKay, R. D. G. (2001). Sequential actions of BMP receptors control neural precursor cell production and fate. *Genes and Development*, 15(16). https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.894701
- 201. Park, S. Y., Lee, J. H., Ha, M., Nam, J. W., & Kim, V. N. (2009). miR-29 miRNAs activate p53 by targeting p85α and CDC42. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, *16*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.1533
- 202. Parker, W. E., Orlova, K. A., Baybis, M., Chi, A. W. S., Berg, B. D., Birnbaum, J. F., Estevez, J., Okochi, K., Sarnat, H. B., Flores-Sarnat, L., Aronica, E., & Crino, P. B. (2014). Fetal brain mTOR signaling activation in tuberous sclerosis complex victoria tsai1. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24(2). https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhs310
- 203. Pasquinelli, A. E., Reinhart, B. J., Slack, F., Martindale, M. Q., Kuroda, M. I., Maller, B., Hayward, D. C., Ball, E. E., Degnan, B., Müller, P., Spring, J., Srinivasan, A., Fishman, M., Finnerty, J., Corbo, J., Levine, M., Leahy, P., Davidson, E., & Ruvkun, G. (2000). Conservation of the sequence and temporal expression of let-7 heterochronic regulatory RNA. *Nature*, 408(6808). https://doi.org/10.1038/35040556
- 204. Patzke, C., Acuna, C., Giam, L. R., Wernig, M., & Südhof, T. C. (2016). Conditional deletion of L1CAM in human neurons impairs both axonal and dendritic arborization and action potential generation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *213*(4). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20150951
- 205. Penisson, M., Ladewig, J., Belvindrah, R., & Francis, F. (2019). Genes and Mechanisms Involved in the Generation and Amplification of Basal Radial Glial Cells. 13(August), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2019.00381
- 206. Pollen, A. A., Nowakowski, T. J., Chen, J., Retallack, H., Sandoval-Espinosa, C., Nicholas, C. R., Shuga, J., Liu, S. J., Oldham, M. C., Diaz, A., Lim, D. A., Leyrat, A. A., West, J. A., & Kriegstein, A. R. (2015). Molecular

Identity of Human Outer Radial Glia during Cortical Development. *Cell*, *163*(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.09.004

- 207. Pöschl, J., Grammel, D., Dorostkar, M. M., Kretzschmar, H. A., & Schüller, U. (2013). Constitutive activation of B-Catenin in neural progenitors results in disrupted proliferation and migration of neurons within the central nervous system. *Developmental Biology*, 374(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2012.12.001
- Prodromidou, K., Vlachos, I. S., Gaitanou, M., Kouroupi, G., Hatzigeorgiou, A. G., & Matsas, R. (2020). MicroRNA-934 is a novel primate-specific small non-coding RNA with neurogenic function during early development. *ELife*, 9. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.50561
- 209. Purves, D., Augustine, G. J., & Fitzpatrick, D. (2012). Neuroscience, 5th EditPurves, D., Augustine, G. J., & Fitzpatrick, D. (2012). Neuroscience, 5th Edition. Nature Reviews Neuroscience. http://doi.org/978-0878937257ion. In *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*.
- 210. Qureshi, I. A., & Mehler, M. F. (2012). Emerging roles of non-coding RNAs in brain evolution, development, plasticity and disease. In *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* (Vol. 13, Issue 8). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3234
- 211. Radhakrishnan, B., & Alwin Prem Anand, A. (2016). Role of miRNA-9 in brain development. In *Journal of Experimental Neuroscience* (Vol. 2016, Issue 10). https://doi.org/10.4137/JEn.s32843
- 212. Rago, L., Beattie, R., Taylor, V., & Winter, J. (2014). MiR379-410 cluster miRNAs regulate neurogenesis and neuronal migration by fine-tuning N-cadherin. *EMBO Journal*, *33*(8). https://doi.org/10.1002/embj.201386591
- 213. Rago, L., Castroviejo, N., Fazilaty, H., Garcia-Asencio, F., Ocaña, O. H., Galcerán, J., & Nieto, M. A. (2019). MicroRNAs Establish the Right-Handed Dominance of the Heart Laterality Pathway in Vertebrates. *Developmental Cell*, *51*(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2019.09.012
- 214. Rajman, M., & Schratt, G. (2017). MicroRNAs in neural development: From master regulators to fine-tuners. In *Development (Cambridge)* (Vol. 144, Issue 13). https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.144337
- 215. Rallu, M., Machold, R., Gaiano, N., Corbin, J. G., McMahon, A. P., & Fishell, G. (2002). Dorsoventral patterning is established in the telencephalon of mutants lacking both Gli3 and hedgehog signaling. *Development*, 129(21). https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.129.21.4963
- 216. Rash, B. G., David Lim, H., Breunig, J. J., & Vaccarino, F. M. (2011). FGF signaling expands embryonic cortical surface area by regulating notch-dependent neurogenesis. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(43). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4439-11.2011

- 217. Rash, B. G., Tomasi, S., Lim, H. D., Suh, C. Y., & Vaccarino, F. M. (2013). Cortical gyrification induced by fibroblast growth factor 2 in the mouse brain. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(26). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3621-12.2013
- Raver-Shapira, N., Marciano, E., Meiri, E., Spector, Y., Rosenfeld, N., Moskovits, N., Bentwich, Z., & Oren, M. (2007). Transcriptional Activation of miR-34a Contributes to p53-Mediated Apoptosis. *Molecular Cell*, 26(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2007.05.017
- 219. Rehwinkel, J., Behm-Ansmant, I., Gatfield, D., & Izaurralde, E. (2005). A crucial role for GW182 and the DCP1:DCP2 decapping complex in miRNA-mediated gene silencing. *RNA*, *11*(11). https://doi.org/10.1261/rna.2191905
- 220. Reillo, I., De Juan Romero, C., García-Cabezas, M. Á., & Borrell, V. (2011). A Role for intermediate radial glia in the tangential expansion of the mammalian cerebral cortex. *Cerebral Cortex*, 21(7). https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhq238
- 221. Reinhart, B. J., Slack, F. J., Basson, M., Pasquienelll, A. E., BettInger, J. C., Rougvle, A. E., Horvitz, H. R., & Ruvkun, G. (2000). The 21-nucleotide let-7 RNA regulates developmental timing in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature*, 403(6772). https://doi.org/10.1038/35002607
- 222. Robb, G. B., & Rana, T. M. (2007). RNA Helicase A Interacts with RISC in Human Cells and Functions in RISC Loading. *Molecular Cell*, *26*(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2007.04.016
- 223. Robinson, J. T., Thorvaldsdóttir, H., Winckler, W., Guttman, M., Lander, E. S., Getz, G., & Mesirov, J. P. (2011). Integrative genomics viewer. In *Nature Biotechnology* (Vol. 29, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1754
- 224. Ross, S. E., Greenberg, M. E., & Stiles, C. D. (2003). Basic helix-loop-helix factors in cortical development. In *Neuron* (Vol. 39, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00365-9
- 225. Rüdel, S., Wang, Y., Lenobel, R., Körner, R., Hsiao, H. H., Urlaub, H., Patel, D., & Meister, G. (2011). Phosphorylation of human Argonaute proteins affects small RNA binding. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 39(6). https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq1032
- 226. Saini, S., Majid, S., Shahryari, V., Tabatabai, Z. L., Arora, S., Yamamura, S., Tanaka, Y., Dahiya, R., & Deng, G. (2014). Regulation of SRC kinases by microRNA-3607 located in a frequently deleted locus in prostate cancer. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, *13*(7). https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-14-0017
- 227. Salzman, D. W., Nakamura, K., Nallur, S., Dookwah, M. T., Metheetrairut, C., Slack, F. J., & Weidhaas, J. B. (2016). MiR-34 activity is modulated

through 5'-end phosphorylation in response to DNA damage. *Nature Communications*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms10954

- 228. Salzman, D. W., Shubert-Coleman, J., & Furneaux, H. (2007). P68 RNA helicase unwinds the human let-7 microRNA precursor duplex and is required for let-7-directed silencing of gene expression. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(45). https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M705054200
- 229. Sansom, S. N., & Livesey, F. J. (2009). Gradients in the brain: the control of the development of form and function in the cerebral cortex. In *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* (Vol. 1, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a002519
- 230. Saurat, N., Andersson, T., Vasistha, N. A., Molnár, Z., & Livesey, F. J. (2013). Dicer is required for neural stem cell multipotency and lineage progression during cerebral cortex development. *Neural Development*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1749-8104-8-14
- 231. Schirle, N. T., & MacRae, I. J. (2012). The crystal structure of human argonaute2. *Science*, 336(6084). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1221551
- 232. Sessa, A., Ciabatti, E., Drechsel, D., Massimino, L., Colasante, G., Giannelli, S., Satoh, T., Akira, S., Guillemot, F., & Broccoli, V. (2017). The Tbr2 Molecular Network Controls Cortical Neuronal Differentiation Through Complementary Genetic and Epigenetic Pathways. *Cerebral Cortex*, 27(6). https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhw270
- 233. Sessa, A., Mao, C. an, Hadjantonakis, A. K., Klein, W. H., & Broccoli, V. (2008). Tbr2 Directs Conversion of Radial Glia into Basal Precursors and Guides Neuronal Amplification by Indirect Neurogenesis in the Developing Neocortex. *Neuron*, 60(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.09.028
- 234. Shannon, P., Markiel, A., Ozier, O., Baliga, N. S., Wang, J. T., Ramage, D., Amin, N., Schwikowski, B., & Ideker, T. (2003). Cytoscape: A software Environment for integrated models of biomolecular interaction networks. *Genome Research*, *13*(11). https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.1239303
- 235. Sheu-Gruttadauria, J., & MacRae, I. J. (2017). Structural Foundations of RNA Silencing by Argonaute. In *Journal of Molecular Biology* (Vol. 429, Issue 17). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2017.07.018
- 236. Shibata, M., Kurokawa, D., Nakao, H., Ohmura, T., & Aizawa, S. (2008). MicroRNA-9 modulates Cajal-Retzius cell differentiation by suppressing Foxg1 expression in mouse medial pallium. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(41). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3219-08.2008
- 237. Shu, P., Wu, C., Ruan, X., Liu, W., Hou, L., Fu, H., Wang, M., Liu, C., Zeng, Y., Chen, P., Yin, B., Yuan, J., Qiang, B., Peng, X., & Zhong, W. (2019). Opposing Gradients of MicroRNA Expression Temporally Pattern Layer

Formation in the Developing Neocortex. *Developmental Cell*, 49(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2019.04.017

- 238. Siegenthaler, J. A., Ashique, A. M., Zarbalis, K., Patterson, K. P., Hecht, J. H., Kane, M. A., Folias, A. E., Choe, Y., May, S. R., Kume, T., Napoli, J. L., Peterson, A. S., & Pleasure, S. J. (2009). Retinoic acid from the meninges regulates cortical neuron generation. *Cell*, *139*(3), 597–609. https://doi.org/S0092-8674(09)01252-5 [pii] 10.1016/j.cell.2009.10.004
- 239. Slack, F. J., Basson, M., Liu, Z., Ambros, V., Horvitz, H. R., & Ruvkun, G. (2000). The lin-41 RBCC gene acts in the C. elegans heterochronic pathway between the let-7 regulatory RNA and the LIN-29 transcription factor. *Molecular Cell*, *5*(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80245-2
- 240. Smart, I. H. M., Dehay, C., Giroud, P., Berland, M., & Kennedy, H. (2002). Unique morphological features of the proliferative zones and postmitotic compartments of the neural epithelium giving rise to striate and extrastriate cortex in the monkey. *Cerebral Cortex*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/12.1.37
- 241. Stahl, R., Walcher, T., De Juan Romero, C., Pilz, G. A., Cappello, S., Irmler, M., Sanz-Aquela, J. M., Beckers, J., Blum, R., Borrell, V., & Götz, M. (2013). Trnp1 regulates expansion and folding of the mammalian cerebral cortex by control of radial glial fate. *Cell*, 153(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.03.027
- 242. Stappert, L., Borghese, L., Roese-Koerner, B., Weinhold, S., Koch, P., Terstegge, S., Uhrberg, M., Wernet, P., & Brüstle, O. (2013). MicroRNA-Based Promotion of Human Neuronal Differentiation and Subtype Specification. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0059011
- 243. Subramanian, A., Tamayo, P., Mootha, V. K., Mukherjee, S., Ebert, B. L., Gillette, M. A., Paulovich, A., Pomeroy, S. L., Golub, T. R., Lander, E. S., & Mesirov, J. P. (2005). Gene set enrichment analysis: A knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *102*(43). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0506580102
- 244. Subramanian, L., Bershteyn, M., Paredes, M. F., & Kriegstein, A. R. (2017). Dynamic behaviour of human neuroepithelial cells in the developing forebrain. *Nature Communications*, *8*. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14167
- 245. Sun, G., Ye, P., Murai, K., Lang, M. F., Li, S., Zhang, H., Li, W., Fu, C., Yin, J., Wang, A., Ma, X., & Shi, Y. (2011). MiR-137 forms a regulatory loop with nuclear receptor TLX and LSD1 in neural stem cells. *Nature Communications*, *2*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1532

- 246. Sun, T., & Hevner, R. F. (2014). Growth and folding of the mammalian cerebral cortex: from molecules to malformations. In *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* (Vol. 15, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3707
- 247. Sun, Y., Luo, Z. M., Guo, X. M., Su, D. F., & Liu, X. (2015). An updated role of microRNA-124 in central nervous system disorders: A review. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, *9*(MAY). https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2015.00193
- 248. Sun, Y., Nadal-Vicens, M., Misono, S., Lin, M. Z., Zubiaga, A., Hua, X., Fan, G., & Greenberg, M. E. (2001). Neurogenin promotes neurogenesis and inhibits glial differentiation by independent mechanisms. *Cell*, 104(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00224-0
- 249. Sun, Y., & Xu, Z. (2010). Regulation of neural stem cell by bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) signaling during brain development. *Frontiers in Biology*, *5*(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11515-010-0860-5
- 250. Suzuki, I. K., & Vanderhaeghen, P. (2018). Evolving brains with new genes. In *Opera Medica et Physiologica* (Vol. 4, Issues 3–4). https://doi.org/10.20388/omp2018.003.0061
- 251. Taft, R. J., Pheasant, M., & Mattick, J. S. (2007). The relationship between non-protein-coding DNA and eukaryotic complexity. In *BioEssays* (Vol. 29, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.20544
- 252. Takebayashi, H., Nabeshima, Y., Yoshida, S., Chisaka, O., Ikenaka, K., & Nabeshima, Y. ichi. (2002). The basic helix-loop-helix factor Olig2 is essential for the development of motoneuron and oligodendrocyte lineages. *Current Biology*, *12*(13). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(02)00926-0
- 253. Tarabykin, V., Stoykova, A., Usman, N., & Gruss, P. (2001). Cortical upper layer neurons derive from the subventricular zone as indicated by Svet1 gene expression. *Development*, *128*(11). https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.128.11.1983
- 254. Telley, L., Agirman, G., Prados, J., Amberg, N., Fièvre, S., Oberst, P., Bartolini, G., Vitali, I., Cadilhac, C., Hippenmeyer, S., Nguyen, L., Dayer, A., & Jabaudon, D. (2019). Temporal patterning of apical progenitors and their daughter neurons in the developing neocortex. *Science*, *364*(6440). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aav2522
- 255. Telley, L., Govindan, S., Prados, J., Stevant, I., Nef, S., Dermitzakis, E., Dayer, A., & Jabaudon, D. (2016). Sequential transcriptional waves direct the differentiation of newborn neurons in the mouse neocortex. *Science*, 351(6280). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad8361
- 256. Thomson, D. W., & Dinger, M. E. (2016). Endogenous microRNA sponges: Evidence and controversy. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *17*(5). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg.2016.20

- 257. Toma, K., Kumamoto, T., Hanashima, C., Toma, K., & Hanashima, C. (2014). The timing of upper-layer neurogenesis is conferred by sequential derepression and negative feedback from deep-layer neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *34*(39). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2334-14.2014
- 258. Tonosaki, M., Itoh, K., Umekage, M., Kishimoto, T., Yaoi, T., Lemmon, V. P., & Fushiki, S. (2014). L1cam is crucial for cell locomotion and terminal translocation of the soma in radial migration during murine corticogenesis. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0086186
- 259. Tsang, J. S., Ebert, M. S., & van Oudenaarden, A. (2010). Genome-wide Dissection of MicroRNA Functions and Cotargeting Networks Using Gene Set Signatures. *Molecular Cell*, 38(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.03.007
- 260. Vaid, S., Camp, J. G., Hersemann, L., Oegema, C. E., Heninger, A. K., Winkler, S., Brandl, H., Sarov, M., Treutlein, B., Huttner, W. B., & Namba, T. (2018). A novel population of hopx-dependent basal radial glial cells in the developing mouse neocortex. *Development (Cambridge)*, 145(20). https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.169276
- 261. Venø, M. T., Venø, S. T., Rehberg, K., van Asperen, J. V., Clausen, B. H., Holm, I. E., Pasterkamp, R. J., Finsen, B., & Kjems, J. (2017). Cortical morphogenesis during embryonic development is regulated by miR-34c and miR-204. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2017.00031
- 262. Visvanathan, J., Lee, S., Lee, B., Lee, J. W., & Lee, S. K. (2007). The microRNA miR-124 antagonizes the anti-neural REST/SCP1 pathway during embryonic CNS development. *Genes and Development*, 21(7). https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1519107
- 263. Volvert, M. L., Prévot, P. P., Close, P., Laguesse, S., Pirotte, S., Hemphill, J., Rogister, F., Kruzy, N., Sacheli, R., Moonen, G., Deiters, A., Merkenschlager, M., Chariot, A., Malgrange, B., Godin, J. D., & Nguyen, L. (2014). MicroRNA targeting of CoREST controls polarization of migrating cortical neurons. *Cell Reports*, 7(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2014.03.075
- 264. Wagner, G. P., Kin, K., & Lynch, V. J. (2012). Measurement of mRNA abundance using RNA-seq data: RPKM measure is inconsistent among samples. *Theory in Biosciences*, 131(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12064-012-0162-3
- 265. Wang, L., Hou, S., & Han, Y. G. (2016). Hedgehog signaling promotes basal progenitor expansion and the growth and folding of the neocortex. *Nature Neuroscience*, *19*(7). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4307
- 266. Weigmann, A., Corbeil, D., Hellwig, A., & Huttner, W. B. (1997). Prominin, a novel microvilli-specific polytopic membrane protein of the apical surface of

epithelial cells, is targeted to plasmalemmal protrusions of non-epithelial cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *94*(23). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.23.12425

- 267. Winter, J., Jung, S., Keller, S., Gregory, R. I., & Diederichs, S. (2009). Many roads to maturity: MicroRNA biogenesis pathways and their regulation. In *Nature Cell Biology* (Vol. 11, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb0309-228
- 268. Wodarz, A., & Huttner, W. B. (2003). Asymmetric cell division during neurogenesis in Drosophila and vertebrates. In *Mechanisms of Development* (Vol. 120, Issue 11). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mod.2003.06.003
- 269. Wong, F. K., Fei, J. F., Mora-Bermúdez, F., Taverna, E., Haffner, C., Fu, J., Anastassiadis, K., Francis Stewart, A., & Huttner, W. B. (2015). Sustained pax6 expression generates primate-like basal radial glia in developing mouse neocortex. *PLoS Biology*, *13*(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1002217
- 270. Wong, N., & Wang, X. (2015). miRDB: An online resource for microRNA target prediction and functional annotations. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *43*(D1). https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku1104
- 271. Woodhead, G. J., Mutch, C. A., Olson, E. C., & Chenn, A. (2006). Cellautonomous β-catenin signaling regulates cortical precursor proliferation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(48). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3180-06.2006
- 272. Wrobel, C. N., Mutch, C. A., Swaminathan, S., Taketo, M. M., & Chenn, A. (2007). Persistent expression of stabilized β-catenin delays maturation of radial glial cells into intermediate progenitors. *Developmental Biology*, 309(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2007.07.013
- 273. Xu, B., Hsu, P. K., Stark, K. L., Karayiorgou, M., & Gogos, J. A. (2013). Derepression of a neuronal inhibitor due to miRNA dysregulation in a schizophrenia-related microdeletion. *Cell*, *152*(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.11.052
- 274. Yang, D., Li, T., Wang, Y., Tang, Y., Cui, H., Tang, Y., Zhang, X., Chen, D., Shen, N., & Le, W. (2012). miR-132 regulates the differentiation of dopamine neurons by directly targeting Nurr1 expression. *Journal of Cell Science*, 125(7). https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.086421
- 275. Yao, M. jin, Chen, G., Zhao, P. ping, Lu, M. hua, Jian, J., Liu, M. fang, & Yuan, X. bing. (2012). Transcriptome analysis of microRNAs in developing cerebral cortex of rat. *BMC Genomics*, *13*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-13-232
- 276. Ye, X., Qiu, Y., Gao, Y., Wan, D., & Zhu, H. (2019). A subtle network mediating axon guidance: Intrinsic dynamic structure of growth cone, attractive and repulsive molecular cues, and the intermediate role of

signaling pathways. In *Neural Plasticity* (Vol. 2019). https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/1719829

- 277. Yi, R., Qin, Y., Macara, I. G., & Cullen, B. R. (2003). Exportin-5 mediates the nuclear export of pre-microRNAs and short hairpin RNAs. *Genes and Development*, *17*(24). https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1158803
- 278. Yokota, Y., Kim, W. Y., Chen, Y., Wang, X., Stanco, A., Komuro, Y., Snider, W., & Anton, E. S. (2009). The Adenomatous Polyposis Coli Protein Is an Essential Regulator of Radial Glial Polarity and Construction of the Cerebral Cortex. *Neuron*, 61(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.10.053
- 279. Yu, G., Wang, L. G., Han, Y., & He, Q. Y. (2012). ClusterProfiler: An R package for comparing biological themes among gene clusters. *OMICS A Journal of Integrative Biology*, *16*(5). https://doi.org/10.1089/omi.2011.0118
- 280. Zelinka, C. P., Volkov, L., Goodman, Z. A., Todd, L., Palazzo, I., Bishop, W. A., & Fischer, A. J. (2016). mTor signaling is required for the formation of proliferating Müller glia-derived progenitor cells in the chick retina. *Development (Cambridge)*, 143(11). https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.133215
- 281. Zeng, Y., Sankala, H., Zhang, X., & Graves, P. R. (2008). Phosphorylation of Argonaute 2 at serine-387 facilitates its localization to processing bodies. *Biochemical Journal*, *413*(3). https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20080599
- 282. Zeng, Y., Yi, R., & Cullen, B. R. (2003). MicroRNAs and small interfering RNAs can inhibit mRNA expression by similar mechanisms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(17). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1630797100
- 283. Zhang, L., Yang, C. S., Varelas, X., & Monti, S. (2016). Altered RNA editing in 3' UTR perturbs microRNA-mediated regulation of oncogenes and tumorsuppressors. *Scientific Reports*, *6*. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep23226
- 284. Zhao, C., Sun, G. Q., Li, S., Lang, M. F., Yang, S., Li, W., & Shia, Y. (2010). MicroRNA let-7b regulates neural stem cell proliferation and differentiation by targeting nuclear receptor TLX signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(5). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0908750107
- 285. Zhao, C., Sun, G., Li, S., & Shi, Y. (2009). A feedback regulatory loop involving microRNA-9 and nuclear receptor TLX in neural stem cell fate determination. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, *16*(4). https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.1576
- 286. Zimmer, C., Tiveron, M. C., Bodmer, R., & Cremer, H. (2004). Dynamics of Cux2 expression suggests that an early pool of SVZ precursors is fated to become upper cortical layer neurons. *Cerebral Cortex*, 14(12). https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhh102